学位論文

Techniques and phenomenology of radiative corrections from Kaluza-Klein modes in Scherk-Schwarz mechanism

(Scherk-Schwarz機構におけるKaluza-Kleinモードによる 輻射補正のテクニックと現象論)

平成29年12月博士(理学)申請

東京大学大学院理学系研究科 物理学専攻

松田 亮

Abstract

Supersymmetry (SUSY) has been attractive to the physicists searching for the physics beyond the standard model. However there is a tension between the Large Hadron Collider (LHC) results and the low scale SUSY scenario. This situation can be accommodated by the Scherk-Schwarz mechanism, that is a SUSY breaking mechanism by the twisted boundary condition in extra dimensional space since it generates the compressed spectrum of the supersymmetric particles. At the tree-level the degeneracy is exact and it is lifted by the radiative corrections.

In this thesis, we calculate the gaugino and sfermion mass corrections in a general setup, 5D SUSY gauge theory compactified over S^1/Z_2 orbifold. It is not trivial that the corrections are small enough to maintain the compressed spectrum, since the 5D gauge theory is not renormalizable. Furthermore there are an infinite number of loop diagrams since the 4D effective Lagrangian has Kaluza-Klein (KK) modes. We regularize the divergence by the KK-regularization scheme and find that the linear and higher divergence don't appear in the mass correction and there remain logarithmic divergence and constant.

We also discuss the compact SUSY model, a realistic application of the Scherk-Schwarz mechanism. Using the results in the general setup, we evaluate the gaugino and the stop mass corrections from the gauge and the Yukawa interactions on the brane. We find that the model has valid phenomenology in certain parameter region of the model.

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	5		
2	Lag: 2.1 2.2 2.3	rangian for 5D SUSY Yang Mills Theory Notation	10 10 11 12		
	$2.4 \\ 2.5$	Summary \ldots	14 14		
3	S^1/\mathbf{Z}	${ m Z}_2$ orbifold compactification of 5D SUSY Yang Mills Theory	17		
	3.1	The Scherk-Schwarz mechanism	17		
	3.2	KK expansion	18		
		$3.2.1$ Σ^a	19		
		3.2.2 $A_M^a = (A_u^a, A_5^a)$	19		
		$3.2.3 \phi \qquad \dots \qquad$	20		
		$3.2.4$ ψ	23		
		$3.2.5$ λ^a	25		
		3.2.6 summary	26		
	3.3	Interaction terms	27		
	3.4	Lagrangian on the brane	27		
		3.4.1 Kinetic term	28		
		3.4.2 Interaction term	28		
	3.5	Radion Mediation	31		
4	The Radiative Correction to the Gaugino and Sfermion Mass				
	4.1	Abelian Gaugino Mass Correction	37		
	4.2	Non-Abelian Gaugino Mass Correction	44		
	4.3	Sfermion Mass Correction	48		
5	com	apact SUSY model	52		
	5.1	The model setup	52		
	5.2	The 1-loop radiative corrections to the soft parameters	55		
		5.2.1 The mass correction from the gauge interaction in the bulk	55		
		5.2.2 The radiative corrections from the interactions on the brane	57		
		5.2.3 Summary	59		
	5.3	Phenomenological analysis	60		
		5.3.1 MSSM mass spectrum	60		
		5.3.2 Collider signature	64		

6	Conclusion	and	outlook
U	Conclusion	ana	outtook

6	5
_	_

Α	Not	ation and formulae	66
	A.1	The metric	66
	A.2	2-spinors	66
	A.3	Gamma matrices and fermion representation	67
	A.4	Complex conjugate of Dirac field	68
	A.5	Majorana field	69
	A.6	Symplectic Majorana field	70
	A.7	Lie Group and its generator and structure constants	70
	A.8	Feynman rules	71
	A.9	The 4D momentum integration formulae	72
в	The	evaluation of the loop integrals by the KK regularization scheme	73
	B.1	Infinite sum	73
	B.2	Polylogarithm	77
	B.3	Integral formulae	77
	B.4	Result	80
С	Det	ailed calculation of 4D interaction terms and Feynman diagrams	82
-	C.1	Gaugino 1-loop graph	82
	0.1	C.1.1 Σ_{trad}	82
		$C.1.2 \Sigma_{\lambda\Sigma\lambda}$	83
		C.1.3 $\Sigma^{\lambda A_5 \lambda}$	83
		C.1.4 $\Sigma^{\lambda A_{\mu}\lambda}$	84
	C.2	Sfermion 1-loop graphs	85
	0.2	$C 2 1 \prod_{aba}$	85
		$C.2.2 \prod_{\phi \neq \phi} f_{\phi \neq$	86
		$C.2.3 \prod_{\phi A, \phi} \dots $	88
		C.2.4 $\Pi_{\Sigma\phi\Sigma\phi}$	89
		$C.2.5 \prod_{\phi \neq \phi}$	90
		C.2.6 Π_{ϕ} Λ_{τ} $\Lambda_{\tau\phi}$	90
		C.2.7 $\Pi_{\phi A_{\mu} A_{\mu} \phi}$	91
D	The	detailed calculation on the Yukawa interaction on the brane	92
Ľ	D.1	The full 4D Yukawa interaction terms	92
	D.2	The radiative correction to the stop mass from the interactions on the brane .	94
\mathbf{E}	The	discussion on $\ln \Lambda$ term in the radiative correction: the comparison	
_	with	the S^1 case	98

98

1 Introduction

Issues in the standard model of particle physics

The standard model of particle physics is successful but has both experimental and theoretical issues. Therefore the standard model should be regarded as an effective field theory, a low energy limit of a more fundamental theory. Under this circumstance, the search for physics beyond the standard model (BSM) has been one of the primary subjects for many particle physicists.

Among the issues in the standard model, let us first focus on the hierarchy problem [1,2]; for the physical Higgs mass squared

$$m_{\rm phys}^2 \sim m_{\rm bare}^2 + \frac{\lambda}{16\pi^2} \Lambda^2$$
 (1.1)

to be $(125 \text{GeV})^2$, there must be a weird cancellation between m_{bare}^2 , a parameter of the theory, and the loop correction $\sim \Lambda^2/16\pi^2$, if the UV cutoff Λ is as large as Planck scale or GUT scale. Here λ in the numerator is just an order one coupling constant. This problem arises from the difference between the electroweak scale ~ 100 GeV and the UV scale $\geq 10^{15}$ GeV. In other words, we need to tune the parameter of the theory very precisely to fit the experimental result, and thus this problem is also known as the fine-tuning problem. To tackle this what has been paid much attention to is the supersymmetry.

Supersymmetry

Supersymmetry (SUSY), a symmetry which exchanges a boson and a fermion, is one of the most attractive tools for BSM (for a review [3]). If the SUSY is exact, for each particle in the standard model there must be a corresponding particle (supersymmetric particle, or sparticles in short) which has the same mass. Since there are sparticles, there are corresponding loop corrections for each loop correction in the standard model which has the opposite sign, and thus the quadratic divergence to the Higgs mass squared correction vanishes and there is no more hierarchy problem.

However, there is obviously no experimental sign for the sparticles, for example there is no scalar particle which has the same mass as the electron. Fortunately, we can break the supersymmetry and ameliorate the hierarchy problem at the same time, if for example we assume the SUSY is spontaneously broken at some energy higher than experimental scale. In this case, the SUSY breaking effect is called soft (and parameters of the SUSY breaking terms in the effective Lagrangian are called soft parameters) and doesn't violate the cancellation of quadratic divergence in Higgs mass, since the correction to the Higgs mass now becomes the logarithmic divergence;

$$m_{\rm phys}^2 \sim m_{\rm bare}^2 + \frac{\lambda}{16\pi^2} M_{\rm soft}^2 \ln\left(\frac{\Lambda}{M_{\rm soft}}\right).$$
 (1.2)

We don't need fine-tuning if the supersymmetric scale M_{soft} is less than about a few TeV. This idea of the weak scale SUSY as a solution to the hierarchy problem was suggested as early as in 1980 [4].

MSSM, CMSSM, and little hierarchy problem

Among the supersymmetric extensions of the standard model, the bench mark model is called the minimal supersymmetric standard model (MSSM) (see [3] for details of the model). It is minimal in the sense of its matter contents; there are the standard model particles and their super-partners, plus one more Higgs $SU(2)_L$ doublet in order for the anomaly cancellation and to implement the Yukawa coupling under the supersymmetric condition. Even though it has minimal matter content, there are about a hundred more parameters than in the standard model because of the introduction of sparticles and the soft SUSY breaking parameters. Therefore the search for SUSY has been often discussed within the framework of the Minimal Supergravity (mSUGRA) or the Constrained MSSM (CMSSM) [5–7], which has only five parameters.

However, in the framework of MSSM (and CMSSM) the SUSY breaking scale must be larger than a few TeV for the following reasons. The first reason is that there is a tree level upper bound $M_Z \sim 91$ GeV for the Higgs mass, while the Higgs has been found at 125 GeV [8,9]. Therefore we need to push the Higgs mass by the radiative corrections [10–15] from large SUSY breaking. The other reason is that SUSY has not been found at any experiment, even at the TeV-scale Large Hadron Collider (LHC). This large SUSY is a very bad situation for the community not only because it requires more experimental effort to find evidence for SUSY, but also because it again generates the hierarchy problem (called the little hierarchy problem).

Compressed spectrum of sparticles

To overcome the little hierarchy problem, the idea of the compressed spectrum has been suggested [16–19]. The key idea of the compressed spectrum is to assume all the sparticles has similar masses so that the decay of sparticles generated by the collider is very difficult to distinguish with the standard model background. Basically, the search for sparticles relies on the events that have missing transverse energy since the LSP, the lightest supersymmetric particle, cannot be seen at the detector. The standard model also has energy-missing events due to the neutrino or the instruments nature, and the lower the missing energy the exponentially more the events happens. If the sparticles have similar masses, the associate standard model particles has small energy by the kinematics and thus that kinds of events are almost invisible. Therefore the compressed SUSY scenario is still consistent with the LHC result even if it has low scale ($M_{\text{soft}} \sim \text{TeV}$) SUSY scale (see Fig. 1). This was first just an idea that doesn't have theoretical reasoning, until the compact SUSY model has been proposed.



Figure 1: The horizontal axis is the gluino mass and the vertical axis represents the degeneracy between the gluino and the LSP. The region above the red curve is excluded while the bottom part of the figure (degenerate region) is still allowed. This figure is made by modifying the fig.13b in [20].

There are also other possibilities to solve the little hierarchy problem, such as the anthropic principle (like in [21–35]), the R-parity violation models [36–38], and the stealth SUSY scenario [39, 40]. We in this thesis focus on the compressed spectrum idea.

The Scherk-Schwarz mechanism and the compact SUSY model

It was shown that SUSY model with compressed spectrum can be built by using the Scherk-Schwarz mechanism [41, 42], where SUSY is broken by twisted boundary conditions of an extra-dimension (S^1/Z_2) , in the simplest case). The twist of the boundary condition can be parametrized by one parameter $\alpha \in [0, 1/2]$, and the mass spectrum of the supersymmetric particles is nearly degenerate (compressed). At tree-level, all the soft masses of gaugino and sfermions are the same (= α/R , where R is the radius of the extra-dimension), and the degeneracy is broken by radiative corrections.

A realistic model has been proposed [43–45] that uses this mechanism. This model is phenomenologically attractive not only because it can solve the tension between the LHC results and the hierarchy problem as explained above, but also because it has only four parameters (α , R, μ and the cutoff of the model Λ) and thus very predictive. Furthermore, thanks to the A-term we can explain naturalness problem more easily [46]. We call this model the compact SUSY model, and to investigate the model is the primary purpose of this thesis. Although the Higgs sector of the compact SUSY model has been analyzed at 1-loop in [47–49], the other radiative corrections have not been done yet. It is not trivial that the compact SUSY model can retain the degenerate spectrum if the radiative corrections are taken into account, especially since the 5D gauge theory is UV sensitive (in contrast to the Higgs fields which live on a brane in the model). We first study the radiative corrections of the sparticles, the gaugino and the sfermion at 1-loop in a general 5D SUSY gauge theory compactified over S^1/Z_2 , and then apply the results to the compact SUSY model. To discuss the full phenomenology, we also need radiative correction from the Yukawa interaction on the brane (Higgs fields live on the brane in the model). We show that the degenerate spectrum holds in some region of the parameter space.

The structure of this paper

This thesis is organized as follows;

- We are now at the end of section 1 and this is the introduction part, where we have briefly reviewed the issues of the standard model and the motivation of supersymmetry that leads to the compact SUSY model.
- In section 2, we write down the Lagrangian for the 5D supersymmetric Yang Mills theory, which the compact SUSY model is based on. Although it is a non-trivial task to write down the Lagrangian, we already have results of higher dimensional supersymmetric Lagrangian with the familiar $\mathcal{N} = 1$, D = 4 superspace notation. We derive the component expression and check the $SU(2)_R$ symmetry for the later calculations.
- In section 3, we describe the Scherk-Schwarz mechanism, that is an essential concept for the compact SUSY mode. Although the naive compactification of 5D supersymmetric theory over S^1/Z_2 leads to 4D $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetric theory, if we introduce the twisted boundary conditions around the S^1 we can break the remaining supersymmetry and obtain the softly broken SUSY with degenerate spectrum. We explain this mechanism both by using the component expression, and by the Radion mediation. We also consider the fields on branes and its interactions.
- In section 4, we calculate the 1-loop radiative correction to the gaugino and sfermion masses in the general setup shown in section 3. Since this part is rather technical, we only show the results and put the detailed calculation in the Appendices A, B and C; A for the notation, B for the derivation of the integration formulae, C for the detailed calculation of the 4D Lagrangian and the Feynman diagrams.

- In section 5, we discuss the compact SUSY model, which is an extension of the standard model which utilizes the Scherk-Schwarz mechanism. After defining the model setup, we show the 1-loop spectrum of the theory using the results in section 4, and calculating the correction from the Yukawa couplings on the brane. After that we discuss the implication of the 1-loop results and the phenomenology of the compact SUSY.
- Section 6 is the conclusion and supplementary comments and future outlooks, such as further phenomenological discussion on the compact SUSY model, and the realization of the Scherk-Schwarz mechanism and the compact SUSY model in the framework of the superstring theory.

Some of the results in section 4 and 5 will be on a journal as a collaboration work [50].

2 Lagrangian for 5D SUSY Yang Mills Theory

In this section, we write down the Lagrangian for the 5D $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetric theory since it is the basis of the compact SUSY model. Although it's a non-trivial task to construct this Lagrangian, there is fortunately a familiar 4D superspace notation [51]. Starting with this Lagrangian, we derive the component expressions in a 5D Lorentz-symmetry-manifest way and check the $SU(2)_R$ invariance for the later discussion. Similar computation can be seen in [49], but note that the notation is a little bit different.

2.1 Notation

Our purpose is first to write down the 5D SUSY gauge theory Lagrangian with 4D $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superspace notation. From a 4D point of view, there seems to be $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY, and thus the gauge field A_{μ} must be combined with two weyl fermions λ_1, λ_2 and one complex scalar fields χ if we consider a multiplet with minimal helicity. These combination (vector multiplet) can be written by a pair of a 4D vector superfield and a chiral superfield as follows;

$$V = -\theta \sigma^{\mu} \bar{\theta} A_{\mu} + i \theta^2 \bar{\theta} \bar{\lambda}_1 - i \bar{\theta}^2 \theta \lambda_1 + \frac{1}{2} \theta^4 D, \qquad (2.1)$$

$$\chi = \frac{A_5 + i\Sigma}{\sqrt{2}} + \sqrt{2}\theta\lambda_2 + \theta^2 F_{\chi}, \qquad (2.2)$$

which are adjoint representation of gauge group G, i.e.

$$X = X^{a}T^{a}, \quad X = V, \chi, A_{M}, \lambda_{i}, D, \Sigma, F_{\chi},$$
(2.3)

where T^a is the generator of G. For the component expression, we have taken Wess Zumino gauge.

In addition to the vector multiplet, we can add a Hyper multiplet which can be written in 4D superspace notation as

$$\Phi = \phi_1 + \sqrt{2}\theta\psi_1 + \theta^2 F_1,$$

$$\Phi^C = \phi_2 + \sqrt{2}\theta\psi_2 + \theta^2 F_2,$$
(2.4)

where Φ is a chiral superfield which is a fundamental representation of G, and Φ^C is also a chiral superfield but an anti-fundamental representation of G. Or, we can add multiple (say, F) numbers of Hyper multiplets, which has SU(F) global symmetry. (Φ and Φ^C are fundamental and anti-fundamental representation, respectively.) We don't assign any indices for the flavor to keep the notation quiet.

Using the above notation, we summarize the 5D Lagrangian in G = SU(N), SU(F) flavors case. To keep the discussion less messy, we divide the Lagrangian into three parts, the Vector part, Hyper part and gauge fixing term;

$$\mathcal{L}_5 = \mathcal{L}_5^{\text{Vector}} + \mathcal{L}_5^{\text{Hyper}} + \mathcal{L}_5^{\text{gauge-fix}}, \qquad (2.5)$$

and, in the following subsections, work on part by part to derive the component expression starting from the 4D superspace formalism.

2.2 Vector Part

In 4D superspace notation, $\mathcal{L}_5^{\text{Vector}}$ consists of two parts;

$$\mathcal{L}_5^{\text{Vector}} = \mathcal{L}_5^{\text{Vector},1} + \mathcal{L}_5^{\text{Vector},2}, \qquad (2.6)$$

where

$$\mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{Vector},1} = \frac{1}{16kg^{2}} \text{Tr} \left\{ \int d^{2}\theta \mathcal{W}^{\alpha} \mathcal{W}_{\alpha} + \text{h.c.} \right\}, \qquad (2.7)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{Vector},2} = -\frac{1}{2kg^{2}} \int d^{4}\theta \, \text{Tr} \Big\{ (\partial_{5} - \sqrt{2}ig\chi^{\dagger})e^{-2gV}(\partial_{5} - \sqrt{2}ig\chi)e^{2gV} \\ -\frac{1}{2}\partial_{5}e^{-2gV}\partial_{5}e^{2gV} + g^{2}(\chi\chi + \chi^{\dagger}\chi^{\dagger}) \Big\}.$$
(2.8)

As usual, k is defined by the trace of the generator of the group

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[T^{a}T^{b}\right] = k\delta^{ab},\tag{2.9}$$

and \mathcal{W}_{α} is the gauge invariant chiral superfield out of V;

$$\frac{1}{g}\mathcal{W}_{\alpha} = -\frac{1}{4g}\bar{D}^{2}e^{-2gV}D_{\alpha}e^{2gV}$$
$$= -i\lambda_{1\alpha} + \theta_{\alpha}D - \frac{i}{2}(\sigma^{\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu})_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}\theta_{\beta}\partial_{[\mu}A_{\nu]} + \theta^{2}\sigma^{\mu}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\partial_{\mu}\bar{\lambda}_{1}^{\dot{\alpha}}.$$
(2.10)

The first part $\mathcal{L}_5^{\text{Vector},1}$ is the usual 4D gauge kinetic term, whereas the second one $\mathcal{L}_5^{\text{Vector},2}$ is χ 's 4D kinetic term and 5D parts. The combination of them makes 5D Lorentz, SUSY and gauge invariant Lagrangian for the Vector multiplet.

In component expression, each part of the Lagrangian becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{Vector},1} = -\frac{1}{4} F^{a\mu\nu} F^{a}_{\mu\nu} - i\bar{\lambda}_{1}^{a} \bar{\sigma}^{\mu} \mathcal{D}_{\mu} \lambda_{1}^{a} + \frac{1}{2} (D^{a})^{2}, \qquad (2.11)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{Vector},2} = -\frac{1}{2} F^{a\mu5} F^{a}_{\mu5} - i\lambda_{2}^{a} \sigma^{\mu} \mathcal{D}_{\mu} \bar{\lambda}_{2}^{a} + \lambda_{2}^{a} \mathcal{D}_{5} \lambda_{1}^{a} - \bar{\lambda}_{1}^{a} \mathcal{D}_{5} \bar{\lambda}_{2}^{a} + igf^{abc} \left(\lambda_{1}^{a} \Sigma^{b} \lambda_{2}^{c} - \bar{\lambda}_{1}^{a} \Sigma^{b} \bar{\lambda}_{2}^{c}\right) \\ - \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_{\mu} \Sigma^{a} \mathcal{D}^{\mu} \Sigma^{a} - \mathcal{D}_{5} \Sigma^{a} D^{a} + \left|F_{\chi}^{a}\right|^{2}. \qquad (2.12)$$

Here, the covariant derivative for the adjoint representation field is defined as

$$\mathcal{D}_M X^a = \partial_M X^a + g f^{abc} A^b_M X^c, \quad M = \mu, 5, \quad X^a = \lambda^a_1, \lambda^a_2, \Sigma^a.$$
(2.13)

When combining the two portions of the Lagrangian, it is useful to define

$$D^{\prime a} = D^a - \mathcal{D}_5 \Sigma^a. \tag{2.14}$$

This helps us eliminate D^a linear term and get 5D Lorentz explicit form for Σ^a . Thus, we obtain

$$\mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{Vector}} = \mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{Vector},1} + \mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{Vector},2}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{4} F^{aMN} F^{a}_{MN} - \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_{M} \Sigma^{a} \mathcal{D}^{M} \Sigma^{a} - (-\lambda_{2}, \bar{\lambda}_{1}) i \Gamma^{M} \mathcal{D}_{M} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_{1} \\ -\bar{\lambda}_{2} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$+ g f^{abc} \left(\lambda_{2}^{a} \Sigma^{b} \lambda_{1}^{c} - \bar{\lambda}_{1}^{a} \Sigma^{b} \bar{\lambda}_{2}^{c}\right) + \left|F_{\chi}^{a}\right|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} (D'^{a})^{2}. \qquad (2.15)$$

To write the gaugino kinetic term, we have used

$$i\Gamma^{M}\mathcal{D}_{M} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{D}_{5} & i\sigma^{\mu}\mathcal{D}_{\mu} \\ i\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\mathcal{D}_{\mu} & -\mathcal{D}_{5} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.16)

We take the chiral representation for the gamma matrices in this entire paper. See Appendix A for more detail of the notation.

2.3 Hyper Part

In 4D superspace notation, $\mathcal{L}_5^{\text{Hyper}}$ consists of two parts;

$$\mathcal{L}_{5}^{\mathrm{Hyper}} = \mathcal{L}_{5}^{\mathrm{Hyper},1} + \mathcal{L}_{5}^{\mathrm{Hyper},2}, \qquad (2.17)$$

where

$$\mathcal{L}_{5}^{\mathrm{Hyper},1} = \int d^{4}\theta \left[\Phi^{\dagger} e^{-2gV} \Phi + \Phi^{C} e^{2gV} \Phi^{C\dagger} \right], \qquad (2.18)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{5}^{\mathrm{Hyper},2} = \int d^{2}\theta \,\Phi^{C} \left(\partial_{5} - \sqrt{2}ig\chi\right) \Phi + \mathrm{h.c.}.$$
(2.19)

The first part $\mathcal{L}_5^{\text{Hyper},1}$ is the familiar 4D kinetic terms for Φ and Φ^C , and the second one $\mathcal{L}_5^{\text{Hyper},2}$ is the 5D part. In component expression,

$$\mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{Hyper},1} = -\left(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}\phi_{1}\right)^{\dagger}\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\phi_{1} - \left(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right)^{\dagger}\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\phi_{2}^{\dagger} - i\bar{\psi}_{1}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\psi_{1} - i\psi_{2}\sigma^{\mu}\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\bar{\psi}_{2} + |F_{1}|^{2} + |F_{2}|^{2} - \sqrt{2}ig\left(\phi_{1}^{\dagger}\lambda_{1}\psi_{1} - \bar{\psi}_{1}\bar{\lambda}_{1}\phi_{1} + \phi_{2}\bar{\lambda}_{1}\bar{\psi}_{2} - \psi_{2}\lambda_{1}\phi_{2}\right) - g\left(\phi_{1}^{\dagger}D\phi_{1} - \phi_{2}D\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right), \quad (2.20)$$

and

$$\mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{Hyper},2} = F_{2} \left[\partial_{5} - ig \left(A_{5} + i\Sigma \right) \right] \phi_{1} + \phi_{2} \left[\partial_{5} - ig \left(A_{5} + i\Sigma \right) \right] F_{1} - \psi_{2} \left[\partial_{5} - ig \left(A_{5} + i\Sigma \right) \right] \psi_{1} + \sqrt{2} ig \left(\psi_{2} \lambda_{2} \phi_{1} + \phi_{2} \lambda_{2} \psi_{1} \right) - \sqrt{2} ig \phi_{2} F_{\chi} \phi_{1} + \text{h.c.}.$$
(2.21)

The covariant derivative for the fundamental representation field is defined as

$$\mathcal{D}_M X = \partial_M X - igA_M X, \quad M = \mu, 5, \quad X = \phi_1, \phi_2^{\dagger}, \psi_1, \bar{\psi}_2.$$
 (2.22)

When combining the two portions of the Lagrangian, it is useful to define

$$F_1^{\prime *} = F_1^{\dagger} + (-\mathcal{D}_5 + g\Sigma) \phi_2, \qquad (2.23)$$

$$F_2^{\prime *} = F_2^{\dagger} + (\mathcal{D}_5 + g\Sigma) \phi_1, \qquad (2.24)$$

to clear the F_i linear terms and to get 5D Lorentz invariant kinetic terms for ϕ_i , as similar to the Σ^a case. Therefore we obtain

$$\mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{Hyper}} = \mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{Hyper},1} + \mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{Hyper},2}$$

$$= -\left(\mathcal{D}^{M}\phi_{1}\right)^{\dagger} \mathcal{D}_{M}\phi_{1} - \left(\mathcal{D}^{M}\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right)^{\dagger} \mathcal{D}_{M}\phi_{2}^{\dagger} - \left(\psi_{2},\bar{\psi}_{1}\right)i\Gamma^{M}\mathcal{D}_{M}\left(\frac{\psi_{1}}{\bar{\psi}_{2}}\right) + |F_{1}'|^{2} + |F_{2}'|^{2}$$

$$- g^{2}\left(\Sigma\phi_{1}\right)^{\dagger}\left(\Sigma\phi_{1}\right) - g^{2}\left(\Sigma\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right)^{\dagger}\left(\Sigma\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right) - g\left(\psi_{2}\Sigma\psi_{1} + \bar{\psi}_{1}\Sigma\bar{\psi}_{2}\right)$$

$$- \sqrt{2}ig\left(\phi_{1}^{\dagger},\phi_{2}\right)\left[\left(\frac{\lambda_{1}}{-\lambda_{2}}\right)\psi_{1} + \left(\frac{\bar{\lambda}_{2}}{\bar{\lambda}_{1}}\right)\bar{\psi}_{2}\right] + \text{h.c.}$$

$$- g\left(\phi_{1}^{\dagger}D'\phi_{1} - \phi_{2}D'\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right) - \sqrt{2}ig\left(\phi_{2}F_{\chi}\phi_{1} - \phi_{1}^{\dagger}F_{\chi}^{\dagger}\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right). \qquad (2.25)$$

2.4 Summary

After integrating out the auxiliary fields F_{χ}, D^a , we obtain the following Lagrangian;

$$\mathcal{L}_{5} = -\frac{1}{4} F^{aMN} F^{a}_{MN} + \mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{gauge-fix}} - \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_{M} \Sigma^{a} \mathcal{D}^{M} \Sigma^{a} - (-\lambda_{2}, \bar{\lambda}_{1}) i \Gamma^{M} \mathcal{D}_{M} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_{1} \\ -\bar{\lambda}_{2} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$- \left(\mathcal{D}^{M} \phi_{1} \right)^{\dagger} \mathcal{D}_{M} \phi_{1} - \left(\mathcal{D}^{M} \phi_{2}^{\dagger} \right)^{\dagger} \mathcal{D}_{M} \phi_{2}^{\dagger} - (\psi_{2}, \bar{\psi}_{1}) i \Gamma^{M} \mathcal{D}_{M} \begin{pmatrix} \psi_{1} \\ \bar{\psi}_{2} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$- g^{2} (\Sigma \phi_{1})^{\dagger} (\Sigma \phi_{1}) - g^{2} \left(\Sigma \phi_{2}^{\dagger} \right)^{\dagger} \left(\Sigma \phi_{2}^{\dagger} \right) - g \left(\psi_{2} \Sigma \psi_{1} + \bar{\psi}_{1} \Sigma \bar{\psi}_{2} \right)$$

$$+ g f^{abc} \left(\lambda_{2}^{a} \Sigma^{b} \lambda_{1}^{c} - \bar{\lambda}_{1}^{a} \Sigma^{b} \bar{\lambda}_{2}^{c} \right)$$

$$- \sqrt{2} i g \left(\phi_{1}^{\dagger}, \phi_{2} \right) \left[\left(\begin{array}{c} \lambda_{1} \\ -\lambda_{2} \end{array} \right) \psi_{1} + \left(\begin{array}{c} \bar{\lambda}_{2} \\ \bar{\lambda}_{1} \end{array} \right) \bar{\psi}_{2} \right] + \text{h.c.}$$

$$- \frac{g^{2}}{2} \left(\phi_{1}^{\dagger} T^{a} \phi_{1} - \phi_{2} T^{a} \phi_{2}^{\dagger} \right)^{2} - 2g^{2} \left(\phi_{1}^{\dagger} T^{a} \phi_{2}^{\dagger} \right) (\phi_{2} T^{a} \phi_{1})$$

$$(2.26)$$

$$= \mathcal{L}_{5,A_M} + \mathcal{L}_{5,\Sigma} + \mathcal{L}_{5,\lambda} + \mathcal{L}_{5,\phi} + \mathcal{L}_{5,\psi} + \mathcal{L}_{5,\phi\Sigma\Sigma\phi} + \mathcal{L}_{5,\psi\Sigma\psi} + \mathcal{L}_{5,\lambda\Sigma\lambda} + \mathcal{L}_{5,\phi\lambda\psi} + \mathcal{L}_{5,\phi\phi\phi\phi}.$$
(2.27)

In the second equality, we have defined $\mathcal{L}_{5,*}$ for later convenience.

2.5 $SU(2)_R$ symmetry

=

 \mathcal{L}_5 has to have the $SU(2)_R$ symmetry. In component expression the $SU(2)_R$ transformation is

$$\boldsymbol{\Phi} = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 \\ \phi_2^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1' \\ \phi_2'^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} = U \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 \\ \phi_2^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.28)$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 \\ -\lambda_2 \end{pmatrix} \to \begin{pmatrix} \lambda'_1 \\ -\lambda'_2 \end{pmatrix} = U \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 \\ -\lambda_2 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.29)$$

where

$$SU(2) \ni U = e^{i\theta^a \frac{\sigma^a}{2}} = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & -\bar{\beta} \\ \beta & \bar{\alpha} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \alpha, \beta \in \mathbf{C}, \ |\alpha|^2 + |\beta|^2 = 1,$$
(2.30)

and the other components are singlet under $SU(2)_R$ symmetry ¹. This $SU(2)_R$ symmetry plays a key role when we consider the Scherk-Schwarz mechanism in the next section.

¹ Here we consider the Lagrangian from which the auxiliary fields D^a , F^a_{χ} and F_1 , F_2 are already removed by the equations of motion. Actually the $SU(2)_R$ transformation of the auxiliary fields are quite difficult to decide. The $SU(2)_R$ invariance of the Vector part of Lagrangian can be seen if we notice the D^a and F_{χ} form a triplet [52]. However it is difficult to see the invariance of the Hyper part since the transformation of the auxiliary fields F_1 and F_2 are not trivial.

Therefor we devote the following discussion to check the $SU(2)_R$ invariance of $\mathcal{L}_{5,\lambda}$, $\mathcal{L}_{5,\phi\lambda\psi}$, $\mathcal{L}_{5,\lambda\Sigma\lambda}$, $\mathcal{L}_{5,\phi\phi\phi\phi}$ (the invariance of other terms are trivial). To this end, it is useful to find other $SU(2)_R$ doublets. First, since the fundamental representation of SU(2) and anti-fundamental representation of SU(2) are equivalent, following combinations

$$\boldsymbol{\Phi}^{c} = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_{2} \\ -\phi_{1}^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_{2} \\ \overline{\lambda}_{1} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.31)

are also $SU(2)_R$ doublets. Second, using a pair of symplectic Majorana fields;

$$\Upsilon_1 = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 \\ -\bar{\lambda}_2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Upsilon_2 = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_2 \\ \bar{\lambda}_1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.32)

we can show that $(\Upsilon_1, -\Upsilon_2)^T$ is also a $SU(2)_R$ doublet, i.e.

$$\begin{pmatrix} \Upsilon_1 \\ -\Upsilon_2 \end{pmatrix} \to \begin{pmatrix} \Upsilon'_1 \\ -\Upsilon'_2 \end{pmatrix} = U \begin{pmatrix} \Upsilon_1 \\ -\Upsilon_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.33)

The rest of the work is just to arrange the terms so they are represented by the above doublets.

$SU(2)_R$ invariance of $\mathcal{L}_{5,\lambda}$

The kinetic term for the gaugino can be easily rewritten using the above defined symplectic Mojorana fields;

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\lambda} = -\left(-\lambda_{2}, \overline{\lambda}_{1}\right) i\Gamma^{M} \mathcal{D}_{M} \left(\begin{array}{c}\lambda_{1}\\-\overline{\lambda}_{2}\end{array}\right) = -\overline{\Upsilon}_{1} i\Gamma^{M} \mathcal{D}_{M} \Upsilon_{1} = -\overline{\Upsilon}_{2} i\Gamma^{M} \mathcal{D}_{M} \Upsilon_{2}$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1,2} \overline{\Upsilon}_{i} i\Gamma^{M} \mathcal{D}_{M} \Upsilon_{i} = -\frac{1}{2} \left(\overline{\Upsilon}_{1}, -\overline{\Upsilon}_{2}\right) i\Gamma^{M} \mathcal{D}_{M} \left(\begin{array}{c}\Upsilon_{1}\\-\Upsilon_{2}\end{array}\right).$$
(2.34)

Since $(\Upsilon_1, -\Upsilon_2)$ and its Dirac conjugate are doublets, the invariance is manifest in this form.

$SU(2)_R$ invariance of $\mathcal{L}_{5,\phi\lambda\psi}$

The 3-point interaction terms between the sfermion ϕ , the fermion ψ and the gaugino λ can be rewritten as follows

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\phi\lambda\psi} = -\sqrt{2}ig\left(\phi_{1}^{\dagger},\phi_{2}\right)\left[\left(\begin{array}{c}\lambda_{1}\\-\lambda_{2}\end{array}\right)\psi_{1} + \left(\begin{array}{c}\bar{\lambda}_{2}\\\bar{\lambda}_{1}\end{array}\right)\bar{\psi}_{2}\right] + \text{h.c.}$$
$$= -\sqrt{2}ig\left(\phi_{1}^{\dagger},\phi_{2}\right)T^{a}\overline{\Psi}^{c}\left(\begin{array}{c}\Upsilon_{1}^{a}\\-\Upsilon_{2}^{a}\end{array}\right) + \text{h.c.}$$
(2.35)

Here, Ψ^c is defined as

$$\Psi^c = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_2\\ \bar{\psi}_1 \end{pmatrix}. \tag{2.36}$$

$SU(2)_R$ invariance of $\mathcal{L}_{5,\lambda\Sigma\lambda}$

The gaugino-gaugino- Σ interaction terms are

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\lambda\Sigma\lambda} = igf^{abc} \left(\lambda_1^a \Sigma^b \lambda_2^c - \overline{\lambda}_1^a \Sigma^b \overline{\lambda}_2^c\right) = \frac{ig}{2} f^{abc} \left(\overline{\Upsilon}_1^a, -\overline{\Upsilon}_2^a\right) \Sigma^b \left(\begin{array}{c} \Upsilon_1^c \\ -\Upsilon_2^c \end{array}\right), \qquad (2.37)$$

and its invariance is manifest.

$SU(2)_R$ invariance of $\mathcal{L}_{5,\phi\phi\phi\phi}$

The sfermion 4-point interaction terms can be expressed using only the $SU(2)_R$ doublets as follows;

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\phi\phi\phi\phi} = -\frac{g^2}{2} \left(\phi_1^{\dagger} T^a \phi_1 - \phi_2 T^a \phi_2^{\dagger} \right)^2 - 2g^2 \left(\phi_1^{\dagger} T^a \phi_2^{\dagger} \right) \left(\phi_2 T^a \phi_1 \right)$$
(2.38)

$$= -g^2 \left[|\mathbf{\Phi}^c T^a \mathbf{\Phi}|^2 - \frac{1}{2} |\mathbf{\Phi}^\dagger T^a \mathbf{\Phi}|^2 \right].$$
 (2.39)

The invariance is again trivial to see.

3 S^1/\mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold compactification of 5D SUSY Yang Mills Theory

In the previous section, we have written down the Lagrangian for the 5D SUSY gauge theory with matter fields described as Hyper multiplets. Since we are interested in realistic model, we need to compactify the extra 5th dimension. If the shape of the extra dimension is assumed to be S^1 , the 4D theory has $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY that cannot contain chiral fermions which is a crucial defect for phenomenology. If we take the S^1/Z_2 orbifold compactification, we can obtain chiral fermions and the 4D effective theory has $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SUSY. Still we need to break one more SUSY, and here comes the Scherk-Schwarz mechanism [41,42], where the SUSY is softly broken by the twisted boundary condition.

In this section, we first review the Scherk-Schwarz mechanism and derive the 4D effective Lagrangian with out component notation for the later analysis of the compact SUSY model.

3.1 The Scherk-Schwarz mechanism

Let y be a coordinate of the extra dimensional circle S^1 and consider the parity and translation that act on y as;

$$\mathcal{P}: y \to -y, \quad \mathcal{T}: y \to y + 2\pi R,$$

$$(3.1)$$

where R is the radius of the circle S^1 (\mathcal{P} is same as the Z_2 but we just follow the convention). The algebra is given by

$$\mathcal{P}^2 = 1, \quad \mathcal{PTP} = \mathcal{T}^{-1}. \tag{3.2}$$

Let us further introduce the transformation rules for the fields under these symmetries. Let $\phi_{i=1\sim N}$ be a N dimensional representation and its transformation under \mathcal{P} and \mathcal{T} be

$$\mathcal{P}: \phi_i(y) \to \phi'_i(-y) = P_i^j \phi_j(y), \quad \mathcal{T}: \phi_i(y) \to \phi'_i(y + 2\pi R) = T_i^j \phi_j(y). \tag{3.3}$$

We impose the boundary condition as follows;

$$\mathcal{P}: P_i^j \phi_j(-y) = \phi_i(y), \quad \mathcal{T}: T_i^j \phi_j(y - 2\pi R) = \phi_i(y). \tag{3.4}$$

Let us first consider the one dimensional representation of the algebra. Since $\mathcal{P}^2 = 1$, $P = \pm 1$ and from $\mathcal{PTP} = \mathcal{T}^{-1}$ we obtain $T = \pm 1$. In the case of T = -1, there is no mass-less particle in the spectrum which is not desirable for phenomenology and thus we take T = +1. Therefore we have two kinds of the fields, distinguished by the Z_2 charge P, the even parity P = +1 and the odd parity P = -1 fields and each can be expanded as

follows;

$$\phi(y) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n \cos\left(\frac{n}{R}y\right) \quad (P = +1), \tag{3.5}$$

$$\phi(y) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n \sin\left(\frac{n}{R}y\right) \quad (P = -1).$$
(3.6)

Let us next consider the two dimensional representation. The irreducible representation is given by

$$P = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad T = \begin{pmatrix} \cos 2\pi\alpha & \sin 2\pi\alpha \\ -\sin 2\pi\alpha & \cos 2\pi\alpha \end{pmatrix} = e^{i\sigma_2(2\pi\alpha)}.$$
 (3.7)

This is equivalent to

$$P' = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad T' = \begin{pmatrix} e^{i\alpha} & 0 \\ 0 & e^{-i\alpha} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.8)

under the unitary matrix $U = \begin{pmatrix} i & 1 \\ 1 & i \end{pmatrix}$. We embed this representation on to the $SU(2)_R$ doublets and show that the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SUSY is softly broken by imposing the boundary condition in the next subsection. Whereas $SU(2)_R$ singlets are 1-dimensional representation and don't contribute to the SUSY breaking.

3.2 KK expansion

In this subsection, we derive the KK expanded 4D Lagrangian in the Scherk-Schwarz mechanism, that is we would like to perform the following y integral;

$$\mathcal{L}_4 = \int_0^{2\pi R} dy \ \mathcal{L}_5. \tag{3.9}$$

We define

$$\hat{\alpha} = \frac{\alpha}{R}, \quad \hat{n} = \frac{n}{R}, \quad \hat{m} = \frac{m}{R},$$
(3.10)

to tidy up the presentation of the equations. We also introduce notation $\mathcal{L}_{d,*} = \mathcal{L}_{d,*}^{\text{free}} + \mathcal{L}_{d,*}^{\text{gauge-int}}$, for d = 4, 5 and $* = \phi, \psi, A_{\mu}, A_5, \Sigma, \lambda$ to express which part of Lagrangian we are focusing on.

3.2.1 Σ^{a}

We start from the simplest case, a $SU(2)_R$ singlet real scalar field Σ^a . Since the $A_5^a(y)$ has the odd parity, the chiral superfield χ has odd parity and so Σ^a does to be consistent with the SUSY. Therefore the boundary condition is

$$\mathcal{T}: \quad \Sigma^a(y - 2\pi R) = \Sigma^a(y) \tag{3.11}$$

$$\mathcal{P}: \quad -\Sigma^a(-y) = \Sigma^a(y), \tag{3.12}$$

and the KK-expansion is given by

$$\Sigma^{a}(y) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \Sigma_{n}^{a} \frac{\sin \hat{n}y}{\sqrt{\pi R}}.$$
(3.13)

Since the 5D Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\Sigma}^{\text{free}} = -\frac{1}{2} \partial^M \Sigma^a \partial_M \Sigma^a = \frac{1}{2} \Sigma^a [\partial^2 + \partial_5^2] \Sigma^a$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi R} \sum_{n,m=1}^{\infty} \Sigma_m^a \left[\partial^2 - \hat{n}^2 \right] \Sigma_n^a \sin \hat{m} y \sin \hat{n} y, \qquad (3.14)$$

the 4D Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,\Sigma}^{\text{free}} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2} \Sigma_n^a \left[\partial^2 - \hat{n}^2 \right] \Sigma_n^a.$$
(3.15)

We have got the KK-modes Lagrangian. There is no massless degree of freedom for parity odd field.

3.2.2 $A_M^a = (A_\mu^a, A_5^a)$

Let us next consider the gauge field. Since they are singlets under $SU(2)_R$, the boundary condition is

$$\mathcal{T}: \quad A_M(y - 2\pi R) = A_M(y), \tag{3.16}$$

$$\mathcal{P}: \quad A_{\mu}(-y) = +A_{\mu}(y), \quad A_5(-y) = -A_5(y). \tag{3.17}$$

Therefore the KK expansion is

$$A^{a}_{\mu}(y) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^{a}_{\mu,n} \frac{\eta_{n} \cos \hat{n}y}{\sqrt{\pi R}}, \quad A^{a}_{5}(y) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} A^{a}_{5,n} \frac{\sin \hat{n}y}{\sqrt{\pi R}}.$$
 (3.18)

We take R_{ξ} gauge,

$$\mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{gauge-fix}} = \frac{1}{2\xi} \left(\partial^{\mu} A_{\mu} + \xi \partial^{5} A_{5} \right)^{2}, \qquad (3.19)$$

and then the 5D Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,A}^{\text{free}} = -\frac{1}{4} \partial^{[M} A^{N]} \partial_{[M} A_{N]} + \mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{gauge-fix}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} A_{\mu} \left[g^{\mu\nu} (\partial^{2} + \partial_{5}^{2}) + \partial^{\mu} \partial^{\nu} \right] A_{\nu} + A_{5} \partial^{2} A_{5} - A_{\mu} \partial^{\mu} \partial_{5} A_{5}$$

$$- \frac{1}{2\xi} A_{\mu} \partial^{\mu} \partial^{\nu} A_{\nu} + A_{\mu} \partial^{\mu} \partial_{5} A_{5} + \frac{1}{2} \xi A_{5} \partial_{5}^{2} A_{5}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} A_{\mu} \left[g^{\mu\nu} (\partial^{2} + \partial_{5}^{2}) + \partial^{\mu} \partial^{\nu} (1 - \xi^{-1}) \right] A_{\nu} + \frac{1}{2} A_{5} \left[\partial^{2} + \xi \partial_{5}^{2} \right] A_{5}. \quad (3.20)$$

Substituting the KK expansion, we obtain the 4D Lagrangian given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,A} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2} A_{\mu,n} \left[g^{\mu\nu} (\partial^2 - \hat{n}^2) + \partial^{\mu} \partial^{\nu} (1 - \xi^{-1}) \right] A_{\nu,n}$$
(3.21)

$$+\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2} A_{5,n} \left[\partial^2 - \xi \hat{n}^2 \right] A_{5,n}.$$
(3.22)

We take $\xi = 1$ (Feynman gauge) in later calculation.

3.2.3 ϕ

Let us next consider the $SU(2)_R$ doublet, ϕ , and show that the SUSY is softly broken by the twisted boundary condition. The 5D Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\phi}^{\text{free}} = -\left(\partial^M \phi_1\right)^{\dagger} \partial_M \phi_1 - \left(\partial^M \phi_2^{\dagger}\right)^{\dagger} \partial_M \phi_2^{\dagger}, \qquad (3.23)$$

$$= \mathbf{\Phi}^{\dagger} \left(\partial^2 + \partial_5^2 \right) \mathbf{\Phi}, \tag{3.24}$$

where we have used the following notation to express the doublet;

$$\boldsymbol{\Phi} := \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 \\ \phi_2^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix}. \tag{3.25}$$

The boundary condition is

$$\mathcal{P}: \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \mathbf{\Phi}(-y) = \mathbf{\Phi}(y), \tag{3.26}$$

$$\mathcal{T}: \quad e^{-i\sigma_2 2\pi\alpha} \mathbf{\Phi}(y - 2\pi R) = \mathbf{\Phi}(y) \tag{3.27}$$

If we define

$$\tilde{\boldsymbol{\Phi}} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\phi_1} \\ \tilde{\phi}_2^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} = U \boldsymbol{\Phi} \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \boldsymbol{\Phi} = U^{\dagger} \tilde{\boldsymbol{\Phi}}, \tag{3.28}$$

with
$$U = U(y) = e^{i\sigma_2 \hat{\alpha}y} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos \hat{\alpha}y & \sin \hat{\alpha}y \\ -\sin \hat{\alpha}y & \cos \hat{\alpha}y \end{pmatrix}$$
 (3.29)

the boundary condition becomes much easier;

$$\mathcal{P}: \quad \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \tilde{\Phi}(-y) = \tilde{\Phi}(y), \tag{3.30}$$

$$\mathcal{T}: \quad \tilde{\Phi}(y - 2\pi R) = \tilde{\Phi}(y). \tag{3.31}$$

Here we have used the relation

$$U(y) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} U^{\dagger}(-y) = e^{i\sigma_2 \hat{\alpha} y} \sigma_3 e^{i\sigma_2 \hat{\alpha} y} = \sigma_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$U(y) e^{-i\sigma_2 2\pi \alpha} U^{\dagger}(y - 2\pi R) = e^{i\sigma_2 \hat{\alpha} y} e^{-i\sigma_2 2\pi \alpha} e^{-i\sigma_2 \hat{\alpha}(y - 2\pi R)} = 1.$$
 (3.32)

Therefore, we can perform the KK expansion easily;

$$\tilde{\Phi} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\phi}_1 \\ \tilde{\phi}_2^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\phi}_{1,n} \frac{\eta_n}{\sqrt{\pi R}} \cos \hat{n}y \\ \tilde{\phi}_{2,n}^{\dagger} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi R}} \sin \hat{n}y \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.33)

Here $\tilde{\phi}_{2,0} \equiv 0$. The Lagrangian in terms of $\tilde{\Phi}$ is

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\phi}^{\text{free}} = \tilde{\Phi}^{\dagger} U \left(\partial^2 + \partial_5^2 \right) U^{\dagger} \tilde{\Phi} = \tilde{\Phi}^{\dagger} \left(\partial^2 - \hat{\alpha}^2 - 2i\sigma_2 \hat{\alpha} \partial_5 + \partial_5^2 \right) \tilde{\Phi} = \tilde{\Phi}^{\dagger} \begin{pmatrix} \partial^2 - \hat{\alpha}^2 + \partial_5^2 & -2\hat{\alpha} \partial_5 \\ +2\hat{\alpha} \partial_5 & \partial^2 - \hat{\alpha}^2 + \partial_5^2 \end{pmatrix} \tilde{\Phi}.$$
(3.34)

The 4D Lagrangian is

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{L}_{4,\phi}^{\text{free}} &= \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \ \mathcal{L}_{5,\phi}^{\text{free}} \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \\ &\left(\tilde{\phi}_{1,n}^{\dagger} \frac{\eta_{n} \cos \hat{n}y}{\sqrt{\pi R}}, \ \tilde{\phi}_{2,n} \frac{\sin \hat{n}y}{\sqrt{\pi R}} \right) \begin{pmatrix} \partial^{2} - \hat{\alpha}^{2} + \partial_{5}^{2} & -2\hat{\alpha}\partial_{5} \\ +2\hat{\alpha}\partial_{5} & \partial^{2} - \hat{\alpha}^{2} + \partial_{5}^{2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\phi}_{1,m} \frac{\eta_{m} \cos \hat{m}y}{\sqrt{\pi R}} \\ \tilde{\phi}_{2,m}^{\dagger} \frac{\sin \hat{m}y}{\sqrt{\pi R}} \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\tilde{\phi}_{1,n}^{\dagger}, \tilde{\phi}_{2,n} \right) \begin{pmatrix} \partial^{2} - \hat{\alpha}^{2} - \hat{n}^{2} & -2\hat{\alpha}\hat{n} \\ -2\hat{\alpha}\hat{n} & \partial^{2} - \hat{\alpha}^{2} - \hat{n}^{2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\phi}_{1,n} \\ \tilde{\phi}_{2,n}^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \phi_{0}^{\dagger} \left[\partial^{2} - \hat{\alpha}^{2} \right] \phi_{0} \\ &+ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\phi_{+,n}^{\dagger}, \phi_{-,n}^{\dagger} \right) \begin{pmatrix} \partial^{2} - (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^{2} & 0 \\ 0 & \partial^{2} - (\hat{\alpha} - \hat{n})^{2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \phi_{+,n} \\ \phi_{-,n} \end{pmatrix}. \end{aligned}$$
(3.35)

Here we define the mass eigen states as follows;

$$\begin{pmatrix} \phi_{+,n} \\ \phi_{-,n} \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\phi}_{1,n} \\ \tilde{\phi}_{2,n}^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} \quad (n \ge 1), \qquad \phi_0 = \tilde{\phi}_{1,0}, \tag{3.36}$$

$$\iff \begin{pmatrix} \phi_{1,n} \\ \tilde{\phi}_{2,n}^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \phi_{+,n} \\ \phi_{-,n} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.37)

For more convenience, we define

$$\phi_n = \begin{cases} \phi_{+,n} & (n \ge 1), \\ \phi_0 & (n = 0), \\ \phi_{-,-n} & (n \le 1), \end{cases}$$
(3.38)

then the Lagrangian is becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,\phi}^{\text{free}} = \phi_{0}^{\dagger} \left[\partial^{2} - \hat{\alpha}^{2} \right] \phi_{0} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \phi_{+,n}^{\dagger} \left[\partial^{2} - (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^{2} \right] \phi_{+,n} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \phi_{-,n}^{\dagger} \left[\partial^{2} - (\hat{\alpha} - \hat{n})^{2} \right] \phi_{-,n} = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_{n}^{\dagger} \left[\partial^{2} - (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^{2} \right] \phi_{n}.$$
(3.39)

We have here got the KK-modes Lagrangian but the zero-mode has mass α/R . Contexts enable us to distinguish the original ϕ_1, ϕ_2 with the mass eigen states ϕ_n when n = 1, 2; most importantly, the formers are 5D fields and the latters are 4D fields.

It is important to have the direct relation between ϕ_1, ϕ_2 and ϕ_n , when we calculate the interactions among 4D mass eigen modes;

$$\begin{split} \boldsymbol{\Phi} &= \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 \\ \phi_2^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} = e^{-i\sigma_2 \hat{\alpha}y} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\phi}_1 \\ \tilde{\phi}_2^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \begin{pmatrix} \cos \hat{\alpha}y & -\sin \hat{\alpha}y \\ \sin \hat{\alpha}y & \cos \hat{\alpha}y \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\phi}_{1,n} \frac{\eta_n \cos \hat{n}y}{\sqrt{\pi R}} \\ \tilde{\phi}_{2,n}^{\dagger} \frac{\sin \hat{n}y}{\sqrt{\pi R}} \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi R}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\phi}_{1,n} \cos \cos -\tilde{\phi}_{2,n}^{\dagger} \sin \sin n \\ \tilde{\phi}_{1,n} \sin \cos +\tilde{\phi}_{2,n}^{\dagger} \cos \sin \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi R}} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \begin{pmatrix} \phi_{+,n} (\cos \cos - \sin \sin) + \phi_{-,n} (\cos \cos + \sin \sin) \\ \phi_{+,n} (\sin \cos + \cos \sin) + \phi_{-,n} (\sin \cos - \cos \sin) \end{pmatrix} \\ &+ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi R}} \begin{pmatrix} \phi_0 \cos \hat{\alpha}y \\ \phi_0 \sin \hat{\alpha}y \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi R}} \left[\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \begin{pmatrix} \phi_n \cos(\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})y + \phi_{-n} \cos(\hat{\alpha} - \hat{n})y \\ \phi_n \sin(\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})y + \phi_{-n} \sin(\hat{\alpha} - \hat{n})y \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \phi_0 \cos \hat{\alpha}y \\ \phi_0 \sin \hat{\alpha}y \end{pmatrix} \right] \\ &= \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\phi_n}{\sqrt{2\pi R}} \begin{pmatrix} \cos(\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})y \\ \sin(\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})y \end{pmatrix}. \end{split}$$
(3.40)

We can see that this satisfies the original boundary conditions and leads to the 4D Lagrangian in terms of ϕ_n .

3.2.4 ψ

Defining the Dirac field

$$\Psi = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_1 \\ \bar{\psi}_2 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{3.41}$$

we can impose the following boundary condition;

$$\mathcal{T}: \quad \Psi(y - 2\pi R) = \Psi(y), \tag{3.42}$$

$$\mathcal{P}: \quad \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \Psi(-y) = \gamma^5 \Psi(-y) = \Psi(y), \tag{3.43}$$

where we have assigned the parity so that it is consistent with the representation of Φ (ψ_1 and ψ_2 must have the same parity with ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 respectively due to the SUSY). Therefore

the KK expansion is

$$\Psi(y) = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_1 \\ \bar{\psi}_2 \end{pmatrix} (y) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \begin{pmatrix} \psi_{1,n} \frac{\eta_n}{\sqrt{\pi R}} \cos \hat{n}y \\ \bar{\psi}_{2,n} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi R}} \sin \hat{n}y \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.44)

$$= \frac{P_L \Psi_0}{\sqrt{2\pi R}} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[P_L \Psi_n \frac{\cos \hat{n}y}{\sqrt{\pi R}} + P_R \Psi_n \frac{\sin \hat{n}y}{\sqrt{\pi R}} \right].$$
(3.45)

Here we have defined following Dirac fields

$$\Psi_0 = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_{1,0} \\ \bar{\psi}_{1,0} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Psi_n = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_{1,n} \\ \bar{\psi}_{2,n} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (n \ge 1).$$
(3.46)

Note that Ψ_0 is a Majorana field in 4D sense.

Since the 5D Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\psi}^{\text{free}} = -\left(\psi_{2}, \bar{\psi}_{1}\right) i\Gamma^{M} \partial_{M} \left(\begin{array}{c} \psi_{1} \\ \bar{\psi}_{2} \end{array}\right) = -\overline{\Psi} i\Gamma^{M} \partial_{M} \Psi$$

$$= -\left\{\frac{\overline{\Psi}_{0} P_{R}}{\sqrt{2\pi R}} + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \left[\frac{\cos \hat{m}y}{\sqrt{\pi R}} \overline{\Psi}_{m} P_{R} + \frac{\sin \hat{m}y}{\sqrt{\pi R}} \overline{\Psi}_{m} P_{L}\right]\right\}$$

$$\times \left\{i\partial\!\!\!/\Psi + \gamma^{5} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \hat{n} \left[-P_{L} \Psi_{n} \frac{\sin \hat{n}y}{\sqrt{\pi R}} + P_{R} \Psi_{n} \frac{\cos \hat{n}y}{\sqrt{\pi R}}\right]\right\}, \qquad (3.47)$$

the 4D Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,\psi}^{\text{free}} = \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \ \mathcal{L}_{5,\psi}^{\text{free}}$$

$$= -\overline{\Psi}_{0} P_{R} i \partial P_{L} \Psi_{0} - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left\{ \overline{\Psi}_{n} i \partial \Psi_{n} + \hat{n} \overline{\Psi}_{n} (P_{R} \gamma^{5} P_{R} - P_{L} \gamma^{5} P_{L}) \Psi_{n} \right\}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \overline{\Psi}_{0} i \partial \Psi_{0} - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \overline{\Psi}_{n} \left[i \partial - \hat{n} \right] \Psi_{n}. \qquad (3.48)$$

If we define

$$\Psi_n' = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_{1,n} \\ -\bar{\psi}_2 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{3.49}$$

the Lagrangian can be writen

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,\psi}^{\text{free}} = -\frac{1}{2}\overline{\Psi}_0 i \partial \!\!\!/ \Psi_0 - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \overline{\Psi}'_n \left[i \partial \!\!\!/ + \hat{n} \right] \Psi'_n.$$
(3.50)

Note that the difference is the sign of mass term. This Ψ' , as well as Ψ , is used in the later calculation of Feynman diagram.

3.2.5 λ^a

Let us next consider the gaugino. The 5D Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\lambda}^{\text{free}} = -\left(-\lambda_2, \bar{\lambda}_1\right) \begin{pmatrix} \partial_5 & i\sigma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} \\ i\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} & -\partial_5 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 \\ -\bar{\lambda}_2 \end{pmatrix} = -\left(-\lambda_2, \bar{\lambda}_1\right) i\Gamma^M \partial_M \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 \\ -\bar{\lambda}_2 \end{pmatrix}. \quad (3.51)$$

The boundary condition is

$$\mathcal{P}: \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1\\ -\lambda_2 \end{pmatrix} (-y) = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1\\ -\lambda_2 \end{pmatrix} (y), \qquad (3.52)$$

$$\mathcal{T}: e^{-i\sigma_2 2\pi\alpha} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 \\ -\lambda_2 \end{pmatrix} (y - 2\pi R) = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 \\ -\lambda_2 \end{pmatrix} (y).$$
(3.53)

The discussion of KK expansion is quite similar to the ϕ case. Therefore we jump to the final expansion form;

$$\begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 \\ -\lambda_2 \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda_n}{\sqrt{2\pi R}} \begin{pmatrix} \cos(\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})y \\ \sin(\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})y \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.54)

We can see that this satisfies the boundary conditions. The 4D Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,\lambda}^{\text{free}} = \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \, \mathcal{L}_{5,\lambda}^{\text{free}} \\
= -\sum_{n,m} \int_{0}^{2\pi R} \frac{dy}{2\pi R} \left(\lambda_n \sin(\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})y, \ \bar{\lambda}_n \cos(\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})y \right) \\
\times \left(\begin{array}{cc} \partial_5 & i\sigma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} \\ i\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} & -\partial_5 \end{array} \right) \left(\begin{array}{c} \lambda_m \cos(\hat{\alpha} + \hat{m})y \\ \bar{\lambda}_m \sin(\hat{\alpha} + \hat{m})y \end{array} \right) \\
= -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \left[\bar{\lambda}_n i \bar{\sigma}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \lambda_n + \lambda_n i \sigma^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \bar{\lambda}_n - (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n}) \left(\lambda_n \lambda_n + \bar{\lambda}_n \bar{\lambda}_n \right) \right] \\
= -\sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2} \overline{\Upsilon}_n \left[i \partial - (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n}) \right] \Upsilon_n,$$
(3.55)

where

$$\Upsilon_n = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_n \\ \bar{\lambda}_n \end{pmatrix} \tag{3.56}$$

is Majorana field.

3.2.6 summary

Here's the summary of the KK expansion of each field and its 4D Lagrangian.

$$\begin{pmatrix} \phi_1\\ \phi_2^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\phi_n}{\sqrt{2\pi R}} \begin{pmatrix} \cos(\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})y\\ \sin(\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})y \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.57)

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,\phi}^{\text{free}} = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_n^{\dagger} \left[\partial^2 - (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2 \right] \phi_n, \qquad (3.58)$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \psi_1\\ \bar{\psi}_2 \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \begin{pmatrix} \psi_{1,n} \frac{\eta_n}{\sqrt{\pi R}} \cos \hat{n}y\\ \bar{\psi}_{2,n} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi R}} \sin \hat{n}y \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.59)

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,\psi}^{\text{free}} = -\frac{1}{2} \overline{\Psi}_0 i \partial \!\!\!/ \Psi_0 - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \overline{\Psi}_n \left[i \partial \!\!\!/ - \hat{n} \right] \Psi_n, \qquad (3.60)$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2}\overline{\Psi}_{0}i\partial\!\!\!/\Psi_{0} - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\overline{\Psi}_{n}'\left[i\partial\!\!\!/ + \hat{n}\right]\Psi_{n}', \qquad (3.61)$$

$$A^{a}_{\mu}(y) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} A^{a}_{\mu,n} \frac{\eta_{n} \cos \hat{n}y}{\sqrt{\pi R}}, \quad A^{a}_{5}(y) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} A^{a}_{5,n} \frac{\sin \hat{n}y}{\sqrt{\pi R}},$$
(3.62)

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,A}^{\text{free}} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2} A_{\mu,n} \left[g^{\mu\nu} (\partial^2 - \hat{n}^2) - \partial^{\mu} \partial^{\nu} (1 - \xi^{-1}) \right] A_{\nu,n}$$
(3.63)

$$+\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2} A_{5,n} \left[\partial^2 - \xi \hat{n}^2 \right] A_{5,n}, \qquad (3.64)$$

$$\Sigma^{a}(y) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \Sigma_{n}^{a} \frac{\sin \hat{n}y}{\sqrt{\pi R}},$$
(3.65)

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,\Sigma}^{\text{free}} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2} \Sigma_n^a \left[\partial^2 - \hat{n}^2 \right] \Sigma_n^a, \qquad (3.66)$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 \\ -\lambda_2 \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda_n}{\sqrt{2\pi R}} \begin{pmatrix} \cos(\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})y \\ \sin(\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})y \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.67)

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,\lambda}^{\text{free}} = -\sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2} \overline{\Upsilon}_n \left[i \partial \!\!\!/ - (\hat{\alpha} - \hat{n}) \right] \Upsilon_n.$$
(3.68)

3.3 Interaction terms

In order to see the interaction terms, just substitute the KK expansion summarized above and calculate the y integral. The whole interaction terms are too intricate to write down and thus we derive the terms which are required for our purpose only when it's necessary (like in Appendix C).

Note that the gauge coupling is renormalized by the factor $\sqrt{2\pi R}$;

$$g|_{4D} = \frac{g|_{5D}}{\sqrt{2\pi R}}.$$
(3.69)

Practically, before substituting the KK expansion, it is a good idea to transform ϕ and λ into $\tilde{\phi}$ and $\tilde{\lambda}$,

$$\begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 \\ \phi_2^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} = e^{-i\sigma_2 \hat{\alpha}y} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\phi}_1 \\ \tilde{\phi}_2^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 \\ -\lambda_2 \end{pmatrix} = e^{-i\sigma_2 \hat{\alpha}y} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\lambda}_1 \\ -\tilde{\lambda}_2 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.70)

and then perform the KK expansion as follows

$$\begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\phi}_{1} \\ \tilde{\phi}_{2}^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} = e^{+i\sigma_{2}\hat{\alpha}y} \begin{pmatrix} \phi_{1} \\ \phi_{2}^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} \cos\hat{\alpha}y & \sin\hat{\alpha}y \\ -\sin\hat{\alpha}y & \cos\hat{\alpha}y \end{pmatrix} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\phi_{n}}{\sqrt{2\pi R}} \begin{pmatrix} \cos(\hat{\alpha}+\hat{n})y \\ \sin(\hat{\alpha}+\hat{n})y \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\phi_{n}}{\sqrt{2\pi R}} \begin{pmatrix} \cos\hat{n}y \\ \sin\hat{n}y \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\lambda}_{1} \\ -\tilde{\lambda}_{2} \end{pmatrix} = e^{+i\sigma_{2}\hat{\alpha}y} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_{1} \\ -\lambda_{2} \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda_{n}}{\sqrt{2\pi R}} \begin{pmatrix} \cos\hat{n}y \\ \sin\hat{n}y \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.71)

This transformation doesn't change the Lagrangian except for the terms which have ∂_5 because it's a $SU(2)_R$ transformation if we assume y is constant.

3.4 Lagrangian on the brane

So far we have seen the Lagrangian for the bulk fields (the Vector multiplet and the Hyper multiplets) in the 5D space-time. We can also consider fields stuck on the branes (fixed points of Z_2 , $y = 0, \pi R$). Actually in the compact SUSY model the Higgs fields live on the brane, as we will see in section 5.

In this subsection, we suppose we have a brane at y = 0 and then seek for the Lagrangian for a chiral superfield H(x) living on the brane. We use the following notation for the component fields of H;

$$H = h + \sqrt{2\theta}\,\tilde{h} + \theta^2 F_h \tag{3.72}$$

3.4.1 Kinetic term

The kinetic term for H should be the usual 4D SUSY kinetic term. The 5D Lagrangian can be expressed using the Dirac delta function;

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\mathrm{kin}}^{\mathrm{brane}} = \delta(y) \int d^4\theta \, H^{\dagger} e^{-2gV} H, \qquad (3.73)$$

and we obtain

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,\rm kin}^{\rm brane} = \int_0^{2\pi R} dy \, \mathcal{L}_{5,\rm kin}^{\rm brane} = \int d^4\theta \, H^\dagger e^{-2gV(y=0)} H.$$
(3.74)

Since $g_{5D}V(x, y = 0) = g_{4D} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} V_n(x)$, S has the usual gauge interactions including the non-zero gauge bosons and gauginos.

3.4.2 Interaction term

Let us derive the 4D interaction terms of the following Yukawa like coupling on the brane using the components fields;

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\text{int}}^{\text{brane}} = \delta(y) \lambda \int d^2\theta \, \Phi_A \Phi_B H + \text{h.c.}, \qquad (3.75)$$

where Φ_A and Φ_B are chiral superfields in the bulk with even parity, and H is a superfield on the brane. Then the component expression is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\text{int}}^{\text{brane}} = \delta(y) \lambda \left[F_A \phi_B h + \phi_A F_B h + \phi_A \phi_B F_h - \phi_A \psi_B \tilde{h} - \psi_A \phi_B \tilde{h} - \psi_A \psi_B h \right] + \text{h.c.} \quad (3.76)$$

We want to eliminate the auxiliary fields F_A , F_B and F_h and perform the KK expansion so that we obtain the 4D Lagrangian $\mathcal{L}_4 = \int dy \mathcal{L}_5$. To this end, let us next recall the 5D Lagrangian containing the auxiliary fields in the bulk;

$$\mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{bulk}} \supset \sum_{*=A,B} \left\{ |F_{*}|^{2} - F_{*}^{\dagger} \left[\partial_{5} + ig(A_{5} + i\Sigma) \right] \phi_{*}^{C\dagger} + \text{h.c.} \right\} \\ = \sum_{*=A,B} \left\{ \left| F_{*} - \left[\partial_{5} + ig(A_{5} + i\Sigma) \right] \phi_{*}^{C\dagger} \right|^{2} - \left| \left[\partial_{5} - ig(A_{5} - i\Sigma) \right] \phi_{*}^{C} \right|^{2} \right\}.$$
(3.77)

The second term in the second line contributes to the 5D part of the kinetic term of ϕ_* . From the first term, we have defined F'_* as

$$F'_{*} = F_{*} - [\partial_{5} + ig(A_{5} + i\Sigma)] \phi^{C\dagger}_{*}.$$
(3.78)

Therefore the total 5D Lagrangian relevant to the auxiliary fields is

$$\mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{total}} = \mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{brane}} + \mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{bulk}}$$

$$= |F_{A}'|^{2} + |F_{B}'|^{2} + \delta(y) |F_{h}|^{2} + \delta(y) \lambda \left(F_{A}\phi_{B}h + \phi_{A}F_{B}h + \phi_{A}\phi_{B}F_{h}\right) + \text{h.c.}$$

$$= |F_{A}'|^{2} + |F_{B}'|^{2} + \delta(y) \left\{|F_{h}|^{2} + \lambda \phi_{A}\phi_{B}F_{h} + \text{h.c.}\right\}$$

$$+ \delta(y)\lambda \left\{\left(F_{A}' + \partial_{5}\phi_{A}^{C\dagger}\right)\phi_{B}h + \phi_{A}\left(F_{B}' + \partial_{5}\phi_{B}^{C\dagger}\right)h\right\} + \text{h.c.}$$

$$= \left|F_{A}' + \delta(y)\lambda^{*}\phi_{B}^{\dagger}h^{\dagger}\right|^{2} + \left|F_{B}' + \delta(y)\lambda^{*}\phi_{A}^{\dagger}h^{\dagger}\right|^{2} + \delta(y)\left\{\left|F_{h} + \lambda^{*}\phi_{A}^{\dagger}\phi_{B}^{\dagger}\right|^{2} - |\lambda\phi_{A}\phi_{B}|^{2}\right\}$$

$$- |\delta(y)\lambda \phi_{B}h|^{2} - |\delta(y)\lambda \phi_{A}h|^{2} + \delta(y)\left\{\lambda \phi_{B}h\partial_{5}\phi_{A}^{C\dagger} + \lambda\phi_{A}\partial_{5}\phi_{B}^{C\dagger}h + \text{h.c.}\right\}, \quad (3.79)$$

This looks disastrous at first sight since we have got divergent pieces $\delta(y)^2$ in the Lagrangian. However, it is actually not the case. When we have a brane at y = 0, the solution of the equation of motion for $\phi_A^C(y)$ becomes non-continuous at y = 0, and thus $\partial_5 \phi_A^C$ and $\delta(y) \phi_B h$ cancel out each other at y = 0 and thus the divergence does not appear in $\mathcal{L}_5^{\text{total}}$. Similar discussion is found at section 4 of the [51].

However it is still difficult to derive the on-shell 4D Lagrangian of the components fields. To solve this, we change our strategy. Before eliminating the auxiliary fields, we first KK expand the fields including the auxiliary fields and integrate \mathcal{L}_5 with respect to y, and then remove all the modes of the auxiliary fields.

To KK-expand F_* , we first need to know its boundary condition. From the equation of motion, F_* has to have the same boundary condition as $\partial_5 \phi_*^{C\dagger}$ and thus can be expanded as

$$F_* = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} F_{*,n} \frac{\cos(\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})y}{\sqrt{2\pi R}} \qquad \left(F'_* = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} F'_{*,n} \frac{\cos(\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})y}{\sqrt{2\pi R}}\right). \tag{3.80}$$

Substituting the KK expanded form of F'_* and

$$\begin{pmatrix} \phi_* \\ \phi_*^{C\dagger} \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\phi_{*,n}}{\sqrt{2\pi R}} \begin{pmatrix} \cos(\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})y \\ \sin(\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})y \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.81)

into the $\mathcal{L}_5^{\text{total}}$ and integrate it with respect to y, we obtain the 4D Lagrangian. Let us first

KK-expand the terms which don't have F'_A and F'_B ;

$$\mathcal{L}_{4}^{\text{total}} = \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \, \mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{total}}
\supset \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \left\{ \delta(y) \left(|F_{h}|^{2} + \lambda \phi_{A} \phi_{B} F_{h} + \text{h.c.} \right) + \delta(y) \lambda \left(\partial_{5} \phi_{A}^{C\dagger} \phi_{B} + \phi_{A} \partial_{5} \phi_{B}^{C\dagger} \right) h + \text{h.c.} \right\}
= \left| F_{h} + \lambda^{*} \phi_{A}(0)^{\dagger} \phi_{B}(0)^{\dagger} \right|^{2} - |\lambda|^{2} |\phi_{A}(0)|^{2} |\phi_{B}(0)|^{2} + \frac{\lambda}{2\pi R} \sum_{n,m} (2\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n} + \hat{m}) \phi_{A,n} \phi_{B,m} h
= \left| F_{h} + \lambda^{*} \phi_{A}(0)^{\dagger} \phi_{B}(0)^{\dagger} \right|^{2} - |\lambda_{4D}|^{2} \left| \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_{A,n} \right|^{2} \left| \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_{B,m} \right|^{2}
+ \lambda_{4D} \sum_{n,m} (2\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n} + \hat{m}) \phi_{A,n} \phi_{B,m} h.$$
(3.82)

Here we have defined λ_{4D} as $\lambda/2\pi R$. Notice that we obtain the soft SUSY breaking term

$$\lambda_{4D} 2\hat{\alpha} \phi_{A,0} \phi_{B,0} h. \tag{3.83}$$

This plays the role as the soft A-term in the compact SUSY model.

When dealing with the terms containing F'_A and F'_B ,

$$\mathcal{L}_{4}^{\text{total}} = \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \, \mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{total}}$$
$$\supset \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \, \left\{ \left| F_{A}' \right|^{2} + \left| F_{B}' \right|^{2} + \delta(y) \lambda \left(F_{A}' \phi_{B} + \phi_{A} F_{B}' \right) h + \text{h.c.} \right\}, \tag{3.84}$$

it is better to use the tilde basis defined in the previous subsection. If we define \tilde{F}_* and add the corresponding terms properly, KK expansions can be written as

$$\begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\phi}_* \\ \tilde{\phi}_*^{C\dagger} \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\phi_{*,n}}{\sqrt{2\pi R}} \begin{pmatrix} \cos \hat{n}y \\ \sin \hat{n}y \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tilde{F}'_* = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} F'_{*,n} \frac{\cos \hat{n}y}{\sqrt{2\pi R}}, \tag{3.85}$$

and the Lagrangian becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_{4}^{\text{total}} \supset \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \left| F_{A,n}' \right|^{2} + \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \left| F_{B,n}' \right|^{2} + \frac{\lambda}{2\pi R} \sum_{n,m} \left(F_{A,n}' \phi_{B,m} + F_{B,n}' \phi_{A,m} \right) h + \text{h.c.}$$
(3.86)

Therefore the equations of motion for $F'_{A,n}$ and $F'_{B,n}$ are

$$F_{A,n}^{\prime \dagger} + \frac{\lambda}{2\pi R} \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_{B,m} h = 0, \quad (A \longleftrightarrow B), \qquad (3.87)$$

and we obtain

$$\mathcal{L}_{4}^{\text{total}} \supset -|\lambda_{4D}|^2 \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \left\{ \left| \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_{A,m} \right|^2 + \left| \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_{B,m} \right|^2 \right\} |h|^2.$$
(3.88)

Note that the coupling of the 4-point interaction term $|\phi_{B,m}|^2 |h|^2$ is $|\lambda|^2 \sum_n$, which is obviously divergent since it's a infinite summation of a constant. This may look disastrous again at first sight, but its divergence is actually canceled out by the last term in Eq.(3.82), because the KK modes of the $\phi_{A,n}$ generate the divergent 4-point effective interaction of $\phi_{B,m}$ and h. We will see this cancellation concretely in subsection 5.2.

In summary for the later reference, if we have the brane interaction term of the form

$$\mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{brane}} = \delta(y) \,\lambda \int d^{2}\theta \,\Phi_{A} \Phi_{B} H + \text{h.c.}, \qquad (3.89)$$

the 4D Lagrangian after removing the auxiliary fields is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{4}^{\text{brane}} = -|\lambda_{4D}|^{2} \left| \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_{A,n} \right|^{2} \left| \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_{B,m} \right|^{2} - |\lambda_{4D}|^{2} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \left\{ \left| \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_{A,m} \right|^{2} + \left| \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_{B,m} \right|^{2} \right\} |h|^{2} + \lambda_{4D} \sum_{n,m=-\infty}^{\infty} (2\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n} + \hat{m})\phi_{A,n}\phi_{B,m}h + \text{h.c.} - \lambda_{4D} \sum_{n,m=-\infty}^{\infty} \left[\phi_{A,n}\psi_{B,m}\tilde{h} + \psi_{A,n}\phi_{B,m}\tilde{h} + \psi_{A,n}\psi_{B,m}h \right] + \text{h.c.}$$
(3.90)

3.5 Radion Mediation

So far, we have seen the SUSY breaking and the soft terms out of the Scherk Schwarz mechanism, by

- expressing the 5D Lagrangian with component fields
- setting the boundary conditions (twisted by α) for the each component fields
- performing the KK expansion that respects the boundary conditions

However there is another way to see the SUSY breaking effect by Scherk Schwarz mechanism, which is called Radion Mediation [53, 54], and we see this idea in this subsection.

First, recall the full 5D Lagrangian expressed by the 4D superspace notation;

$$\mathcal{L}_{5} = \mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{Vector},1} + \mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{Vector},2} + \mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{Hyper},1} + \mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{Hyper},2},$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{Vector},1} = \frac{1}{16kg^{2}} \text{Tr} \left\{ \int d^{2}\theta \mathcal{W}^{\alpha} \mathcal{W}_{\alpha} + \text{h.c.} \right\},$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{Vector},2} = -\frac{1}{212^{3}} \int d^{4}\theta \text{ Tr} \left\{ (\partial_{5} - \sqrt{2}iq\chi^{\dagger})e^{-2gV}(\partial_{5} - \sqrt{2}iq\chi)e^{2gV} \right\}$$
(3.91)

$$-\frac{1}{2}\partial_5 e^{-2gV}\partial_5 e^{2gV} + g^2(\chi\chi + \chi^{\dagger}\chi^{\dagger}) \Big\},$$

$$g^{\text{Hyper 1}} = \int d_5 e^{-2gV} d_5 e^{2gV} + g^2(\chi\chi + \chi^{\dagger}\chi^{\dagger}) \Big\},$$
(2.69)

$$\mathcal{L}_{5}^{\mathrm{Hyper},1} = \int d^{4}\theta \left[\Phi^{\dagger} e^{-2gV} \Phi + \Phi^{C} e^{2gV} \Phi^{C\dagger} \right], \qquad (3.92)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{5}^{\mathrm{Hyper},2} = \int d^{2}\theta \,\Phi^{C} \left(\partial_{5} - \sqrt{2}ig\chi\right) \Phi + \mathrm{h.c.}. \tag{3.93}$$

We first define the dimension less coordinate φ and dimension less superfield $\underline{\chi}$ as follows;

$$y = R\varphi, \quad \partial_5 = \frac{1}{R}\partial_{\varphi},$$
 (3.94)

$$\underline{\chi} = R\chi, \tag{3.95}$$

and then rewrite the 4D Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{4} = \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \,\mathcal{L}_{5} = \int_{0}^{2\pi} d\varphi \,R \,\mathcal{L}_{5}$$

$$= \int_{0}^{2\pi} d\varphi \left[\frac{1}{16kg^{2}} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ \int d^{2}\theta \,R \mathcal{W}^{\alpha} \mathcal{W}_{\alpha} + \text{h.c.} \right\}, \qquad (3.96)$$

$$- \frac{1}{2kg^{2}} \int d^{4}\theta \,\frac{1}{R} \,\operatorname{Tr} \left\{ (\partial_{\varphi} - \sqrt{2}ig\underline{\chi}^{\dagger})e^{-2gV}(\partial_{\varphi} - \sqrt{2}ig\underline{\chi})e^{2gV} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\varphi}e^{-2gV}\partial_{\varphi}e^{2gV} + g^{2}(\underline{\chi}\underline{\chi} + \underline{\chi}^{\dagger}\underline{\chi}^{\dagger}) \right\},$$

$$+ \int d^4\theta \, R \left[\Phi^{\dagger} e^{-2gV} \Phi + \Phi^C e^{2gV} \Phi^{C\dagger} \right], \qquad (3.97)$$

$$+ \int d^2\theta \,\Phi^C \left(\partial_{\varphi} - \sqrt{2}ig\underline{\chi}\right) \Phi + \text{h.c.} \bigg]. \tag{3.98}$$

Now, suppose that R comes from vev of a sprion field T, and perform the following substitution;

$$\int d^2\theta \, R^n \to \int d^2\theta \, T^n, \tag{3.99}$$

$$\int d^4\theta R^n \to \int d^4\theta \, \left(\frac{T+T^{\dagger}}{2}\right)^n. \tag{3.100}$$

Therefore the 4D Lagrangian becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_{4} = \int_{0}^{2\pi} d\varphi \left[\frac{1}{16kg^{2}} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ \int d^{2}\theta \, T \, \mathcal{W}^{\alpha} \mathcal{W}_{\alpha} + \text{h.c.} \right\}, \qquad (3.101)$$

$$- \frac{1}{2kg^{2}} \int d^{4}\theta \, \frac{2}{T + T^{\dagger}} \, \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ (\partial_{\varphi} - \sqrt{2}ig\underline{\chi}^{\dagger})e^{-2gV}(\partial_{\varphi} - \sqrt{2}ig\underline{\chi})e^{2gV} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\varphi}e^{-2gV}\partial_{\varphi}e^{2gV} + g^{2}(\underline{\chi}\underline{\chi} + \underline{\chi}^{\dagger}\underline{\chi}^{\dagger}) \right\}, \qquad (3.102)$$

$$+ \int d^{4}\theta \, \frac{T + T^{\dagger}}{2} \left[\Phi^{\dagger}e^{-2gV}\Phi + \Phi^{C}e^{2gV}\Phi^{C\dagger} \right], \qquad (3.102)$$

$$+ \int d^2\theta \,\Phi^C \left(\partial_{\varphi} - \sqrt{2}ig\underline{\chi}\right) \Phi + \text{h.c.} \bigg]. \tag{3.103}$$

If we assume $\langle T \rangle = R$, this Lagrangian is same as the previous one at the vacuum of T. Now, instead of having twisted boundary conditions, suppose that the spurion T has the SUSY breaking effect through the following F-term;

$$\langle T \rangle = R + \theta^2 f. \tag{3.104}$$

Then, we can show that this theory at the vacuum of T is same as the previous theory if we take

$$f = 2\alpha. \tag{3.105}$$

We can check this statement just by redefining the chiral superfield so that they become canonical, as follows.

gaugino mass term by Radion mediation

First, when T has F term, the Lagrangian becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_{4}^{\text{Vector},1} = \int_{0}^{2\pi} d\varphi \, \frac{1}{16kg^2} \text{Tr} \left\{ \int d^2 \theta (R + \theta^2 f) \mathcal{W}^{\alpha} \mathcal{W}_{\alpha} + \text{h.c.} \right\},$$
$$= \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \left[\frac{1}{16kg^2} \text{Tr} \left\{ \int d^2 \theta \mathcal{W}^{\alpha} \mathcal{W}_{\alpha} + \text{h.c.} \right\} + \frac{f}{4R} \lambda_1 \lambda_1 + \frac{f^{\dagger}}{4R} \bar{\lambda}_1 \bar{\lambda}_1 \right]. \quad (3.106)$$

In addition to the SUSY preserving part, we have the SUSY breaking soft mass term for λ_1 . Secondly,

$$\mathcal{L}_{4}^{\text{Vector},2} = -\frac{1}{2kg^2} \int_{0}^{2\pi} d\varphi \int d^4\theta \, \frac{2}{T+T^{\dagger}} \, \text{Tr} \Big\{ (\partial_{\varphi} - \sqrt{2}ig\underline{\chi}^{\dagger})e^{-2gV} (\partial_{\varphi} - \sqrt{2}ig\underline{\chi})e^{2gV} \\ -\frac{1}{2}\partial_{\varphi}e^{-2gV} \partial_{\varphi}e^{2gV} + g^2(\underline{\chi}\underline{\chi} + \underline{\chi}^{\dagger}\underline{\chi}^{\dagger}) \Big\}, \tag{3.107}$$

and now if we substitute

$$\frac{2}{T+T^{\dagger}} = \frac{1}{2R+\theta^2 f + \bar{\theta}^2 f^{\dagger}} = \frac{1}{R} \left(1 - \theta^2 \frac{f}{2R} - \bar{\theta}^2 \frac{f^{\dagger}}{2R} + \theta^4 \frac{|f|^2}{2R^2} \right)$$
(3.108)

the chiral superfield χ is not canonical if we see

$$\mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{Vector},2} \supset \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \int d^{4}\theta \, \left(1 - \theta^{2} \frac{f}{2R} - \bar{\theta}^{2} \frac{f^{\dagger}}{2R} + \theta^{4} \frac{|f|^{2}}{2R^{2}}\right) \chi^{\dagger} \chi, \tag{3.109}$$

and thus we define a canonical chiral superfiled $\tilde{\chi}$ as

$$\chi = \left(1 + \frac{f}{2R}\theta^2\right)\tilde{\chi}.$$
(3.110)

so that we obtain

$$\mathcal{L}_{4}^{\text{Vector},2} \supset \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \int d^{4}\theta \, \left(1 - \theta^{2} \frac{f}{2R} - \bar{\theta}^{2} \frac{f^{\dagger}}{2R} + \theta^{4} \frac{|f|^{2}}{2R^{2}}\right) \chi^{\dagger} \chi$$
$$= \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \left[\int d^{4}\theta \, \tilde{\chi}^{\dagger} \tilde{\chi} + \frac{|f|^{2}}{4R^{2}} |\phi_{\tilde{\chi}}|^{2}\right]. \tag{3.111}$$

This looks like at first sight, we have soft mass $(f/2R)^2$ for $\phi_{\tilde{\chi}}$. However from the other term, we obtain

$$\mathcal{L}_{4}^{\text{Vector},2} \supset -\frac{1}{2kg^{2}} \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \int d^{4}\theta \left(1 - \theta^{2} \frac{f}{2R} - \bar{\theta}^{2} \frac{f^{\dagger}}{2R} + \theta^{4} \frac{|f|^{2}}{2R^{2}}\right) \operatorname{Tr}\left(\chi\chi + \chi^{\dagger}\chi^{\dagger}\right)$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \left[\int d\theta^{4} \left(\tilde{\chi}\tilde{\chi} + \tilde{\chi}^{\dagger}\tilde{\chi}^{\dagger}\right) - \frac{f^{\dagger}}{2R} \left(2F_{\tilde{\chi}}\phi_{\tilde{\chi}} - \lambda_{2}\lambda_{2} + \text{h.c.}\right)\right]. \quad (3.112)$$

If we eliminate the auxiliary field F_{χ} the $\frac{|f|^2}{4R^2} |\phi_{\tilde{\chi}}|^2$ in $\mathcal{L}_4^{\text{Vector},2}$ is canceled out. Furthermore we have now the other gaugino λ_2 soft mass term. We can identify the $\tilde{\chi}$ defined here with the $\tilde{\chi}$ defined in the previous subsection since they have the same Lagrangian.

sfermion mass term by Radion mediation

Let us next focus on the Lagrangian of the Hyper multiplets,

$$\mathcal{L}_{4}^{\text{Hyper},1} = \int d\varphi \int d^{4}\theta \, \frac{T+T^{\dagger}}{2} \left[\Phi^{\dagger} e^{-2gV} \Phi + \Phi^{C} e^{2gV} \Phi^{C\dagger} \right],$$

$$= \int dy \int d^{4}\theta \, \left(1 + \theta^{2} \frac{f}{2R} + \bar{\theta}^{2} \frac{f^{\dagger}}{2R} \right) \left[\Phi^{\dagger} e^{-2gV} \Phi + \Phi^{C} e^{2gV} \Phi^{C\dagger} \right],$$

$$= \int dy \int d^{4}\theta \, \left(1 + \theta^{2} \frac{f}{2R} + \bar{\theta}^{2} \frac{f^{\dagger}}{2R} \right)$$

$$\times \left(1 - \frac{f^{\dagger}}{2R} \bar{\theta}^{2} \right) \left(1 - \frac{f}{2R} \theta^{2} \right) \left[\tilde{\Phi}^{\dagger} e^{-2gV} \tilde{\Phi} + \tilde{\Phi}^{C} e^{2gV} \tilde{\Phi}^{C\dagger} \right]$$

$$(3.113)$$

$$= \int dy \left[\int d^4\theta \left[\tilde{\Phi}^{\dagger} e^{-2gV} \tilde{\Phi} + \tilde{\Phi}^C e^{2gV} \tilde{\Phi}^{C\dagger} \right] - \frac{|f|^2}{4R^2} \tilde{\phi}_1^{\dagger} \tilde{\phi}_1 - \frac{|f|^2}{4R^2} \tilde{\phi}_2^{\dagger} \tilde{\phi}_2 \right].$$
(3.114)

In the third equality, we have defined the canonical chiral superfields $\tilde{\Phi}$ and $\tilde{\Phi}^C$ as

$$\Phi = \left(1 - \frac{f}{2R}\theta^2\right)\tilde{\Phi}, \quad \Phi^C = \left(1 - \frac{f}{2R}\theta^2\right)\tilde{\Phi}^C, \quad (3.115)$$

so that we have canonical kinetic term for Φ and Φ^C .

Finally,

$$\mathcal{L}_{5}^{\mathrm{Hyper},2} \supset \int dy \int d^{2}\theta \, \Phi^{C} \left(\partial_{5} - \sqrt{2}ig\chi\right) \Phi + \mathrm{h.c.}$$

$$= \int dy \int d^{2}\theta \, \left(1 - \frac{f}{2R}\theta^{2}\right)^{2} \tilde{\Phi}^{C} \left(\partial_{5} - \sqrt{2}ig(1 + \frac{f}{2R}\theta^{2})\tilde{\chi}\right) \tilde{\Phi} + \mathrm{h.c.}$$

$$= \int dy \left[\int d^{2}\theta \, \tilde{\Phi}^{C} \left(\partial_{5} - \sqrt{2}ig\tilde{\chi}\right) \tilde{\Phi} - \frac{f}{2R}\tilde{\phi}_{2} \left(\partial_{5} - \sqrt{2}ig\phi_{\tilde{\chi}}\right) \tilde{\phi}_{1}\right] + \mathrm{h.c.} \quad (3.116)$$

Notice that fields with tilde $\tilde{\Phi}$ and $\tilde{\Phi}^C$ defined in this subsection correspond to the fields with tildes that are defined in the previous subsection, if we take $f = 2\alpha$, in the sense that they produce the same Lagrangian.

soft A-term by Radion mediation

We can also see the soft SUSY breaking term from the interaction on the brane by the Radion mediation method. Let us consider the same interaction term as that was introduced in subsubsection 3.4.2;

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\text{int}}^{\text{brane}} = \delta(y) \,\lambda \int d^2\theta \,\Phi_A \Phi_B H + \text{h.c.}, \qquad (3.117)$$

where Φ_A and Φ_B are chiral superfields in the bulk with even parity, and H is a superfield on the brane. If we rewrite Φ_A and Φ_B with their canonical counterparts, $\tilde{\Phi}_A$ and $\tilde{\Phi}_B$, the Lagrangian becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\text{int}}^{\text{brane}} = \delta(y) \lambda \int d^2\theta \, \Phi_A \Phi_B H + \text{h.c.}$$

= $\delta(y) \lambda \int d^2\theta \, \left(1 - \frac{f}{2R}\theta^2\right)^2 \tilde{\Phi}_A \tilde{\Phi}_B H + \text{h.c.}$
= $\delta(y) \lambda \left\{\int d^2\theta \, \tilde{\Phi}_A \tilde{\Phi}_B H - \frac{f}{R} \tilde{\phi}_A \tilde{\phi}_B h\right\} + \text{h.c.},$ (3.118)

which produce the same soft term in Eq.(3.83) if we take $f = 2\alpha$.
4 The Radiative Correction to the Gaugino and Sfermion Mass

In the previous section we have described the Scherk-Schwarz mechanism and derived the 4D Lagrangian compactified over S^1/Z_2 . Before we move on to the compact SUSY model setup, we calculate the radiative corrections to the gaugino and the sfermion masses within the simple model described in the previous section.

Now that we have infinite KK-modes in the 4D effective Lagrangian, the loop computation is rather intricate than the usual loop calculation of 4D quantum field theory. We can perform the KK-modes loop calculation using the techniques summarized in the Appendix B which is often used in the thermal field theory since the time direction can be treated as S^1 with a finite radius. Note that since the 5D gauge theory is not renormalizable, the loop correction has the cutoff Λ dependence.

4.1 Abelian Gaugino Mass Correction

We first calculate the radiative correction to the Abelian gaugino mass, to focus on the difference in the regularization scheme in the simpler case. The relevant interaction terms in 5D Lagrangian are gaugino-fermion-sfermion 3-point interactions and we are interested only in the zero-mode gaugino;

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\phi\lambda\psi} = -\sqrt{2}ig\left(\phi_{1}^{\dagger},\phi_{2}\right)\left[\begin{pmatrix}\lambda_{1}\\-\lambda_{2}\end{pmatrix}\psi_{1} + \begin{pmatrix}\bar{\lambda}_{2}\\\bar{\lambda}_{1}\end{pmatrix}\bar{\psi}_{2}\right] + \text{h.c.}$$

$$= -\sqrt{2}ig\left(\tilde{\phi}_{1}^{\dagger},\tilde{\phi}_{2}\right)\left[\begin{pmatrix}\tilde{\lambda}_{1}\\-\tilde{\lambda}_{2}\end{pmatrix}\psi_{1} + \begin{pmatrix}\bar{\lambda}_{2}\\\bar{\lambda}_{1}\end{pmatrix}\bar{\psi}_{2}\right] + \text{h.c.}$$

$$\supset -\frac{\sqrt{2}ig}{\sqrt{2\pi R}}\left(\tilde{\phi}_{1}^{\dagger}\lambda_{0}\psi_{1} + \tilde{\phi}_{2}\bar{\lambda}_{0}\bar{\psi}_{2}\right) + \text{h.c.}$$
(4.1)

In the second equality, we rotate ϕ and λ so they are in tilde basis, and in the next line we only care the zero mode of gaugino - recall the relation

$$\begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\lambda}_1 \\ -\tilde{\lambda}_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\lambda_0}{\sqrt{2\pi R}} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} + (\text{non-zero modes}).$$
(4.2)

Replacing $g/\sqrt{2\pi R}$ with g and integrating them with respect to y, we obtain the corresponding 4D Lagrangian;

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,\phi\lambda_{0}\psi} = -\sqrt{2}ig \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \left(\tilde{\phi}_{1}^{\dagger}\lambda_{0}\psi_{1} + \tilde{\phi}_{2}\bar{\lambda}_{0}\bar{\psi}_{2}\right) + \text{h.c.}$$

$$= -\sqrt{2}ig \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\phi_{m}^{\dagger}\lambda_{0}\psi_{1,n}\frac{\eta_{n}}{\sqrt{2}\pi R}\cos\hat{m}y\cos\hat{n}y + \phi_{m}^{\dagger}\bar{\lambda}_{0}\bar{\psi}_{2,n}\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}\pi R}\sin\hat{m}y\sin\hat{n}y\right) + \text{h.c.}$$

$$= -\sqrt{2}ig\phi_{0}^{\dagger}\lambda_{0}\psi_{1,0} - ig\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[\phi_{n}^{\dagger}\left(\lambda_{0},\bar{\lambda}_{0}\right)\left(\frac{\psi_{1,n}}{\bar{\psi}_{2,n}}\right) + \phi_{-n}^{\dagger}\left(\lambda_{0},\bar{\lambda}_{0}\right)\left(\frac{\psi_{1,n}}{-\bar{\psi}_{2,n}}\right)\right] + \text{h.c.}$$

$$= -\sqrt{2}ig\phi_{0}^{\dagger}\overline{\Upsilon}_{0}P_{L}\Psi_{0} - ig\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[\phi_{n}^{\dagger}\overline{\Upsilon}_{0}\Psi_{n} + \phi_{-n}^{\dagger}\overline{\Upsilon}_{0}\Psi_{n}'\right] + \text{h.c.}$$

$$(4.3)$$

Therefore 1PI graph at 1-loop is given by Fig.2.



Figure 2: The loop diagram of radiative corrections to the gaugino mass by the 3-point interaction between gaugino, fermion and sfermion.

Taking the external momentum to be p and the loop momentum to be k, the Feynman

diagram is expressed as follows;

$$\begin{split} \Sigma(p) &= \operatorname{Fig.2} = (\operatorname{zero mode}) + (\operatorname{positive modes}) + (\operatorname{negative modes}) \\ &= \sum_{ij} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \Biggl\{ (-\sqrt{2}igT^a_{ij}P_L) \frac{k}{k^2} (\sqrt{2}igT^a_{ji}P_R) \frac{1}{(p-k)^2 + \hat{\alpha}^2} \\ &+ (\sqrt{2}igT^a_{ij}P_R) \frac{k}{k^2} (-\sqrt{2}igT^a_{ji}P_L) \frac{1}{(p-k)^2 + \hat{\alpha}^2} \Biggr\} \\ &+ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{ij} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} (-igT^a_{ij}) \frac{k-\hat{n}}{k^2 + \hat{n}^2} (igT^a_{ji}) \frac{1}{(p-k)^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2} \times 2 \\ &+ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{ij} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} (-igT^a_{ij}) \frac{k+\hat{n}}{k^2 + \hat{n}^2} (igT^a_{ji}) \frac{1}{(p-k)^2 + (\hat{\alpha} - \hat{n})^2} \times 2 \\ &= 2g^2 T(F) \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{k-\hat{n}}{[k^2 + \hat{n}^2][(k-p)^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2]}. \end{split}$$
(4.4)

The factor $\times 1/2$ in the zero mode loop comes from the Majorana property of Ψ_0 . In the last line, T(F) is defined as the number of the flavor times the trace of the fundamental representation, i.e. $T(F) = F \times T(N)$. T(N) is $\frac{1}{2}$ in the non-Abelian case, and is 1 in the Abelian case. By the Feynman technique $\frac{1}{ab} = \int_0^1 dx \frac{1}{[ax+b(1-x)]^2}$, we obtain the following

$$\Sigma(p) = 2g^2 F \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \int_0^1 dx \; \frac{\not k - \hat{n}}{[k^2 - 2xpk + xp^2 + \hat{n}^2 + 2x\hat{\alpha}\hat{n} + x\hat{\alpha}^2]^2}.$$
 (4.5)

We evaluate this in three different ways.

Method 1: DR bar scheme

Here's the procedure of the first method;

- Step1: integrate with respect to k, with $\overline{\text{DR}}$ method to regularize the infinity
- Step2: expand around $\alpha = 0$, and then perform the x integration
- Step3: perform the summation by n, if possible

For notational simplicity, we introduce $\hat{p} = pR$, which is dimensionless and thought to be small.

After the fourth line, we have omitted the sum of $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$. The last line can be evaluated as follows.

$$\sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{1} dx (x \not\!\!p - \hat{n}) \ln \left[n^{2} + 2x\alpha n + x\alpha^{2} \right]$$

$$= \not\!\!p \int_{0}^{1} dx x \ln[x\alpha^{2}] + \not\!\!p \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{1} dx x \ln \left[n^{2} + 2x\alpha n + x\alpha^{2} \right] \left[n^{2} - 2x\alpha n + x\alpha^{2} \right]$$

$$- R^{-1} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n \int_{0}^{1} dx \ln \left[\frac{n^{2} + 2x\alpha n + x\alpha^{2}}{n^{2} - 2x\alpha n + x\alpha^{2}} \right]$$

$$= \not\!\!p \left(-\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2} \ln \alpha^{2} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{1} dx x \left[\ln n^{4} - \frac{2x(2x-1)}{n^{2}} \alpha^{2} + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^{4}) \right] \right)$$

$$- R^{-1} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{1} dx \left[4x\alpha + \frac{4x^{2}(4x-3)}{3n^{2}} \alpha^{3} + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^{5}) \right]$$

$$= \not\!\!p \left(-\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2} \ln \alpha^{2} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[\frac{1}{2} \ln n^{4} - \frac{1}{3n^{2}} \alpha^{2} \right] \right) - \hat{\alpha} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} 2 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^{4}). \tag{4.7}$$

Since $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} 1/n^2 = \pi^2/6$, the result is

$$\Sigma(p) = \frac{g^2 F}{8\pi^2} \left\{ \not p \left(\frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \bar{\epsilon}^{-1} + \frac{1}{4} - \frac{1}{2} \ln \alpha^2 - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \ln n^4 + \frac{\pi^2}{18} \alpha^2 \right) + \hat{\alpha} \left(2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} 1 \right) \right\} + \mathcal{O}(\hat{p}^2, \alpha^4).$$
(4.8)

As you can see, there are three kinds of divergences, two in the wave function renormalization and one in the mass term. We cannot perform the summation by n any further which means the regularization is not complete. Therefore it is difficult to discuss physics in this method.

Method 2: KK-regularization

The second method is as follows;

- Step1: take the infinite summation by n first
- Step2: evaluate the momentum integral with the cutoff Λ
- Step3: perform the x integration and expand around $\alpha = 0$ if necessary

This scheme is called KK-regularization in the literatures [55–57]. In this way, we can evaluate the divergence with only one parameter Λ , which is one of the upsides of this method. As the downside, the introduction of the momentum cutoff breaks the gauge symmetry and SUSY.

Let us go back to Eq.(4.5) and see how this method works. We first rearrange the infinite sum and integrations and rewrite the integrand as follows;

$$\Sigma(p) = 2g^2 F \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \int_0^1 dx \; \frac{\not k - \hat{n}}{[\hat{n}^2 + 2x\hat{\alpha}\hat{n} + x\hat{\alpha}^2 + k^2 - 2xpk + xp^2]^2} = -2g^2 F R^{-1} \int_0^1 dx \; \int \frac{d^4\hat{k}'}{(2\pi)^4} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{n - xp}{(n + x\alpha + iq)^2(n + x\alpha - iq)^2}, \tag{4.9}$$

where we have defined $\hat{k} = kR$, $\hat{k}' = \hat{k} - x\hat{p}$ and $q^2 = \hat{k}'^2 + x(1-x)(\alpha^2 + \hat{p}^2) = \hat{k}'^2 + c^2$. Note that we have made it Euclidean by the Wick rotation from the beginning. Note also that there is a mathematical subtlety when exchanging the infinite sum and the integral, which may result in a different result. The technique to evaluate the infinite sum $\sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty}$ and perform the momentum integral $\int d^4k$ with cutoff Λ is summarized in the Appendix B. Using Eq.(B.40) and Eq.(B.39), we obtain

$$\Sigma(p) = -2g^2 F R^{-1} \int_0^1 dx \, \left[\mathcal{I}_2(x\alpha, c) - x \not p \, \mathcal{I}_1(x\alpha, c) \right] \\ = \frac{g^2 F}{8\pi^2} \Biggl\{ \not p \left(\frac{\pi}{2} \hat{\Lambda} - 2 \int_0^1 dx \, x \ln[2\pi \sqrt{x\alpha^2 + x(1-x)\hat{p}^2}] \right) + \hat{\alpha} \left(\frac{\pi}{2} \hat{\Lambda} - 1 \right) \Biggr\}.$$
(4.10)

Here we have used $\hat{\Lambda} = \Lambda R$, a dimensionless cutoff regularized by R. We have divergences both in the wave function renormalization and in the mass renormalization term. Both are expressed by the cutoff Λ and we can see the cancellation as follows. We define the wave function renormalization δZ and δm as

$$\Sigma(p) = \delta Z p + \delta m. \tag{4.11}$$

Then the 1PI 2-point vertex function is

$$\Gamma_{\lambda_0}(p) = -\not p - m - \Sigma(p) = -(1 + \delta Z) \left(\not p + \frac{m + \delta m}{1 + \delta Z}\right).$$
(4.12)

Now, the tree-level mass m is $\hat{\alpha}$. Therefore, by looking at the pole mass, the mass correction is

$$\delta M_{\lambda} = \left[\delta m - \hat{\alpha} \delta Z\right]_{p^{2} = -\hat{\alpha}^{2}}$$

$$= \frac{g^{2} F}{8\pi^{2}} \hat{\alpha} \left\{ \left(\frac{\pi}{2} \hat{\Lambda} - 1\right) - \left(\frac{\pi}{2} \hat{\Lambda} - 2\int_{0}^{1} dx \, x \ln[2\pi\sqrt{x\alpha^{2} - x(1-x)\alpha^{2}}]\right) \right\}$$

$$= \frac{g^{2} F}{8\pi^{2}} \hat{\alpha} \left(\ln[2\pi\alpha] - \frac{3}{2}\right). \tag{4.13}$$

Here are comments regarding this result;

- It is proportionate to α , and thus it vanishes when $\alpha = 0$. This is consistent with the fact that when $\alpha = 0$, the supersymmetry preserves even after the compactification, and thus the gaugino should be massless.
- The linear divergence in the wave function renormalization is consistent with the fact that 5D gauge coupling is expected to have linear divergence from the dimensional analysis [58, 59].
- Still this divergence is cancelled out in the overall mass correction. This is reasonable because the UV divergence is a local effect and there is locally the 5D Lorentz invariance from the construction of this theory. If there is a 5D Lorentz invariance, there must be no mass correction to the zero-mode gaugino mass. Similar discussion is found in [60].

One may wonder if the cancellation of the linear divergence is really scheme independent since the introduction of the momentum cutoff Λ breaks the SUSY and gauge symmetry. We take one more different method and show that there is no divergence in the mass correction.

Method 3: The winding method

We can evaluate the Feynman diagrams that have KK-modes loop without introducing the momentum cutoff Λ following the method in [60]. We show that the linear divergence does not appear in the mass correction in this method as well as in the KK-regularization method.

The key equality in this method is the Poisson resummation formula;

$$\frac{1}{2\pi R} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} F(n/R) = \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} f(2\pi Rm), \qquad (4.14)$$

where F and f are continuous functions and f is the Fourier transformation of F;

$$f(x) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{dk}{2\pi} F(k) e^{-ikx}.$$
 (4.15)

Using this formula, we rewrite the KK-modes summation into the winding number summation, and this is why we call this scheme the winding method. The calculation is written down below followed by the explanation in each step.

$$\Sigma(p) = 2g^2 F \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \int_0^1 dx \, \frac{x\not p - \hat{n}}{[k^2 + x(1-x)p^2 + \hat{n}^2 + 2x\hat{\alpha}\hat{n} + x\hat{\alpha}^2]^2} \tag{4.16}$$

$$= 2g^2 F \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int_0^1 dx \, \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \left(x \not\!\!p - \hat{n} \right) \int_0^\infty dl \, l \, e^{-l[k^2 + x(1-x)p^2 + \hat{n}^2 + 2x\hat{\alpha}\hat{n} + x\hat{\alpha}^2]} \tag{4.17}$$

$$= \frac{g^2}{8\pi^2} F \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int_0^1 dx \, \left(x\not\!p - \hat{n}\right) \int_0^\infty \frac{dl}{l} \, e^{-l[x(1-x)p^2 + \hat{n}^2 + 2x\hat{\alpha}\hat{n} + x\hat{\alpha}^2]} \tag{4.18}$$

$$= \frac{g^2}{8\pi^2} FR \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \int_0^1 dx \, \int_0^\infty \frac{dl}{l} \, \left(-i\frac{2\pi Rm}{2l} \right) \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{l}} \, e^{-2\pi i m x \alpha - \frac{\pi^2 R^2 m^2}{l}} \tag{4.19}$$

$$= \frac{g^2}{8\pi^2} F \frac{1}{R} \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(-\frac{1}{2\pi}\right) \frac{m}{|m|^3} \frac{1 - e^{-2\pi i m x \alpha}}{2\pi m \alpha}$$
(4.20)

$$= \frac{g^2}{8\pi^2} F \frac{\alpha}{R} \left(\ln[2\pi\alpha] - \frac{3}{2} \right) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^3).$$
(4.21)

In the second equality, we have used the following identity

$$\frac{1}{A^2} = \int_0^\infty dl \, l \, e^{-lA},\tag{4.22}$$

for A > 0 and in the forth equality we have performed the Gaussian integration with respect to momentum k. In the fourth equality, we have used the Poisson resummation formula and rewritten the integrand with its Fourier transform, using the on-shell condition ($\not p = -\hat{\alpha}$). The fifth equality is just a integration by l and then x. In the last equality, we have expanded around $\alpha = 0$ and dropped m = 0 contribution to perform the summation by m. The m = 0dropping looks valid since the integrand of the fifth line vanish when m = 0. However this reasoning is mathematically subtle since we have exchanged the summation and integral which does not converge. Instead we rely on the physical reasoning to drop the m = 0 divergence (same as in [60]); m = 0 corresponds to no-winding and thus should be vanish by local 5D Lorentz invariance. This m = 0 corresponds to the linear divergence in KK-regularization and the resulting mass correction from the rest is exactly same as Eq.(4.13);

$$\delta M_{\lambda} = \frac{g^2}{8\pi^2} \hat{\alpha} F\left(\ln[2\pi\alpha] - \frac{3}{2}\right). \tag{4.23}$$

This implies that the cancellation of linear and higher divergences is not scheme dependent.

In the following calculation, we use the KK-regularization method since the cutoff Λ , which was introduced to renormalize the divergence, can be understood as the scale where the 5D effective field theory picture breaks.

4.2 Non-Abelian Gaugino Mass Correction

In this section let us discuss the radiative correction to the Non-Abelian gaugino. The relevant terms are $\mathcal{L}_{\phi\lambda\psi}$, $\mathcal{L}_{\lambda\Sigma\lambda}$ and $\mathcal{L}_{\lambda}^{\text{gauge-int}}$. Therefore, the 1-loop 1PI graph falls into following components;

$$\Sigma(p) = \Sigma_{\phi\lambda\psi} + \Sigma_{\lambda\Sigma\lambda} + \Sigma_{\lambda}^{\text{gauge-int}},$$

$$\Sigma_{\lambda}^{\text{gauge-int}} = \Sigma_{\lambda A_{\mu\lambda}} + \Sigma_{\lambda A_{5}\lambda}.$$
(4.24)

Each term represents the Feynman diagram in Fig.3.



Figure 3: The loop diagram of radiative corrections to the gaugino mass by the 3-point interaction between gaugino, fermion and sfermion.

Taking the external momentum to be p and the loop momentum to be k, each diagram is expressed as

$$\Sigma_{\phi\lambda\psi} = \text{Fig. 3 (a)} = 2g^2 T(F) \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{\not k - \hat{n}}{[k^2 + \hat{n}^2][(k-p)^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2]}, \qquad (4.25)$$

$$\Sigma_{\lambda\Sigma\lambda} = \text{Fig. 3 (b)} = \frac{g^2 C(A)}{2} \sum_{n \neq 0} \int \frac{d^4 k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{\not k + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})}{[k^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2][(k - p)^2 + \hat{n}^2]}, \tag{4.26}$$

$$\Sigma_{\lambda A_5 \lambda} = \text{Fig. 3 (c)} = \frac{g^2 C(A)}{2} \sum_{n \neq 0} \int \frac{d^4 k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{k - (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})}{[k^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2][(k - p)^2 + \hat{n}^2]}, \quad (4.27)$$

$$\Sigma_{\lambda A_{\mu}\lambda} = \text{Fig. 3 (d)} = g^2 C(A) \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{\not k + 2(\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})}{[k^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2][(k-p)^2 + \hat{n}^2]}, \quad (4.28)$$

$$+ g^{2}C(A) \int \frac{d^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{\not{k} + 2\hat{\alpha}}{[k^{2} + \hat{\alpha}^{2}][(k-p)^{2}]}.$$
(4.29)

The detailed derivation of these equations are written in the Appendix C.1. Combining these results give us

$$\Sigma(p) = 2g^2 T(F) \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{\not k - \hat{n}}{[k^2 + \hat{n}^2][(k-p)^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2]} + 2g^2 C(A) \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{\not k + \hat{\alpha} + \hat{n}}{[k^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2][(k-p)^2 + \hat{n}^2]} + 2g^2 C(A) \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{\hat{\alpha}}{[k^2 + \hat{\alpha}^2][(k-p)^2]}.$$
(4.30)

Evaluation of Σ by KK-regularization

We evaluate the Eq.(4.30) in the KK-regularization scheme as in the Abelian gaugino case. Using Eq.(B.39) and Eq.(B.40), the first term in Eq.(4.30) is evaluated as follows;

$$2g^{2}T(F)\sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty}\int \frac{d^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{\not k - \hat{n}}{[k^{2} + \hat{n}^{2}][(k-p)^{2} + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^{2}]}$$

$$= 2g^{2}T(F)\int_{0}^{1}dx\sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty}\int \frac{d^{4}k'}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{x\not p - \hat{n}}{[(\hat{n} + x\hat{\alpha})^{2} + k'^{2} + c^{2}]^{2}} \quad \left(c^{2} = x(1-x)(p^{2} + \hat{\alpha}^{2})\right)$$

$$= 2g^{2}T(F)R^{-1}\int_{0}^{1}dx\left[x\not p\mathcal{I}_{1}(x\alpha, c) - \mathcal{I}_{2}(x\alpha, c)\right]$$

$$= \frac{2g^{2}T(F)}{8\pi^{2}}\left\{\not p\left(\frac{\pi}{4}\hat{\Lambda} - \int_{0}^{1}dx\,x\ln[2\pi\sqrt{x\alpha^{2} + x(1-x)\hat{p}^{2}}]\right) + \hat{\alpha}\left(\frac{\pi}{4}\hat{\Lambda} - \frac{1}{2}\right)\right\}. \quad (4.31)$$

Similarly the second term in Eq.(4.30) is;

The third term doesn't have the KK summation and this is same as the usual 4D loop diagram. We evaluate this by introducing a naive momentum cutoff (the last equation in Eq.(A.47)) and we obtain

$$2g^{2}C(A) \int \frac{d^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{\hat{\alpha}}{[k^{2} + \hat{\alpha}^{2}][(k-p)^{2}]}$$

= $2g^{2}C(A)\hat{\alpha} \int_{0}^{1} dx \int \frac{d^{4}k'}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{[k'^{2} + x(1-x)p^{2} + (1-x)\hat{\alpha}^{2}]^{2}}$
= $\frac{2g^{2}C(A)}{8\pi^{2}}\hat{\alpha} \left(\ln\hat{\Lambda} - \int_{0}^{1} dx \ln[\sqrt{x\alpha^{2} + x(1-x)\hat{p}^{2}}] - \frac{1}{2}\right).$ (4.33)

In total, we obtain

$$\Sigma(p) = \frac{g^2}{4\pi^2} \left\{ \not p \left(\frac{T(F) + C(A)}{4} \pi \hat{\Lambda} - \int_0^1 dx \, \left(xT(F) + (1-x)C(A) \right) \ln[2\pi \sqrt{x\alpha^2 + x(1-x)\hat{p}^2}] \right) + \hat{\alpha} \left(\frac{T(F) + C(A)}{4} \pi \hat{\Lambda} + \frac{C(A)}{2} \ln \hat{\Lambda}^2 - \frac{T(F)}{2} - 2C(A) \int_0^1 dx \, \ln[\sqrt{x\alpha^2 + x(1-x)\hat{p}^2}] - C(A) \ln[2\pi] \right) \right\}$$
(4.34)

Defining $\Sigma(p) = \delta Z \not p + \delta m$, the 1PI 2-point vertex function is

$$\Gamma_{\lambda_0}(p) = -\not p - m - \Sigma(p) = -(1 + \delta Z) \left(\not p + \frac{m + \delta m}{1 + \delta Z}\right).$$
(4.35)

Since the tree-level mass m is $\hat{\alpha}$, the mass correction is

$$\delta M_{\lambda} = [\delta m - \hat{\alpha} \delta Z]_{p^2 = -\hat{\alpha}^2}$$

= $\frac{g^2}{16\pi^2} \hat{\alpha} \left(4C(A) \ln[2\pi\hat{\Lambda}] + (2T(F) - 6C(A)) \ln[2\pi\alpha] + 5C(A) - 3T(F) \right)$ (4.36)

Here are comments on this result;

- First of all, if we put C(A) = 0 and T(F) = 1, this value is of course same as the Abelian case result, i.e. Eq.(4.13), and the comments on the proportionality to α and the cancellation of linear divergence still stand.
- The coefficient of $\ln[2\pi\alpha]$ should be same as the MSSM gaugino beta function;

$$\frac{dM_{\lambda}}{d\ln\mu} = \frac{g^2}{16\pi^2} (2T(F) - 6C(A))\hat{\alpha}.$$
(4.37)

This is because the IR divergent $\ln[\alpha]$ term comes only from the zero mode loop diagrams, and the zero mode theory is same as the MSSM with the soft parameter $\hat{\alpha}$.

• The main difference from the Abelian case is that there is a logarithmic divergent term. This comes from the "mis-match" in the zero-mode (the last line in the Eq.(4.30)) and can be understood as the brane localized correction. We discuss on this further in the Appendix E.

4.3 Sfermion Mass Correction

In this section let us evaluate the radiative correction to the sfermion mass. The procedure is almost same as the gaugino case.

The relevant interaction terms are $\mathcal{L}_{\phi\lambda\psi}$, $\mathcal{L}_{\phi\Sigma\Sigma\phi}$, $\mathcal{L}_{\phi\phi\phi\phi}$ and $\mathcal{L}^{\text{gauge-int}}$. Therefore, the 2-point 1PI Green function falls into following parts;

$$\Pi(p) = \Pi_{\phi\lambda\psi}(p) + \Pi_{\phi\Sigma\Sigma\phi}(p) + \Pi_{\phi\phi\phi\phi}(p) + \Pi^{\text{gauge-int}}(p),$$
with
$$\Pi^{\text{gauge-int}}(p) = \Pi_{\phi A_{\mu}\phi}(p) + \Pi_{\phi A_{5}\phi}(p) + \Pi_{\phi A^{\mu}A_{\mu}\phi}(p) + \Pi_{\phi A_{5}A_{5}\phi}(p).$$
(4.38)

Each term represents the Feynman diagrams in Fig.4.

Taking the external momentum to be p and the loop momentum to be k, each diagram is expressed as follows (see the Appendix C.2 for the detailed calculation);

$$\Pi_{\phi\lambda\psi} = \text{Fig.4 (a)} = 4g^2 C(N) \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{k \cdot (k-p) + (\hat{\alpha}+\hat{n})\hat{n}}{[k^2 + (\hat{\alpha}+\hat{n})^2][(k-p)^2 + \hat{n}^2]}, \quad (4.39)$$

$$\Pi_{\phi A_5\phi} = \text{Fig.4 (b)} = \frac{g^2}{2} C(N) \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{(2\hat{\alpha}+\hat{n})^2}{[k^2 + (\hat{\alpha}+\hat{n})^2][(k-p)^2 + \hat{n}^2]} - 2g^2 C(N) \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{\hat{\alpha}^2}{[k^2 + \hat{\alpha}^2][(k-p)^2]}, \quad (4.40)$$

$$\Pi_{\phi A_5\phi} = \text{Fig.4 (c)} = \frac{g^2}{2} C(N) \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{(k+p)^2}{[k^2 + \hat{\alpha}^2][(k-p)^2]} + \frac{(k+p)^2}{k^2 + (k+p)^2} +$$

$$_{\phi A_{\mu}\phi} = \text{Fig.4 (c)} = \frac{g^2}{2} C(N) \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{(k+p)^2}{[k^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2][(k-p)^2 + \hat{n}^2]} + \frac{g^2}{2} C(N) \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{(k+p)^2}{[k^2 + \hat{\alpha}^2][(k-p)^2]}.$$
 (4.41)

for loops from 3-point couplings, and

$$\Pi_{\phi\Sigma\Sigma\phi} = \text{Fig.4 (d)} = -g^2 C(N) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{k^2 + \hat{n}^2},$$
(4.42)

$$\Pi_{\phi\phi\phi\phi} = \text{Fig.4 (e)} = -\frac{3}{2}g^2 C(N) \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{k^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2}$$
(4.43)

$$+\frac{1}{2}g^{2}C(N)\int\frac{d^{4}k}{i(2\pi)^{4}}\frac{1}{k^{2}+\hat{\alpha}^{2}},$$
(4.44)

$$\Pi_{\phi A_5 A_5 \phi} = \text{Fig.4 (f)} = -g^2 C(N) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4 k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{k^2 + \hat{n}^2},$$
(4.45)

$$\Pi_{\phi A_{\mu}A_{\mu}\phi} = \text{Fig.4 (g)} = -4g^2 C(N) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{k^2 + \hat{n}^2},$$
(4.46)



Figure 4: The 1-loop Feynman diagrams of radiative corrections to the sfermion mass.

for loops from 4-point couplings.

In total,

$$\Pi(p) = -g^2 C(N) \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{p^2 + \hat{\alpha}^2}{[k^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2][(k-p)^2 + \hat{n}^2]} + g^2 C(N) \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{p^2 - 3\hat{\alpha}^2}{[k^2 + \hat{\alpha}^2][(k-p)^2]}.$$
(4.47)

The quadratic divergent terms are canceled out, and of course this is zero when $\alpha = 0, p = 0$.

Evaluation of Π by KK-regularization

First term is

$$-g^{2}C(N)\sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty}\int \frac{d^{4}k}{i(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{p^{2}+\hat{\alpha}^{2}}{[k^{2}+(\hat{\alpha}+\hat{n})^{2}][(k-p)^{2}+\hat{n}^{2}]}$$

$$=-g^{2}C(N)(p^{2}+\hat{\alpha}^{2})\int_{0}^{1}dx\sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty}\int \frac{d^{4}k}{i(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{[k^{2}+(\hat{n}+x\hat{\alpha})^{2}+c^{2}]^{2}}$$

$$=-g^{2}C(N)(p^{2}+\hat{\alpha}^{2})\int_{0}^{1}dx\mathcal{I}_{1}(x\alpha,c)$$

$$=-\frac{g^{2}}{8\pi^{2}}C(N)(p^{2}+\hat{\alpha}^{2})\left(\frac{\pi}{2}\hat{\Lambda}-\int_{0}^{1}dx\ln[2\pi\sqrt{x\alpha^{2}+x(1-x)\hat{p}^{2}}]\right). \quad (4.48)$$

Second term is

$$g^{2}C(N)\int \frac{d^{4}k}{i(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{p^{2} - 3\hat{\alpha}^{2}}{[k^{2} + \hat{\alpha}^{2}][(k-p)^{2}]}$$

= $g^{2}C(N)(p^{2} - 3\hat{\alpha}^{2})\int_{0}^{1}dx\int \frac{d^{4}k}{i(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{[k^{2} + x\hat{\alpha}^{2} + x(1-x)p^{2}]^{2}}$
= $\frac{g^{2}}{8\pi^{2}}C(N)(p^{2} - 3\hat{\alpha}^{2})\left(\ln\hat{\Lambda} - \int_{0}^{1}dx\ln\sqrt{x\alpha^{2} + x(1-x)p^{2}} - \frac{1}{2}\right).$ (4.49)

The total $\Pi(p)$ is just a sum of above two. If we define $\Pi(p) = -\delta Z p^2 - \delta m^2$, the 2-point vertex function becomes

$$\Gamma(p) = p^2 + m^2 - \Pi(p) = (1 + \delta Z) \left(p^2 + \frac{m^2 + \delta m^2}{1 + \delta Z} \right),$$
(4.50)

and thus the mass correction at 1-loop level is

$$\delta M_{\phi}^{2} = \delta m^{2} - \hat{\alpha}^{2} \delta Z|_{p^{2} = -\hat{\alpha}^{2}}$$

= $\frac{g^{2}C(N)}{8\pi^{2}} 4\hat{\alpha}^{2} \left(\ln \hat{\Lambda} - \ln \alpha + \frac{1}{2} \right).$ (4.51)

Here are comments on this result;

- The proportionality to $\hat{\alpha}^2$ and the cancellation of the quadratic (cubic, if we take the infinite sum into account) has the same physical reasoning as the gaugino case.
- For the same reason as the gaugino case, the coefficient of $\ln \alpha$ corresponds to the beta function in the case of MSSM;

$$\frac{dM_{\phi}^2}{d\ln\mu} = -\frac{g^2}{8\pi^2}C(N)4\hat{\alpha}^2 = \begin{cases} -\frac{g^2}{16\pi^2}\frac{32}{3}\hat{\alpha}^2 & (G = SU(3)) \\ -\frac{g^2}{16\pi^2}6\hat{\alpha}^2 & (G = SU(2)) \\ -\frac{g^2}{16\pi^2}\frac{24}{5}Y^2\hat{\alpha}^2 & (G = U(1)_Y) \end{cases}$$
(4.52)

Here we have used $C(N) = \frac{N^2 - 1}{2N}$ when G = SU(N), and $C(N) = 3Y^2/5$ when $G = U(1)_Y$.

• There is again logarithmic divergence.

5 compact SUSY model

So far we have seen the 4D Lagrangian, which was from a compactification of 5D SUSY gauge theory over S^1/Z_2 , as a model case of the Scherk-Schwarz mechanism, and calculated the 1-loop radiative corrections to the gaugino and sfermion masses in the previous section.

In this section, we finally discuss the compact SUSY model [43–45, 47–49], a realistic application of the Scherk-Schwarz mechanism.

5.1 The model setup



Figure 5: The schematic picture of the compact SUSY model.

As in the schematic Figure is Fig.5, we consider the 5D SUSY gauge theory compactified over S^1/Z_2 with the twisted boundary condition parametrized by α , and take the gauge group to be same as the standard model gauge group $SU(3)_C \times SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$. Therefore there are three gauge multiplets in the bulk, (V_C, χ_C) , (V_L, χ_L) and (V_Y, χ_Y) , which are adjoint representation of $SU(3)_C$, $SU(2)_L$ and $U(1)_Y$, respectively.

We next put the Hypermultiplets in the bulk as the matter fields, so that the all the zero modes is same as the matter content of the MSSM except for Higgs fields (we introduce them later). We write them as (Φ_X, Φ_X^C) , where $X = Q_L(U_L, D_L), \overline{U}_R, \overline{D}_R, L_L(N_L, E_L), \overline{E}_R$. The

notation for the component fields is

$$\Phi_X = \phi_X + \sqrt{2} \,\theta \psi_X + \theta^2 F_X, \tag{5.1}$$

$$\Phi_X^C = \phi_X^C + \sqrt{2} \,\theta \psi_X^C + \theta^2 F_X^C. \tag{5.2}$$

They are summarized in the Table 1.

chiral superfield	$SU(3)_C$	$SU(2)_L$	$U(1)_Y$	$SU(3)_F$
$\Phi_{Q_L} = \left(\begin{array}{c} \Phi_{U_L} \\ \Phi_{D_L} \end{array}\right)$	3	2	1/6	3
$\Phi_{\overline{U}_R}$	$\overline{3}$	1	1/3	$\overline{3}$
$\Phi_{\overline{D}_R}$	$\overline{3}$	1	-2/3	$\overline{3}$
$\Phi_{L_L} = \left(\begin{array}{c} \Phi_{N_L} \\ \Phi_{E_L} \end{array}\right)$	1	2	-1/2	3
$\Phi_{\overline{E}_R}$	1	1	+1	$\overline{3}$
$H_u = \left(\begin{array}{c} H_u^+ \\ H_u^0 \end{array}\right)$	1	2	1/2	1
$H_d = \left(\begin{array}{c} H_d^0 \\ H_d^- \end{array}\right)$	1	2	-1/2	1

Table 1: The table of the representation of chiral superfield. $SU(2)_L$ doublets' components are explicitly written on the right hand side in the chiral superfield row. Each Φ_X^C has opposite transformation against Φ_X .

Among the matter fields in MSSM, the rest is Higgs fields. We use the following conventional notation for them;

$$H_u = \begin{pmatrix} H_u^+ \\ H_u^0 \\ H_u^0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad H_d = \begin{pmatrix} H_d^0 \\ H_d^- \\ H_d^- \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.3)

where the right hand sides are the doublets of $SU(2)_L$. We assume that Higgs fields live on the brane, not in the bulk. This is just a choice for the following phenomenological reason. If we put the Higgs fields in the bulk, they too have soft mass terms, which is not desirable since we want to realize electro-weak breaking through the negative mass term coming from the radiative correction. Therefore we incorporate the Higgs fields on the brane in the compact SUSY model. The notation for the component fields of the Higgs superfield is

$$H_*^{\#} = h_*^{\#} + \sqrt{2} \,\theta \tilde{h}_*^{\#} + \theta^2 F_{h_*^{\#}}, \tag{5.4}$$

where * = u, d and # = +, 0, -.

The Lagrangian on the brane is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{brane}} = \delta(y) \int d^{4}\theta \left[H_{u}^{\dagger} e^{-2gV} H_{u} + H_{d}^{\dagger} e^{-2gV} H_{d} \right] + \delta(y) \left[\int d^{2}\theta W^{\text{brane}} + \text{h.c.} \right]$$
$$W^{\text{brane}} = Y_{u} \Phi_{\overline{U}_{R}} \Phi_{Q_{L}} H_{u} - Y_{d} \Phi_{\overline{D}_{R}} \Phi_{Q_{L}} H_{d} - Y_{e} \Phi_{\overline{E}_{R}} \Phi_{L_{L}} H_{d} + \mu H_{u} H_{d}.$$
(5.5)

Here Y_u , Y_d and Y_e are Yukawa couplings that are constant 3 by 3 matrices of the order of 1. μ is another dimension 1 supersymmetric parameter of the model, whose origin has to be discussed later. We assume μ has the same order as $\hat{\alpha}$ in the later loop calculation.

Soft parameters at tree-level

Combining all the zero-modes in the bulk and the Higgs fields on the brane, the compact SUSY model contains the MSSM matter contents. All the other fields are KK modes with n/R mass, and thus we assume KK scale is higher than TeV so that LHC cannot detect them. The SUSY is broken by the Scherk-Schwarz mechanism. Using the conventional notation of MSSM, the soft breaking parameters are

$$M_{1/2} = \frac{\alpha}{R}, \quad m_{\tilde{Q},\tilde{U},\tilde{D},\tilde{L},\tilde{E}}^2 = \left(\frac{\alpha}{R}\right)^2, \quad A_0 = -\frac{2\alpha}{R}, \quad m_{H_u,H_d}^2 = 0, \quad b = 0, \tag{5.6}$$

at tree-level. The sparticles except for the higgsino are completely degenerate, and this degeneracy is broken by the quantum corrections and thus the nearly degenerate spectrum is expected in the compact SUSY model. If that is the case, this model can be a solution to the tension between LHC result and low scale SUSY model, as we have explained in section 1. Further more this model has only four parameters,

$$\hat{\alpha} = \frac{\alpha}{R}, \quad \frac{1}{R}, \quad \hat{\Lambda} = \Lambda R, \quad \mu,$$
(5.7)

and we can show that this model still has the viable phenomenology.

First things first, it is not trivial that we can maintain the compressed spectrum after we take the correction by KK modes into account. At least, there must be a constraint to the parameters of the model for the successful phenomenology. Therefore we calculate the radiative corrections to the gaugino and squark masses.

5.2 The 1-loop radiative corrections to the soft parameters

In this subsection, we summarize the soft parameters at 1-loop level. To that end, we need the following results;

- corrections from the gauge interaction in the bulk in section 4
- corrections from Yukawa interactions on the brane which we calculate later
- the 1-loop analysis on the Higgs mass parameters in [47]

For the phenomenological analysis in the next subsection, we incorporate the 1-loop results into the MSSM parameter with DR-bar scheme and choose the renormalization scale to be $1/(2\pi R)$.

5.2.1 The mass correction from the gauge interaction in the bulk

We first summarize the correction to the gaugino and sfermion masses from the gauge interaction in the bulk, using the results derived in section 4.

The gaugino mass correction from the gauge coupling

As we have derived in Eq.(4.36), the gaugino mass correction with KK-regularization is evaluated as

$$\delta M_{\lambda}^{(\rm KK)} = \frac{g^2}{16\pi^2} \hat{\alpha} \left(4C(A) \ln[2\pi\hat{\Lambda}] + (2T(F) - 6C(A)) \ln[2\pi\alpha] + 5C(A) - 3T(F) \right), \quad (5.8)$$

whereas the correction of MSSM gaugino with DR-bar scheme is given by 2

$$\delta M_{\lambda}^{(\overline{\rm DR})} = \frac{g^2}{16\pi^2} \hat{\alpha} \Biggl(-C(A) \left[3\ln \hat{\alpha}^2/Q^2 - 5 \right] + T(F) \left[\ln \hat{\alpha}^2/Q^2 - 1 \right] \Biggr).$$
(5.9)

Therefore we find

$$\delta M_{\lambda} = \delta M_{\lambda}^{(\text{KK})} - \delta M_{\lambda}^{(\overline{\text{DR}})} (Q = 1/2\pi R)$$
$$= \frac{g^2}{16\pi^2} \hat{\alpha} \left(4C(A) \ln[2\pi\hat{\Lambda}] - 2T(F) \right).$$
(5.10)

²To evaluate 4D loop integral with DR-bar scheme, we use the formulae in Appendix A.9.

By substituting the group factor C(A) and T(F) in the MSSM setup, we obtain the mass corrections of the $U(1)_Y$, $SU(2)_L$ and $SU(3)_C$ gaugino

$$\delta M_1 = \frac{g^2}{16\pi^2} \hat{\alpha} \left(-10\right), \qquad (5.11)$$

$$\delta M_2 = \frac{g_2^2}{16\pi^2} \hat{\alpha} \left(8\ln[2\pi\hat{\Lambda}] - 12 \right), \tag{5.12}$$

$$\delta M_3 = \frac{g_3^2}{16\pi^2} \hat{\alpha} \left(12 \ln[2\pi\hat{\Lambda}] - 12 \right), \tag{5.13}$$

respectively. Note that Higgs fields are not taken into account here since we need to treat them differently.

The stop mass correction from the gauge coupling

Among the sfermion, the most interesting particle is stop from the view point naturalness, Higgs boson mass analysis, and electro-weak symmetry breaking. Therefore we first seek for the mass correction to the stop.

The correction from gauge interaction is

$$\delta_{\text{gauge}} M_{\phi}^{(\text{KK})2} = \frac{g^2}{16\pi^2} C(N) 8\hat{\alpha}^2 \left(\ln \hat{\Lambda} - \ln \alpha + \frac{1}{2} \right),$$

$$\delta_{\text{gauge}} M_{\phi}^{\overline{(\text{DR})}2} = -\frac{g^2}{16\pi^2} C(N) 8\hat{\alpha}^2 \left(\ln \hat{\alpha}/Q - 1 \right), \qquad (5.14)$$

in KK-regularization scheme and DR-bar scheme respectively. Therefore the correction as the MSSM soft parameter at scale $1/(2\pi R)$ is

$$\begin{split} \delta_{\text{gauge}} M_{\tilde{t}_L}^2 &= \delta_{\text{gauge}} M_{\tilde{t}_L}^{(\text{KK})2} - \delta_{\text{gauge}} M_{\tilde{t}_L}^{(\overline{\text{DR}})\,2} (Q = 1/2\pi R) \\ &= \frac{g^2}{16\pi^2} C(N) 8\hat{\alpha}^2 \left(\ln\hat{\Lambda} - \frac{1}{2}\right), \\ &= \frac{g'^2}{16\pi^2} \frac{8}{36} \hat{\alpha}^2 \left(\ln\hat{\Lambda} - \frac{1}{2}\right) + \frac{g_2^2}{16\pi^2} 6\hat{\alpha}^2 \left(\ln\hat{\Lambda} - \frac{1}{2}\right) + \frac{g_3^2}{16\pi^2} \frac{32}{3} \hat{\alpha}^2 \left(\ln\hat{\Lambda} - \frac{1}{2}\right). \end{split}$$
(5.15)

Similarly, the correction to the right-handed stop mass is

$$\delta M_{\tilde{t}_R}^2 = \frac{g^2}{16\pi^2} \frac{8}{9} \hat{\alpha}^2 \left(\ln \hat{\Lambda} - \frac{1}{2} \right) + \frac{g_3^2}{16\pi^2} \frac{32}{3} \hat{\alpha}^2 \left(\ln \hat{\Lambda} - \frac{1}{2} \right).$$
(5.16)

The slepton mass correction from the gauge coupling

We next write down the slepton mass correction from the gauge interaction. For the Lefthanded stau, the correction is

$$\delta_{\text{gauge}} M_{\tilde{\tau}_L}^2 = \frac{g^2}{16\pi^2} C(N) 8\hat{\alpha}^2 \left(\ln \hat{\Lambda} - \frac{1}{2} \right), \\ = \frac{g'^2}{16\pi^2} \frac{8}{4} \hat{\alpha}^2 \left(\ln \hat{\Lambda} - \frac{1}{2} \right) + \frac{g_2^2}{16\pi^2} 6\hat{\alpha}^2 \left(\ln \hat{\Lambda} - \frac{1}{2} \right),$$
(5.17)

and for the Right-handed,

$$\delta_{\text{gauge}} M_{\tilde{\tau}_R}^2 = \frac{g^2}{16\pi^2} C(N) 8\hat{\alpha}^2 \left(\ln \hat{\Lambda} - \frac{1}{2} \right), = \frac{g'^2}{16\pi^2} 8\hat{\alpha}^2 \left(\ln \hat{\Lambda} - \frac{1}{2} \right).$$
(5.18)

5.2.2 The radiative corrections from the interactions on the brane

We next derive the KK expanded 4D Yukawa interaction terms on the brane and calculate the radiative corrections from them. We assume

$$Y_u \simeq \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & y_t \end{pmatrix}, \quad Y_d \simeq \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & y_b \end{pmatrix}, \quad Y_e \simeq 0,$$
(5.19)

since we are interested mainly in the interaction of stop, and we know from the experiment that the Yukawa coupling of the third generation is larger enough than the first and second ones. We just don't care the Yukawa coupling of the lepton fields because it's irrelevant for stop fields. The superpotential of the brane becomes

$$W^{\text{brane}} \simeq y_t \Phi_{\bar{t}_R} \Phi_{Q_{3,L}} H_u - y_b \Phi_{\bar{b}_R} \Phi_{Q_{3,L}} H_d + \mu H_u H_d$$

= $y_t \Phi_{\bar{t}_R} \left(\Phi_{t_L} H_u^0 - \Phi_{b_L} H_u^+ \right) - y_b \Phi_{\bar{b}_R} \left(\Phi_{t_L} H_d^- - \Phi_{b_L} H_d^0 \right) + \mu \left(H_u^+ H_d^- - H_u^0 H_d^0 \right).$
(5.20)

In the second line, we have expressed the terms using the components of the $SU(2)_L$ doublets.

Even though we have seen the 4D interaction terms on the brane in subsection 3.4 (the result is summarized in Eq.(3.4.2)), we cannot simply use the result there because each field has multiple couplings and Higgs fields have μ -term now (The discussion for the tree-level soft term is the same). Therefore we first derive the full interaction on the brane in the current setup. The procedure for the KK-expansion and auxiliary-fields-removal is the same. After we get the 4D Lagrangian, the procedure of the 1-loop calculation with KK-regularization

scheme is pretty much the same as the gauge interaction case. We put the detailed calculation in Appendix D. The result is given by

$$\delta_{y_t} M_{\tilde{t}_L}^2 = \frac{|y_t|^2}{16\pi^2} \hat{\alpha}^2 \left(-12\ln[2\pi\hat{\Lambda}] + 6 \right).$$
(5.21)

The mass correction to the right-handed stop \tilde{t}_R is twice as large as that of left-handed stop.

The correction to the gaugino mass from the interaction with Higgs on the brane

There are also interactions on the brane between the Higgs, the Higgsino and the gaugino, which contributes to the gaugino mass correction. It is usual 4D 1-loop calculation and we evaluate it using KK-regularization scheme;

$$\Sigma(p) = 2g^2 T(F) \int \frac{d^4 k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{k}{[k^2 + \mu^2][(k-p)^2 + \mu^2]}$$

= $2g^2 T(F) \not p \int_0^1 dx \left\{ \ln \frac{\hat{\Lambda}^2}{D^2} - 1 \right\}$
= $2g^2 T(F) \not p \int_0^1 dx \left\{ -\ln D^2 \right\},$ (5.22)

where $D^2 = x(1-x)p^2 + \mu^2$, and the second line is evaluated with KK-regularization and the third is with DR-bar scheme. Therefore the mass correction is

$$\delta M_{\lambda} = -\frac{g^2}{8\pi^2} \hat{\alpha} T(F) \left\{ 2\ln\hat{\Lambda} - 1 \right\}, \qquad (5.23)$$

in a general expression. By substituting the group factor in the MSSM setup, we obtain the mass corrections of the $U(1)_Y$, $SU(2)_L$ and $SU(3)_C$ gaugino

$$\delta M_1 = -\frac{g^2}{8\pi^2} \hat{\alpha} \left\{ 2\ln\hat{\Lambda} - 1 \right\}, \quad \delta M_2 = -\frac{g_2^2}{8\pi^2} \hat{\alpha} \left\{ 2\ln\hat{\Lambda} - 1 \right\}, \quad \delta M_3 = 0, \tag{5.24}$$

respectively.

5.2.3 Summary

Combining the above results and the results regarding the Higgs sector in [47], the summary is given as follows;

$$\frac{\delta M_1}{\hat{\alpha}} = \frac{g^{\prime 2}}{8\pi^2} \left(-2\ln\hat{\Lambda} - 4\right),\tag{5.25}$$

$$\frac{\delta M_2}{\hat{\alpha}} = \frac{g_2^2}{8\pi^2} \left(2\ln[\hat{\Lambda}] + 4\ln[2\pi] - 5 \right), \tag{5.26}$$

$$\frac{\delta M_3}{\hat{\alpha}} = \frac{g_3^2}{8\pi^2} \left(6\ln[2\pi\hat{\Lambda}] - 6 \right), \qquad (5.27)$$

$$\frac{\delta m_{\tilde{t}_L}^2}{\hat{\alpha}^2} = \frac{g'^2}{16\pi^2} \frac{8}{36} \left(\ln \hat{\Lambda} - \frac{1}{2} \right) + \frac{g_2^2}{16\pi^2} 6 \left(\ln \hat{\Lambda} - \frac{1}{2} \right) + \frac{g_3^2}{16\pi^2} \frac{32}{3} \left(\ln \hat{\Lambda} - \frac{1}{2} \right) \\
+ \frac{|y_t|^2}{16\pi^2} \left(-12 \ln[2\pi \hat{\Lambda}] + 6 \right),$$
(5.28)

$$\frac{\delta m_{\tilde{t}_R}^2}{\hat{\alpha}^2} = \frac{g'^2}{16\pi^2} \frac{8}{9} \left(\ln \hat{\Lambda} - \frac{1}{2} \right) + \frac{g_3^2}{16\pi^2} \frac{32}{3} \left(\ln \hat{\Lambda} - \frac{1}{2} \right) + \frac{|y_t|^2}{16\pi^2} \left(-24 \ln[2\pi\hat{\Lambda}] + 12 \right), \quad (5.29)$$

$$\frac{\delta m_{H_u}^2}{\hat{\alpha}^2} = -\frac{33}{8\pi^2} y_t^2 + \frac{9(g_2^2 + g_1^2/5)}{16\pi^2},\tag{5.30}$$

$$\frac{\delta m_{H_d}^2}{\hat{\alpha}^2} = \frac{9(g_2^2 + g_1^2/5)}{16\pi^2},\tag{5.31}$$

$$\frac{\delta b}{\hat{\alpha}} = \frac{9}{8\pi^2} y_t^2 - \frac{3(g_2^2 + g_1^2/5)}{8\pi^2}.$$
(5.32)

5.3 Phenomenological analysis

In this subsection, we discuss the phenomenology of the compact SUSY model using the 1-loop result derived in the previous subsection.

5.3.1 MSSM mass spectrum

We first show some selected mass spectrum by using the program SOFTSUSY3 [61] to obtain the physical parameters. We need to set the three parameters 1/R, α/R and ΛR in the model to decide the physical parameters.

In Fig. 6, we first plot the masses of the lightest neutralino $\tilde{\chi}_0^1$, the lightest stop \tilde{t}_1 and the gluino \tilde{g} by choosing 1/R as the horizontal axis and setting $\alpha/R = 1.5$ TeV. We plot the three lines for each sparticles that corresponds to $\Lambda R = 1, 5, 20$ so that we can see the dependence of the phenomenology on the cutoff scale. Here are comments regarding Fig. 6;

- If $\Lambda R \leq 20$ and 1/R is around 100 TeV, the nearly degenerate spectrum is still realized.
- If the ΛR becomes larger than 20, the mass difference gets larger due to the difference in $\ln \Lambda$ term.
- In the region where $1/R \lesssim 10^6$ GeV the main component of the neutralino is higgsino, while in the other region, the main component is the bino. This is why the slope of the neutralino curve is changing.
- The mass of the higgsino and thus the mass of the neutralino depend on the electroweak breaking condition, which is a physics of a few hundred GeV scale. Therefore the compressed spectrum realized near $1/R \sim 10^6$ GeV region is not trivial.

In Fig. 7, we next plot the lines for the sparticles (the lightest stop \tilde{t}_1 , the gluino \tilde{g} and the neutralino $\tilde{\chi}_1^0$) to have 1.5 TeV mass, in 1/R versus α/R plane. We found that in some region where α/R is small, the lightest stop becomes the LSP. In that case, a stable stop hadron should be observed at LHC experiment and it's inconsistent with the current constraint [62].

In Fig. 8, we have plotted the full sparticle spectra by setting 1/R = 100 TeV and $\alpha/R = 1.5$ TeV. In the fist figure (a) we have set $\Lambda R = 20$, and the second figure (b) is when $\Lambda R = 1$, which corresponds to the case where $\ln \Lambda R$ terms are absent. From the figures we can confirm that the compressed spectrum is realized.



Figure 6: The mass dependence on 1/R for $\alpha/R = 1500$ GeV. The lines represent the lightest neutralino (red), the lightest stop (green) and the gluino (blue). The solid, long-dashed and short-dashed lines corresponds to $\Lambda R = 1$, 5 and 20, respectively.



Figure 7: Mass contour lines of 1.5 TeV: Mass contour lines of 1.5 TeV for the lightest neutralino (blue), the lightest stop (green) and the gluino (red). In solid (dashed) lines we represent the cases of with (without) correction of $\Lambda R = 20$. The purple region is where the lightest stop is the LSP.



(b) Without Λ corrections

Figure 8: Examples of mass spectra. We set $1/R = 10^6$ GeV and $\alpha/R = 1500$ GeV. We can confirm that the nearly degenerate spectrum is realized in both cases.

5.3.2 Collider signature

In the previous subsubsection, we have seen that the compressed spectrum seems to be realized at least in some parameter region ($\alpha/R \sim 1.5$ TeV, $1/R \sim 10^6$ GeV, $\Lambda R \leq 20$). Whether the compression is enough or not depends on the LHC experiment. We therefore discuss the LHC signatures of the compact SUSY model in this subsubsection. To that end, we make the decay table by using the program SDECAY [63]. For the Monte-Carlo simulation, we have used MG5aMC@NLO [64,65], Pythia6 [66] and Delphes3 [67,68] with FastJet [69,70]

In Fig. 9, we show the current constraint from multi-jets and missing energy by ATLAS [71] with $\Lambda R = 20$ (red region) and without the KK-correction (blue region) for comparison. The region below the line is excluded since there the sparticles are too light to avoid LHC constraint. We can see that the constraint is relatively loose around the $1/R \sim 10^6$ GeV region, thanks to the compressed spectrum we have confirmed in the previous subsubsection 5.3.1. The spectrum is more compressed in the case of no Λ correction than in the $\Lambda R = 20$ case. However in some region, the constraint is more strong in the without- Λ -correction case. This may be because the more compressed the spectrum is the more sparticles are produced by the collider, and therefore the more compression doesn't necessarily mean the looser constraint.



Figure 9: Collider constrains on the $1/R - \alpha/R$ plane.

6 Conclusion and outlook

In this thesis, we have first investigated the Scherk-Schwarz mechanism in detail, in the simplest S^1/Z_2 extra-dimension case. We have written down the 4D effective Lagrangian of the bulk and from the fields on the brane. After that we have calculated the radiative corrections to the gaugino and sfermion masses. We have next presented the compact SUSY model setup as a realistic application of the Scherk-Schwarz mechanism and calculated the 1-loop radiative corrections to the gaugino and the sfermions masses from the gauge and Yukawa interactions. We have found that the compact SUSY model still has the compressed spectrum at 1-loop level, which is the essence for the model to be an solution to the tension between the hierarchy problem and LHC result without anthropic principle nor R-parity violation. In the corrections to the gaugino and sfermion masses, we have seen the cancellation of the divergences, which can be expected since the SUSY breaking is caused by the Scherk-Schwarz mechanism that is a global phenomenon while the UV divergence is the local effect. We have also seen the logarithmic divergences both from gauge interactions and Yukawa interactions.

There are more phenomenological issues worth discussing like the dark matter, gravitino and the 1-loop correction to the A-term, but we leave them to the future work since the discovery of the SUSY signal has the highest priority. It might be rather worthwhile to improve the way of the search for the missing transverse energy signal at the Collider analysis.

Even if we have the fully analyze the compact SUSY model, and if the all results agrees with the experiment, it cannot be the full understanding of the physics since the compact SUSY model that is based on the 5D gauge theory is not UV complete. To begin with, the quantum gravity is not well described in the quantum field theory. Therefore we eventually need to start searching for more fundamental model, and the superstring theory is one of the primary candidate for the final answer. Actually, there has been several works on the realization of the Scherk-Schwarz mechanism in the framework of the superstring theory (for general discussion, see [72, 73] and for phenomenological discussion see [55, 56, 74, 75]). It might be interesting to discuss how to embed the compact SUSY model onto the superstring theory to find the more phenomenological implication, for example, we might have a reasoning that only Higgs fields live on the brane, the origin of the μ term and so on.

Furthermore, the cosmological history including the inflation has to be discussed if one takes the model seriously. If the inflation scale and the reheating temperature is small enough the discussion is same as the usual one. However once the scale goes above the KK scale, the usual 4D discussion cannot be applied and the higher dimensional cosmology is needed. This is an universal issue for any models with extra dimensions.

A Notation and formulae

Here we show the notations that are needed in this thesis to follow all the details of the calculation.

A.1 The metric

First things first, our metric is mostly plus

$$g_{MN} = \text{diag}(-, +, +, +, +),$$
 (A.1)

this choice affects the signs in the Lagrangian and the Feynman diagram.

A.2 2-spinors

The Pauli matrices

$$\sigma_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ +i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (A.2)$$

and its indices notation;

$$\sigma^{\mu} = (-1, \sigma_i), \quad \sigma_{\mu} = (1, \sigma_i), \quad \bar{\sigma}^{\mu} = (-1, -\sigma_i), \quad \bar{\sigma}_{\mu} = (1, -\sigma_i).$$
 (A.3)

In other literatures, although the metric is the same, the sign of σ^0 is opposite and thus the kinetic term of fermion looks different.

With

$$\sigma^{\mu\nu} = \frac{i}{2}\sigma^{[\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu]}, \quad \bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{i}{2}\bar{\sigma}^{[\mu}\sigma^{\nu]}, \tag{A.4}$$

the 2 spinors are defined

Left-Handed:
$$\xi_{\alpha} \to \exp\left[\frac{i}{2}\theta_{\mu\nu}\sigma^{\mu\nu}\right]_{\alpha}^{\beta}\xi_{\beta}$$
 (A.5)

Right-Handed:
$$\chi^{\dot{\alpha}} \to \exp\left[\frac{i}{2}\theta_{\mu\nu}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}\right]^{\alpha}_{\ \dot{\beta}}\chi^{\dot{\beta}}.$$
 (A.6)

 $\bar{\chi}_{\alpha}$ and $\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\alpha}}$ are Left and Right-Handed spinors.

We use the following antisymmetric tensor to raise and down the spinor indices

$$\epsilon^{\alpha\beta} = \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} = \epsilon^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} = \epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} = i\sigma_2. \tag{A.7}$$

In order not to get the wrong sign when contracting the spinor indices, we stick to "the left-top and right-down rule".

Several useful formulae regarding the spinors are listed below;

$$\xi_{1}\xi_{2} = \xi_{1}^{\alpha}\xi_{2\alpha} = \epsilon^{\alpha\beta}\xi_{1\beta}\xi_{2\alpha} = \xi_{2}\xi_{1},$$

$$\chi_{1}\chi_{2} = \chi_{1}^{\dot{\alpha}}\chi_{2\dot{\alpha}} = \chi_{1}^{\dot{\alpha}}\chi_{2}^{\dot{\beta}}\epsilon_{\dot{\beta}\dot{\alpha}} = \chi_{2}\chi_{1},$$

$$\bar{\xi}_{1}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\xi_{2} = \xi_{2}\sigma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\bar{\xi}_{1} + \partial^{\mu}(\cdots)$$
(A.8)

A.3 Gamma matrices and fermion representation

We consider general D dimensional spacetime. Gamma matrices is a set of D matrices which satisfies the Clifford algebra;

$$\{\gamma^{\mu}, \gamma^{\nu}\} = -2g^{\mu\nu}.\tag{A.9}$$

 $2m \times 2m$ matrices are the irreducible representation when D = 2m or D = 2m + 1. We consider only hermitian representations;

$$\gamma^{\mu\dagger} = \gamma^0 \gamma^\mu \gamma^0. \tag{A.10}$$

We can difine Dirac fermion Ψ which has the following Lorentz transformation property;

$$\delta \Psi = i\theta_{\mu\nu} \frac{i}{4} \gamma^{[\mu} \gamma^{\nu]} \Psi. \tag{A.11}$$

This is a 2m dimensional representation of the Lorentz group (we can ckeck the generator $\frac{i}{4}\gamma^{[\mu}\gamma^{\nu]}$ satisfies the commutation relation of the Lorentz group).

When we calculate, we take the chiral representation in 4D

$$\gamma^{\mu} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma^{\mu} \\ \bar{\sigma}^{\mu} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \gamma^{5} = i\gamma^{0}\gamma^{1}\gamma^{2}\gamma^{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(A.12)

 γ^5 satisfies $\{\gamma^\mu,\gamma^5\}=0$ and $(\gamma^5)^2=1.$

Trace techniques

Here are the useful formula used in the calculation of Feynman diagrams in this thesis;

$$\begin{split} \gamma^{\mu}\gamma_{\mu} &= -4, \quad \gamma^{\mu} \not a \gamma_{\mu} = 2 \not a, \quad \gamma^{\mu} \not a \not b \gamma_{\mu} = 4ab, \\ \operatorname{Tr}[\operatorname{odd} \# \operatorname{of} \gamma^{\mu}] &= 0, \quad \operatorname{Tr}[\gamma^{\mu}\gamma^{\nu}] = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr}[\{\gamma^{\mu}, \gamma^{\nu}\}] = -4g^{\mu\nu}, \\ \operatorname{Tr}[\gamma^{\mu}\gamma^{\nu}\gamma^{\rho}\gamma^{\sigma}] &= 4(g^{\mu\nu}g^{\rho\sigma} - g^{\mu\rho}g^{\nu\sigma} + g^{\mu\sigma}g^{\nu\rho}), \\ \operatorname{Tr}[\gamma^{5} \operatorname{odd} \# \operatorname{of} \gamma^{\mu}] &= 0, \quad \operatorname{Tr}[\gamma^{5}\gamma^{\mu}\gamma^{\nu}] = 0. \end{split}$$
(A.13)

Gamma matrices notation in 5D

In 5D, we use $\Gamma^{M=\mu,5}$ to clarify the difference;

$$\Gamma^{\mu} = \gamma^{\mu}, \quad \Gamma^5 = \gamma^4 = -i\gamma^5. \tag{A.14}$$

 γ^4 can be either $\pm i\gamma^5$, and we take – as a choice.

A.4 Complex conjugate of Dirac field

It is known there exist some $2m \times 2m$ matrix C such that

$$\left(C\Gamma^{(r)}\right)^{T} = -t_{r}C\Gamma^{(r)}, \quad t_{r} = \pm 1.$$
(A.15)

where $\Gamma^{(r)}$ is any rank r clifford matrix $(\Gamma^{(r)} \sim \gamma^{\mu_1} \cdots \gamma^{\mu_r})$. Especially

$$C^{T} = -t_{0}C, \quad [C\gamma^{\mu}]^{T} = -t_{1}C\gamma^{\mu}, \quad (\gamma^{\mu T} = t_{0}t_{1}C\gamma^{\mu}C^{-1}).$$
 (A.16)

Since we can show

$$t_2 = -t_0, \quad t_3 = -t_1, \quad t_{r+4} = t_r,$$
 (A.17)

the sign of t_0 and t_1 determines the symmetric property.

To define complex conjugate, we first define

$$B = it_0 C\gamma^0, \tag{A.18}$$

and note that this satisfies

$$(\gamma^{\mu})^* = -t_0 t_1 B \gamma^{\mu} B^{-1}, \quad B^* B = -t_1.$$
 (A.19)

Then we can see

$$\Psi^C = B^{-1} \Psi^* \tag{A.20}$$

has the same Lorentz transformation property as the Dirac field since

$$\delta\Psi^* = -\frac{1}{4}\theta_{\mu\nu}\gamma^{*[\mu}\gamma^{*\nu]}\Psi^* = -\frac{1}{4}\theta_{\mu\nu}B\gamma^{[\mu}\gamma^{\nu]}B^{-1}\Psi^*.$$
 (A.21)

 Ψ^C is the complex conjugate for the Dirac field.

In 4D, we have two choices for C;

$$\begin{cases} C_{+} = i\gamma^{3}\gamma^{4} = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{2} & 0\\ 0 & \sigma_{2} \end{pmatrix}, & (t_{0} = +1, t_{1} = +1) \\ C_{-} = i\gamma^{2}\gamma^{0} = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{2} & 0\\ 0 & -\sigma_{2} \end{pmatrix}, & (t_{0} = +1, t_{1} = -1) \end{cases}$$
(A.22)

here the explicit forms are in the chiral representation. For each choices, the complex conjugates of a Dirac Field

$$\Psi = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_{1\alpha} \\ \bar{\psi}_2^{\dot{\alpha}} \end{pmatrix} \tag{A.23}$$

are

$$\Psi^{C_{+}} = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_{2\alpha} \\ -\bar{\psi}_{1}^{\dot{\alpha}} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Psi^{C_{-}} = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_{2\alpha} \\ \bar{\psi}_{1}^{\dot{\alpha}} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(A.24)

Note that C_+/C_- can/cannot be extended to 5D since

$$[C_{+}\gamma^{4}]^{T} = -C_{+}\gamma^{4}, \quad [C_{-}\gamma^{4}]^{T} \neq +C_{-}\gamma^{4}.$$
 (A.25)

A.5 Majorana field

Majorana field can be defined from a Dirac field Ψ with a constraint

$$\Psi = \Psi^C. \tag{A.26}$$

Note that this condition is consistent only when

$$B^*B = -t_1 = 1 \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad t_1 = -1, \tag{A.27}$$

since

$$\Psi = \Psi^C = (\Psi^C)^C = B^{-1} (B^{-1} \Psi^*)^* = B^{-1} (B^{-1})^* \Psi.$$
 (A.28)

In 4D, we have to take C_{-} to define Majorana field, and in the case of the chiral representation,

$$\begin{pmatrix} \psi_1\\ \bar{\psi}_2 \end{pmatrix} = \Psi = \Psi^C = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_2\\ \bar{\psi}_1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (A.29)$$

so we can make a Majorana field out of a Left-Handed weyl spinor ψ_1 ;

$$\Psi = \left(\begin{array}{c} \psi_1\\ \bar{\psi}_1 \end{array}\right). \tag{A.30}$$

Note that since there is no $t_1 = -1$ matrix C in 5D, we cannot define Majorana field.

A.6 Symplectic Majorana field

When $t_1 = +1$, like in 5D, we cannot define Majorana fields but we can define symplectic Majorana fields as follows. When we have even number (say, 2k) of Dirac fields $\Psi_{i=1\sim 2k}$, and these satisfy the condition;

$$\Psi_i^C = \epsilon_{ij} \Psi_j, \tag{A.31}$$

where ϵ_{ij} is a non-singlar antisymmetric matrix, we call Ψ_i symplectic Majorana fields.

In 5D case, suppose we have two Dirac fields

$$\Upsilon_1 = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 \\ \bar{\lambda}_2 \end{pmatrix}, \Upsilon_2 = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_3 \\ \bar{\lambda}_4 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(A.32)

If we set a following condition, these fields are symplectic Majorana fields;

$$\begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 \\ \bar{\lambda}_2 \end{pmatrix} = \Upsilon_1 = \Upsilon_2^C = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_4 \\ -\bar{\lambda}_3 \end{pmatrix} \\ \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_3 \\ \bar{\lambda}_4 \end{pmatrix} = \Upsilon_2 = -\Upsilon_1^C = -\begin{pmatrix} \lambda_2 \\ -\bar{\lambda}_1 \end{pmatrix} \qquad \Longleftrightarrow \qquad \begin{cases} \lambda_3 = -\lambda_2 \\ \lambda_4 = \lambda_1 \end{cases}$$
(A.33)

In other words, we can form a set of symplectic Majorana fields out of two Left-Handed weyl spinor λ_1, λ_2 ;

$$\Upsilon_1 = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 \\ \bar{\lambda}_2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Upsilon_2 = \begin{pmatrix} -\lambda_2 \\ \bar{\lambda}_1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(A.34)

A.7 Lie Group and its generator and structure constants

This subsection is the summary for features that comes from group theory. A representation of a group G is written by T_R^a $(a = 1, 2, \dots, D(A))$, and they satisfy the commutation relation

$$[T_R^a, T_R^b] = i f^{abc} T_R^c, \tag{A.35}$$

where f^{abc} is a structure constant. We define T(R), trace of a representation R, as

$$\operatorname{Tr}(T_R^a T_R^b) = T(R)\delta^{ab}.$$
(A.36)

We have written T(R) = k in the Lagrangian section. The quadratic Casimir C(R) is defined as

$$\sum_{a,j} T^a_{R\ ij} T^a_{R\ jk} = C(R)\delta_{ik} \tag{A.37}$$

By taking the sum of Eq.(A.37) with respect to i = k, we obtain the relation T(R)D(A) =C(R)D(R), where D(R) is dimension of the representation R.

For fundamental representation of G = SU(N), we write $T_R^a = T^a$ and take T(R) = T(N) = 1/2, and we can show $C(N) = T(N)D(A)/D(N) = \frac{N^2-1}{2N}$. For Adjoint representation, $T_R^a_{ij} = T_A^a_{ij} = -if^{aij}$, C(A) = T(A) = N, i.e.

$$Tr(T_{A}^{a}T_{A}^{b}) = \sum_{b,c} f^{abc} f^{dbc} = T(A)\delta^{ad} = C(A)\delta^{ad} = N\delta^{ad}.$$
 (A.38)

A.8 Feynman rules

The Feynman rules depends on the choice of the metric, gamma matrices (4-sigma matrices) and the overall factor for propagator, vertex and loop integral. In order for the reader not to get confused, we summarize the Feynman rules that are used in this paper.

• Internal propagators

(Boson) =
$$\frac{1}{k^2 + m^2}$$
, (A.39)

(Fermion) =
$$\frac{\not k - m}{k^2 + m^2} = [-\not k - m]^{-1}$$
, (for $\mathcal{L} = -\overline{\Psi}(i\partial \!\!/ - m)\Psi$) (A.40)

(Gauge boson) =
$$\frac{g_{\mu\nu}}{k^2 + m^2}$$
, (Feynman gauge). (A.41)

- Vertex is written as it is. No factor such as $\times i$.
- Loop momentum integral

$$\int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \tag{A.42}$$

In some of the other literatures, the internal propagator(P), the vertex(V) and the loop integral(L) have factors $\times(-i)$, $\times i$ and $\times i$ respectively, which means we have different factor i^{-P+V+L} for the scattering amplitude. However, thanks to the relation P-V+1=L for any diagram, the difference is always *i* and thus this difference doesn't affect the relative factors. Threfore the physical quantities, that must be defined by the absolute value of the scattering amplitude, are the same in both notation.

Under the notation above, two point Green function for a boson is given by

$$iG_b(P) = \frac{1}{p^2 + m^2} + \frac{1}{p^2 + m^2} \Pi(p) \frac{1}{p^2 + m^2} + \cdots$$
$$= \left[p^2 + m^2 - \Pi(p) \right]^{-1} = \Gamma(p)^{-1},$$
(A.43)

where $\Gamma(p)$ is the 1PI 2-point vertex function. Two point Green function for a fermion is given by

$$iG_f(P) = \frac{1}{-\not p - m} + \frac{1}{-\not p - m} \Sigma(p) \frac{1}{-\not p - m} + \cdots$$
$$= \left[-\not p - m - \Sigma(p)\right]^{-1} = \Gamma(p)^{-1},$$
(A.44)

where $\Gamma(p)$ is the 1PI 2-point vertex function.

A.9 The 4D momentum integration formulae

After the Feynman parameter integral

$$\frac{1}{ab} = \int_0^1 dx \, \frac{1}{[ax+b(1-x)]^2},\tag{A.45}$$

all we need to calculate the loop integrals in this thesis is following formulae;

$$\int \frac{d^n k}{i(2\pi)^n} \frac{1}{[k^2 + D^2]} = -\frac{D^2}{16\pi^2} \left\{ \overline{\epsilon}^{-1} + 1 - \ln D^2 \right\} = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \left\{ \Lambda^2 - D^2 \ln \Lambda^2 / D^2 \right\}, \quad (A.46)$$

$$\int \frac{d^n k}{i(2\pi)^n} \frac{1}{[k^2 + D^2]^2} = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \left\{ \overline{\epsilon}^{-1} - \ln D^2 \right\} = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \left\{ \ln \Lambda^2 / D^2 - 1 \right\},\tag{A.47}$$

$$\int \frac{d^n k}{i(2\pi)^n} \frac{k^2}{[k^2 + D^2]^2} = -\frac{2D^2}{16\pi^2} \left\{ \bar{\epsilon}^{-1} + 1 - \ln D^2 \right\} = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \left\{ \Lambda^2 - 2D^2 \ln \Lambda^2 / D^2 \right\}.$$
 (A.48)

where $n = 4 - 2\epsilon$, $\bar{\epsilon}^{-1} = \epsilon^{-1} - \gamma + \ln[4\pi]$. Here the first equations are regularized by $\overline{\text{DR}}$ scheme, while the second equations are regularized by naive cutoff which corresponds to KK-regularization scheme.
B The evaluation of the loop integrals by the KK regularization scheme

Our goal in this section is to evaluate the following 4-momenta integrals of infinite sum;

$$\mathcal{I}_{1}(a,c) = \int \frac{d^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{[(n+a)^{2}+k^{2}+c^{2}]^{2}}$$

$$= \int \frac{d^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{[n+a+iq]^{2}[n+a-iq]^{2}}$$
(B.1)
$$\mathcal{I}_{2}(a,c) = \int \frac{d^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{n}{[(n+a)^{2}+k^{2}+c^{2}]^{2}}$$

$$= \int \frac{d^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{n}{[n+a+iq]^{2}[n+a-iq]^{2}},$$
(B.2)

$$\mathcal{I}_{3}(a,c) = \int \frac{d^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{k^{2} + c^{2}}{[(n+a)^{2} + k^{2} + c^{2}]^{2}}$$
$$= \int \frac{d^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{q^{2}}{[n+a+iq]^{2}[n+a-iq]^{2}},$$
(B.3)

with momentum cutoff Λ . Here q^2 is defined as $k^2 + c^2$. We assume $0 < a, c \ll 1$ and seek for the results up to $\mathcal{O}(a^2, c^2)$. We don't care the mass dimension in this section. In the actual calculation, $a = x\alpha$, $c^2 = x(1-x)(\alpha^2 + \hat{p}^2)$, where x is a Feynman parameter which are to be integrated over [0, 1]. Note that in this appendix, we assume all the variables are normalized to be dimensionless from the beginning.

B.1 Infinite sum

Since $\operatorname{coth}[i\pi z]/2$ has poles at $z \in \mathbb{Z}$ with its residues $1/(2\pi i)$, we can rewrite the infinite sum by $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ into the complex integral as follows;

$$\sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} f(n) = -\oint_{C_1+C_3+C_2+C_4} dz \quad f(z) \frac{\coth[i\pi z]}{2} = -\oint_{C_1+C_5+C_2+C_6} dz \quad f(z) \frac{\coth[i\pi z]}{2} = -2\pi i \operatorname{Res}\left[f(z) \frac{\coth[i\pi z]}{2}\right], \quad (B.4)$$

where the contours $C_1 \sim C_6$ are given in Fig.10 and the Res in the last form means the residues in upper and lower regions (inside $C_1 + C_5$ and $C_2 + C_6$ respectively). Here we have



Figure 10: Contours and the poles.

assumed that f(z) doesn't have poles along the real axis in the first line and that $z|f(z)| \to 0$ as $z \to \infty$ when exchanging the contour in the second line.

Then we can show following equations by carefully picking up the residues;

$$\sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{[n+a+iq]^2[n+a-iq]^2} = \frac{\pi}{2q^3} \left[\coth_+(\pi q,\pi a) - \pi q \coth'_+(\pi q,\pi a) \right]$$
(B.5)
$$\sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{n}{[n+a+iq]^2[n+a-iq]^2}$$

$$\sum_{n=-\infty}^{2} [n+a+iq]^{2}[n+a-iq]^{2}$$

= $\frac{\pi}{2q^{3}} \left[-a \coth_{+}(\pi q,\pi a) + \pi aq \coth'_{+}(\pi q,\pi a) - i\pi q^{2} \coth'_{-}(\pi q,\pi a) \right].$ (B.6)

Here we have defined

$$\operatorname{coth}_{+}(x,y) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\operatorname{coth}[x+iy] + \operatorname{coth}[x-iy] \right)$$
$$= 1 + \frac{1}{e^{2(x+iy)} - 1} + \frac{1}{e^{2(x-iy)} - 1} = \frac{\sinh[2x]}{\cosh[2x] - \cos[2y]}, \tag{B.7}$$

$$\operatorname{coth}_{-}(x,y) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\operatorname{coth}[x+iy] - \operatorname{coth}[x-iy] \right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{e^{2(x+iy)} - 1} - \frac{1}{e^{2(x-iy)} - 1} = -i \frac{\sin[2y]}{\cosh[2x] - \cos[2y]}, \tag{B.8}$$

$$\operatorname{coth}_{+}^{\prime}(x,y) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\operatorname{coth}^{\prime}[x+iy] + \operatorname{coth}^{\prime}[x-iy] \right)$$
$$= \frac{-2}{(e^{2(x+iy)}-1)^{2}} + \frac{-2}{(e^{2(x-iy)}-1)^{2}} + \frac{-2}{e^{2(x+iy)}-1} + \frac{-2}{e^{2(x-iy)}-1}$$
$$= 4 \frac{\operatorname{cosh}^{2}[x] \sin^{2}[y] - \sinh^{2}[x] \cos^{2}[y]}{(\operatorname{cosh}[2x] - \cos[2y])^{2}}, \tag{B.9}$$

$$\operatorname{coth}_{-}^{\prime}(x,y) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\operatorname{coth}^{\prime}[x+iy] - \operatorname{coth}^{\prime}[x-iy] \right)$$
$$= \frac{-2}{(e^{2(x+iy)} - 1)^{2}} + \frac{2}{(e^{2(x-iy)} - 1)^{2}} + \frac{-2}{e^{2(x+iy)} - 1} + \frac{2}{e^{2(x-iy)} - 1}$$
$$= 2i \frac{\sinh[2y]\sin[2y]}{(\cosh[2x] - \cos[2y])^{2}}.$$
(B.10)

To obtain the exponential forms, we have used

$$\operatorname{coth}[z] = 1 - \frac{2}{e^{2z} - 1}, \quad \operatorname{coth}'[z] = -\frac{4e^{2z}}{(e^{2z} - 1)^2} = \frac{-4}{(e^{2z} - 1)^2} + \frac{-4}{e^{2z} - 1}, \quad (B.11)$$

and we transformed them into hyperbolic functions in the next line. Note that $\operatorname{coth}_+(x, y)$, $\operatorname{coth}'_+(x, y)$ are real and $\operatorname{coth}_-(x, y)$, $\operatorname{coth}'_-(x, y)$ are pure imaginary, and thus we can make sure that all the four infinite sum are real. Note also that $\operatorname{coth}_-(x, y)$, $\operatorname{coth}'_+(x, y)$ and $\operatorname{coth}'_-(x, y)$ exponentially converge to zero as $x \to 0$, while $\operatorname{coth}_+(x, y)$ converges to 1. This means only $\operatorname{coth}_+(k, *)$ containing terms can diverge when integrating with respect to momentum k.

By substituting the above equations into the original equations, and using

$$\int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \int_0^{\Lambda^2} dk^2 k^2 = \frac{1}{8\pi^2} \int_0^{\Lambda} dk \, k^3$$
$$= \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \int_{c^2}^{\Lambda^2 + c^2} dq^2 (q^2 - c^2) = \frac{1}{8\pi^2} \int_c^{\tilde{\Lambda}} dq \, (q^3 - c^2q), \quad (B.12)$$

where $\tilde{\Lambda} = \sqrt{\Lambda^2 + c^2} \simeq \Lambda$, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{1}(a,c) &= \int \frac{d^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{[n+a+iq]^{2}[n+a-iq]^{2}} \\ &= \frac{1}{8\pi^{2}} \int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \; (q^{3}-c^{2}q) \frac{\pi}{2q^{3}} \left[\coth_{+}(\pi q,\pi a) - \pi q \coth'_{+}(\pi q,\pi a) \right] \\ &= \frac{1}{16\pi} \int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \; (1-c^{2}q^{-2}) \left[\coth_{+}(\pi q,\pi a) - \pi q \coth'_{+}(\pi q,\pi a) \right] \\ &= \frac{1}{16\pi} \left\{ I_{+}(0) - c^{2}I_{+}(-2) - \pi I'_{+}(1) + \pi c^{2}I'_{+}(-1) \right\}, \end{aligned}$$
(B.13)
$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{3}(a,c) &= \int \frac{d^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{q^{2}}{[n+a+iq]^{2}[n+a-iq]^{2}} \end{aligned}$$

$$= \frac{1}{16\pi} \left\{ I_{+}(2) - c^{2}I_{+}(0) - \pi I'_{+}(3) + \pi c^{2}I'_{+}(1) \right\},$$
(B.14)

and

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{2}(a,c) &= \int \frac{d^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{n}{[n+a+iq]^{2}[n+a-iq]^{2}} \\ &= \frac{1}{8\pi^{2}} \int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \; (q^{3}-c^{2}q) \frac{\pi}{2q^{3}} \left[-a \coth_{+}(\pi q,\pi a) + \pi aq \coth'_{+}(\pi q,\pi a) - i\pi q^{2} \coth'_{-}(\pi q,\pi a) \right] \\ &= \frac{1}{16\pi} \int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \; (1-c^{2}q^{-2}) \left[-a \coth_{+}(\pi q,\pi a) + \pi aq \coth'_{+}(\pi q,\pi a) - i\pi q^{2} \coth'_{-}(\pi q,\pi a) \right] \\ &= \frac{1}{16\pi} \left\{ -aI_{+}(0) + ac^{2}I_{+}(-2) + \pi aI'_{+}(1) - \pi ac^{2}I'_{+}(-1) - i\pi I'_{-}(2) + i\pi c^{2}I'_{-}(0) \right\}. \end{aligned}$$
(B.15)

In the last equation, we have defined following q integral;

$$I_{+}(n) = \int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \, q^{n} \coth_{+}(\pi q, \pi a), \tag{B.16}$$

$$I'_{+}(n) = \int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \, q^{n} \coth'_{+}(\pi q, \pi a), \tag{B.17}$$

$$I'_{-}(n) = \int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \, q^{n} \coth'_{-}(\pi q, \pi a).$$
(B.18)

Thus the rest of the work is the evaluation of these three integrals.

B.2 Polylogarithm

To evaluate the integrals, it is useful to use Polylogarithm. The definition is

$$\operatorname{Li}_{s}(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{z^{n}}{n^{s}}.$$
(B.19)

When s = 1, this is nothing but a Taylor expansion of $\ln(1 - z)$. Thus we can say $\text{Li}_s(z)$ is generalized logarithmic function.

When $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 0$, the integral representations are known as follows

$$\text{Li}_{s}(z) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \, \frac{t^{s-1}}{e^{t}/z - 1}.$$
(B.20)

Especially, when $n \ge 0$,

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} dx \, \frac{x^{n}}{e^{2\pi(x\pm iy)} - 1} = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{n+1}} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \, \frac{t^{n}}{e^{t}/e^{\mp 2\pi iy} - 1} = \frac{n!}{(2\pi)^{n+1}} \operatorname{Li}_{n+1}(e^{\mp 2\pi iy}), \quad (B.21)$$

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} dx \, \frac{x^{n}}{(e^{2\pi(x\pm iy)} - 1)^{2}} = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{n+1}} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \, \frac{t^{n}}{(e^{t}/e^{\mp 2\pi iy} - 1)^{2}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{n+1}} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \, \left[t^{n} \frac{d}{dt} \left(\frac{-1}{e^{t}/e^{\mp 2\pi iy} - 1} \right) - \frac{t^{n}}{e^{t}/e^{\mp 2\pi iy} - 1} \right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{n+1}} \left[\frac{-t^{n}}{e^{t}/e^{\mp 2\pi iy} - 1} \right]_{0}^{\infty} + \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{n+1}} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \, \left[\frac{nt^{n-1} - t^{n}}{e^{t}/e^{\mp 2\pi iy} - 1} \right]$$

$$= \frac{n!}{(2\pi)^{n+1}} \left(\operatorname{Li}_{n}(e^{\mp 2\pi iy}) - \operatorname{Li}_{n+1}(e^{\mp 2\pi iy}) \right). \quad (B.22)$$

Here, when n = 0, we have used

$$\operatorname{Li}_{0}(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} z^{n} = \frac{z}{1-z} = \frac{1}{z^{-1}-1}.$$
(B.23)

Following Taylor expansion forms are used when Polylogarithms are evaluated in the result subsection.

$$\operatorname{Li}_{1}(e^{-2\pi i a}) + \operatorname{Li}_{1}(e^{+2\pi i a}) = -2\ln[2\pi a] + \mathcal{O}(a^{2}), \tag{B.24}$$

$$\operatorname{Li}_{2}(e^{-2\pi i a}) - \operatorname{Li}_{2}(e^{+2\pi i a}) = 4\pi i (\ln[2\pi a] - 1)a + \mathcal{O}(a^{3}).$$
(B.25)

B.3 Integral formulae

Our goal now is to evaluate $I_{\pm}(n)$ and $I'_{\pm}(n)$. Since c and a are assumed to be small, we seek for results only up to $\mathcal{O}(c^2, a^2)$. We also assume that Λ is large. When $n \ge 0$, we can use the integral representations of Polylogarithm as follows;

$$I_{+}(n) = \int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \, q^{n} \coth_{+}(\pi q, \pi a)$$

$$= \int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \, q^{n} + \int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \, \frac{q^{n}}{e^{2\pi(q+ia)} - 1} + \int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \, \frac{q^{n}}{e^{2\pi(q-ia)} - 1}$$

$$\simeq \int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \, q^{n} + \int_{0}^{\Lambda} dq \, \frac{q^{n}}{e^{2\pi(q+ia)} - 1} + \int_{0}^{\Lambda} dq \, \frac{q^{n}}{e^{2\pi(q-ia)} - 1}$$

$$- \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{c} dq \, \frac{q^{n}}{q + ia} - \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{c} dq \, \frac{q^{n}}{q - ia}$$

$$\simeq \frac{\Lambda^{n+1} - c^{n+1}}{n+1} + \frac{n!}{(2\pi)^{n+1}} \left[\operatorname{Li}_{n+1}(e^{-2\pi ia}) + \operatorname{Li}_{n+1}(e^{+2\pi ia}) \right] + J_{+}(n). \quad (B.26)$$

In the third line, we have divided the interval of the integration $[c, \Lambda]$ into $[0, \Lambda]$ and [0, c], and expand the integrand in [0, c] with respect to q and a since c is small. In the fourth line, we have used the integral representations of Polylogarithms since Λ is large and the integrands converges to zero as $q \to \infty$. We consult the Taylor expansion form of Polylogarithms when we apply these equations with fixed n = 1, 2, 3. The last term in the last line is defined as

$$J_{+}(n) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{c} dq \, \left[\frac{q^{n}}{q+ia} + \frac{q^{n}}{q-ia} \right].$$
(B.27)

This term matters only when n is small since $J_+(n) = \mathcal{O}([a|c]^n)$, so the following equations are sufficient;

$$J_{+}(0) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \ln[1 + \frac{c^2}{a^2}], \quad J_{+}(1) = -\frac{c}{\pi} + \frac{a}{\pi} \tan^{-1}[c/a].$$
(B.28)

Similarly, we can evaluate $I'_{+}(n)$ and $I'_{-}(n)$ as follows.

$$I'_{\pm}(n) = \int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \, q^{n} \coth_{\pm}(\pi q, \pi a)$$

= $-2 \left[\int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \, \frac{q^{n}}{(e^{2\pi(q+ia)} - 1)^{2}} \pm \int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \, \frac{q^{n}}{(e^{2\pi(q-ia)} - 1)^{2}} + \int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \, \frac{q^{n}}{e^{2\pi(q+ia)} - 1} \pm \int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \, \frac{q^{n}}{e^{2\pi(q-ia)} - 1} \right]$
 $\simeq -\frac{2 \cdot n!}{(2\pi)^{n+1}} \left[\operatorname{Li}_{n}(e^{-2\pi ia}) \pm \operatorname{Li}_{n}(e^{+2\pi ia}) \right] + J'_{\pm}(n),$ (B.29)

where we have used Eq.(B.21) and Eq.(B.22) to get the Polylogarithms, and $J'_{\pm}(n)$ is defined as

$$J'_{\pm}(n) = \frac{2}{(2\pi)^2} \int_0^c dq \, \left[\frac{q^n}{(q+ia)^2} \pm \frac{q^n}{(q-ia)^2} + \frac{2\pi q^n}{q+ia} \pm \frac{2\pi q^n}{q-ia} \right], \tag{B.30}$$

which is of the order of $\mathcal{O}([a|c]^{n-1})$. Only the following terms are in our interest;

$$J'_{+}(0) = -\frac{1}{c\pi^{2}(1+a^{2}/c^{2})} + \frac{1}{\pi}\ln[1+c^{2}/a^{2}],$$
(B.31)

$$J'_{+}(1) = -\frac{1}{\pi^{2}(1+a^{2}/c^{2})} + \frac{2c}{\pi} - \frac{2a}{\pi}\tan^{-1}[c/a] + \frac{1}{2\pi^{2}}\ln[1+c^{2}/a^{2}],$$
(B.32)

$$J'_{+}(2) = \frac{2c}{\pi^2} - \frac{c}{\pi^2(1+a^2/c^2)} + \frac{c^2}{\pi} - \frac{2a}{\pi^2}\tan^{-1}[c/a] - \frac{a^2}{\pi}\ln[1+c^2/a^2].$$
 (B.33)

and

$$J'_{-}(0) = -\frac{i}{a\pi^2(1+a^2/c^2)} - \frac{2i}{\pi}\tan^{-1}[c/a],$$
(B.34)

$$J'_{-}(1) = \frac{iac}{\pi^2(a^2 + c^2)} - \frac{i}{\pi^2} \tan^{-1}[c/a] - \frac{ia}{\pi} \ln[1 + c^2/a^2],$$
(B.35)

$$J'_{-}(2) = -\frac{2ia}{\pi} + \frac{iac}{\pi^2(1+a^2/c^2)} + \frac{2ia^2}{\pi}\tan^{-1}[c/a] - \frac{ia}{\pi^2}\ln[1+c^2/a^2].$$
 (B.36)

Furthermore, there are following cases where we need to evaluate $I_{\pm}^{(\prime)}(c,\Lambda,n,a)$ when n is less than (or equal to) zero;

$$I_{+}(-2) = \int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \, q^{-2} \coth_{+}(\pi q, \pi a)$$

= $\int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \, q^{-2} + \int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \, \frac{q^{-2}}{e^{2\pi(q+ia)} - 1} + \int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \, \frac{q^{-2}}{e^{2\pi(q-ia)} - 1}$
= $\int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \, q^{-2} + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{c}^{*} dq \, \frac{1}{q^{2}(q+ia)} + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{c}^{*} dq \, \frac{1}{q^{2}(q-ia)} + \text{const.}$
= $\frac{1}{c} + \frac{1}{2\pi a^{2}} \ln[1 + \frac{a^{2}}{c^{2}}] + \text{const.}$ (B.37)

In the third equality, we used the fact that the integrand converges to zero as q goes to infinity, and it matters only when q is small, and thus we divided the integration interval and expanded the integrand with respect to q. Similarly we can derive

$$I'_{+}(-1) = \int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \, q^{-1} \coth'_{+}(\pi q, \pi a)$$

= $-\frac{1}{\pi^{2}(a^{2} + c^{2})} + \frac{2 \tan^{-1}[c/a]}{\pi a} + \frac{1}{\pi^{2}a^{2}} \ln[1 + a^{2}/c^{2}].$ (B.38)

B.4 Result

Using the equations we have derived so far in this section, we finally acquire the results.

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{1}(a,c) &= \int \frac{d^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{[(n+a)^{2}+k^{2}+c^{2}]^{2}} \\ &= \frac{1}{16\pi} \int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \, \left(1-c^{2}q^{-2}\right) \left[\coth_{+}(\pi q,\pi a) - \pi q \coth'_{+}(\pi q,\pi a) \right] \\ &= \frac{1}{16\pi} \left\{ I_{+}(0) - c^{2}I_{+}(-2) - \pi I'_{+}(1) + \pi c^{2}I'_{+}(-1) \right\} \\ &= \frac{1}{8\pi^{2}} \left\{ \frac{\pi\Lambda}{2} - \ln \left[2\pi\sqrt{a^{2}+c^{2}} \right] - \frac{6\pi+1}{4}c + \frac{a^{2}+c^{2}}{a}\pi \tan^{-1} \left[\frac{c}{a} \right] \right\} + \mathcal{O}([a|c]^{2}). \end{aligned}$$
(B.39)

There is linear divergent term, infra-red divergent term, and other constants.

The second one is given by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{2}(a,c) &= \int \frac{d^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{n}{[(n+a)^{2}+k^{2}+c^{2}]^{2}} \\ &= \frac{1}{16\pi} \int_{c}^{\Lambda} dq \, \left(1-c^{2}q^{-2}\right) \left[-a \coth_{+}(\pi q,\pi a) + \pi aq \coth_{+}'(\pi q,\pi a) - i\pi q^{2} \coth_{-}'(\pi q,\pi a)\right] \\ &= \frac{1}{16\pi} \left\{-aI_{+}(0) + ac^{2}I_{+}(-2) + \pi aI_{+}'(1) - \pi ac^{2}I_{+}'(-1) - i\pi I_{-}'(2) + i\pi c^{2}I_{-}'(0)\right\} \\ &= \frac{a}{8\pi^{2}} \left\{-\frac{\pi\Lambda}{2} + 1 + \frac{2\pi + 1}{4}c\right\} + \mathcal{O}([a|c]^{3}). \end{aligned}$$
(B.40)

There is linear divergent term and other constants, and every term is proportionate to a, which is consistent with the fact that when a = 0, \mathcal{I}_2 must be zero. There is no infra-red divergence because when n = 0 and k = 0 (this is when the infra-red divergence occurs), the original formula is equal to zero because it has factor n in the numerator.

The last formula is

$$\mathcal{I}_{3}(a,c) = \int \frac{d^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{q^{2}}{[(n+a)^{2}+k^{2}+c^{2}]^{2}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{16\pi} \left\{ I_{+}(2) - c^{2}I_{+}(0) - \pi I_{+}'(3) + \pi c^{2}I_{+}'(1) \right\}$$

$$= \frac{1}{8\pi^{2}} \left\{ \frac{\pi}{6} \Lambda^{3} - \frac{\pi c^{2}}{2} \Lambda + 2a^{2} \left(\ln[2\pi\sqrt{a^{2}+c^{2}}] - \frac{3}{2} \right) + c^{2} \left(\ln[2\pi\sqrt{a^{2}+c^{2}}] - 1 \right) + \frac{\zeta_{3}}{\pi^{2}} \right\} + \mathcal{O}([a|c]^{2}). \quad (B.41)$$

There is a cubic and a linear divergent term, and infra-red divergence.

C Detailed calculation of 4D interaction terms and Feynman diagrams

The derivation of the 4D interaction terms and the corresponding 1-loop graph equations are quite complicated. Therefore we give some of the intermediate equations in this section, for the reader interested in the detailed calculations.

C.1 Gaugino 1-loop graph

C.1.1 $\Sigma_{\phi\lambda\psi}$

This is almost same as the Abelian case. The relevant interaction terms in 5D Lagrangian are

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\phi\lambda\psi} \supset -\frac{\sqrt{2}ig}{\sqrt{2\pi R}} \left(\tilde{\phi}_1^{\dagger} \lambda_0 \psi_1 + \tilde{\phi}_2 \bar{\lambda}_0 \bar{\psi}_2 \right) + \text{h.c.}$$
(C.1)

The corresponding 4D Lagrangian;

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,\phi\lambda_{0}\psi} = -\sqrt{2}ig\phi_{0}^{\dagger}\overline{\Upsilon}_{0}P_{L}\Psi_{0} - ig\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[\phi_{n}^{\dagger}\overline{\Upsilon}_{0}\Psi_{n} + \phi_{-n}^{\dagger}\overline{\Upsilon}_{0}\Psi_{n}'\right] + \text{h.c.}$$
(C.2)

1PI graph at 1-loop is given by

$$\begin{split} \Sigma(p)\delta^{ab} &= (\text{zero mode}) + (\text{positive modes}) + (\text{negative modes}) \\ &= \sum_{ij} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \Biggl\{ (-\sqrt{2}igT^a_{ij}P_L) \frac{k}{k^2} (\sqrt{2}igT^b_{ji}P_R) \frac{1}{(p-k)^2 + \hat{\alpha}^2} \\ &+ (\sqrt{2}igT^a_{ij}P_R) \frac{k}{k^2} (-\sqrt{2}igT^b_{ji}P_L) \frac{1}{(p-k)^2 + \hat{\alpha}^2} \Biggr\} \\ &+ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{ij} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} (-igT^a_{ij}) \frac{k-\hat{n}}{k^2 + \hat{n}^2} (igT^b_{ji}) \frac{1}{(p-k)^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2} \times 2 \\ &+ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{ij} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} (-igT^a_{ij}) \frac{k+\hat{n}}{k^2 + \hat{n}^2} (igT^b_{ji}) \frac{1}{(p-k)^2 + (\hat{\alpha} - \hat{n})^2} \times 2 \\ &= 2g^2 T(F) \delta^{ab} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{k-\hat{n}}{[k^2 + \hat{n}^2][(k-p)^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2]}. \end{split}$$
(C.3)

The factors $\times 2$ in non-zero modes diagrams come from the Majorana property of Υ_0 . In the last line, T(F) is defined as $F \times T(N)$, where T(N) the trace of the fundamental representation, which is $\frac{1}{2}$ in the non-Abelian case.

C.1.2 $\Sigma_{\lambda\Sigma\lambda}$

The 5D Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\lambda\Sigma\lambda} = igf^{abc} \left(\lambda_1^a \Sigma^b \lambda_2^c - \bar{\lambda}_1^a \Sigma^b \bar{\lambda}_2^c\right) = igf^{abc} \Sigma^b \left(\tilde{\lambda}_1^a \tilde{\lambda}_2^c - \bar{\tilde{\lambda}}_1^a \bar{\tilde{\lambda}}_2^c\right)$$
$$\supset \frac{ig}{\sqrt{2\pi R}} f^{abc} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \Sigma_n^b \left(-\lambda_0^a \lambda_m^c + \bar{\lambda}_0^a \bar{\lambda}_m^c\right) \frac{\sin \hat{n}y}{\sqrt{\pi R}} \frac{\sin \hat{m}y}{\sqrt{2\pi R}}, \tag{C.4}$$

which leads to the following 4D Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,\lambda\Sigma\lambda} = \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \ \mathcal{L}_{5,\lambda\Sigma\lambda}$$
$$\supset \frac{ig}{\sqrt{2}} f^{abc} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \Sigma_{n}^{b} \left(-\lambda_{0}^{a} \lambda_{n}^{c} + \bar{\lambda}_{0}^{a} \bar{\lambda}_{n}^{c} + \lambda_{0}^{a} \lambda_{-n}^{c} - \bar{\lambda}_{0}^{a} \bar{\lambda}_{-n}^{c} \right)$$
$$= -\frac{ig}{\sqrt{2}} f^{abc} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \Sigma_{n}^{b} \overline{\Upsilon}_{0}^{a} \ \gamma^{5} \left(\Upsilon_{n}^{c} - \Upsilon_{-n}^{c} \right).$$
(C.5)

Therefore, the 1-loop 1PI graph is

$$\begin{split} \Sigma(p)\delta^{ad} &= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{b,c} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \left[\left(-\frac{ig}{\sqrt{2}} f^{abc} \gamma^5 \right) \frac{\not k - (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})}{k^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2} \left(+\frac{ig}{\sqrt{2}} f^{cbd} \gamma^5 \right) \frac{1}{(k-p)^2 + \hat{n}^2} \right] \\ &+ (n \to -n) \\ &= -\frac{g^2}{2} \left(\sum_{b,c} f^{abc} f^{dbc} \right) \sum_{n \neq 0} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{\gamma^5 [\not k - (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})] \gamma^5}{[k^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2][(k-p)^2 + \hat{n}^2]} \\ &= \frac{g^2 C(A)}{2} \delta^{ad} \sum_{n \neq 0} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{\not k + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})}{[k^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2][(k-p)^2 + \hat{n}^2]}. \end{split}$$
(C.6)

C.1.3 $\Sigma^{\lambda A_5 \lambda}$

The relevant 5D Lagrangian term is

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\lambda A_{5}\lambda} = -gf^{abc} \left(-\lambda_{2}^{a}, \bar{\lambda}_{1}^{a} \right) i\Gamma^{5}A_{5}^{b} \left(\begin{array}{c} \lambda_{1}^{c} \\ -\bar{\lambda}_{2}^{c} \end{array} \right) = -gf^{abc} \left(-\tilde{\lambda}_{2}^{a}, \bar{\lambda}_{1}^{a} \right) i\Gamma^{5}A_{5}^{b} \left(\begin{array}{c} \tilde{\lambda}_{1}^{c} \\ -\bar{\lambda}_{2}^{c} \end{array} \right)$$
$$\supset -\frac{g}{2\pi R\sqrt{\pi R}} f^{abc} \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\lambda_{m}^{a}\lambda_{0}^{c} - \bar{\lambda}_{0}^{a}\bar{\lambda}_{m}^{c} \right) A_{5,n}^{b} \sin \hat{m}y \sin \hat{n}y$$
$$= +\frac{g}{2\pi R\sqrt{\pi R}} f^{abc} \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\lambda_{0}^{a}\lambda_{m}^{c} + \bar{\lambda}_{0}^{a}\bar{\lambda}_{m}^{c} \right) A_{5,n}^{b} \sin \hat{m}y \sin \hat{n}y, \qquad (C.7)$$

and the corresponding 4D Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,\lambda A_{5\lambda}} = \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \ \mathcal{L}_{5,\lambda A_{5\lambda}} = \frac{g}{\sqrt{2}} f^{abc} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \overline{\Upsilon}_{0}^{a} A_{5,n}^{b} \left(\Upsilon_{n}^{c} - \Upsilon_{-n}^{c}\right).$$
(C.8)

Therefore

where the factor $\frac{1}{2}$ is a symmetry factor.

C.1.4 $\Sigma^{\lambda A_{\mu}\lambda}$

The relevant 5D Lagrangian term is

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\lambda A_{\mu\lambda}} = -gf^{abc} \left(-\lambda_{2}^{a}, \bar{\lambda}_{1}^{a}\right) i\gamma^{\mu} A_{\mu}^{b} \left(\begin{array}{c}\lambda_{1}^{c}\\-\bar{\lambda}_{2}^{c}\end{array}\right) = -gf^{abc} \left(-\tilde{\lambda}_{2}^{a}, \bar{\lambda}_{1}^{a}\right) i\gamma^{\mu} A_{\mu}^{b} \left(\begin{array}{c}\tilde{\lambda}_{1}^{c}\\-\bar{\lambda}_{2}^{c}\end{array}\right)$$
$$\supset -\frac{gf^{abc}}{2\pi R\sqrt{\pi R}} \sum_{m,l=-\infty}^{\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\lambda_{m}^{a} i\sigma^{\mu} \bar{\lambda}_{l}^{c} \sin \hat{m} y \sin \hat{l} y + \bar{\lambda}_{m}^{a} i\bar{\sigma}^{\mu} \lambda_{l}^{c} \cos \hat{m} y \cos \hat{l} y\right) A_{n,\mu}^{b} \eta_{n} \cos \hat{n} y$$
(C.10)

and the corresponding 4D Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,\lambda A_{\mu}\lambda} = \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \ \mathcal{L}_{5,\lambda A_{\mu}\lambda}$$

$$= -g f^{abc} \lambda_{0}^{a} i \sigma^{\mu} \bar{\lambda}_{0}^{c} - \frac{g}{\sqrt{2}} f^{abc} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} A_{n,\mu}^{b} \left\{ \bar{\lambda}_{0}^{a} i \bar{\sigma}^{\mu} (\lambda_{n}^{c} + \lambda_{-n}^{c}) + (\bar{\lambda}_{n}^{a} + \bar{\lambda}_{-n}^{a}) i \bar{\sigma}^{\mu} \bar{\lambda}_{0}^{c} \right\}$$

$$= -\frac{g f^{abc}}{2} \overline{\Upsilon}_{0}^{a} i \gamma^{\mu} A_{0,\mu}^{b} \Upsilon_{0}^{c} - \frac{g}{\sqrt{2}} f^{abc} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \overline{\Upsilon}_{0}^{a} i \gamma^{\mu} A_{n,\mu}^{b} \left(\Upsilon_{n}^{c} + \Upsilon_{-n}^{c} \right). \quad (C.11)$$

Therefore

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_{\lambda A_{\mu}\lambda} \delta^{ad} &= \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \left(-gf^{abc} i\gamma^{\mu} \right) \frac{\not{k} - \hat{\alpha}}{k^2 + \hat{\alpha}^2} \left(-gf^{cbd} i\gamma^{\nu} \right) \frac{g_{\mu\nu}}{(k-p)^2} \\ &+ \sum_{n \neq 0} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \left(-\frac{g}{\sqrt{2}} f^{abc} i\gamma^{\mu} \right) \frac{\not{k} - (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})}{k^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2} \left(-\frac{g}{\sqrt{2}} f^{cbd} i\gamma^{\nu} \right) \frac{g_{\mu\nu}}{(k-p)^2 + \hat{n}^2} \\ &= g^2 C(A) \delta^{ad} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{2\not{k} + 4\hat{\alpha}}{[k^2 + \hat{\alpha}^2][(k-p)^2]} \\ &+ \frac{g^2}{2} C(A) \delta^{ad} \sum_{n \neq 0} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{2\not{k} + 4\hat{\alpha}}{[k^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2][(k-p)^2 + \hat{n}^2]} \\ &= g^2 C(A) \delta^{ad} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{\not{k} + 2\hat{\alpha}}{[k^2 + \hat{\alpha}^2][(k-p)^2]} \\ &+ g^2 C(A) \delta^{ad} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{\not{k} + 2(\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})}{[k^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2][(k-p)^2 + \hat{n}^2]}. \end{split}$$
(C.12)

C.2 Sfermion 1-loop graphs

C.2.1 $\Pi_{\phi\lambda\psi}$

The relevant terms are

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\phi\lambda\psi} = -\sqrt{2}ig\left(\tilde{\phi}_{1}^{\dagger},\tilde{\phi}_{2}\right)\left[\begin{pmatrix}\tilde{\lambda}_{1}\\-\tilde{\lambda}_{2}\end{pmatrix}\psi_{1} + \begin{pmatrix}\bar{\lambda}_{2}\\\bar{\lambda}_{1}\end{pmatrix}\psi_{2}\right] + \text{h.c.}$$

$$\supset -\frac{\sqrt{2}ig}{\sqrt{2\pi R}}\phi_{0}^{\dagger}\left[\tilde{\lambda}_{1}\psi_{1} + \bar{\lambda}_{2}\bar{\psi}_{2}\right] + \text{h.c.}$$

$$= -\frac{\sqrt{2}ig}{\sqrt{2\pi R}}\phi_{0}^{\dagger}\sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\left[\lambda_{m}\psi_{1,n}\frac{\cos\hat{m}y}{\sqrt{2\pi R}}\frac{\eta_{n}\cos\hat{n}y}{\sqrt{\pi R}} - \bar{\lambda}_{m}\bar{\psi}_{2,n}\frac{\sin\hat{m}y}{\sqrt{2\pi R}}\frac{\sin\hat{n}y}{\sqrt{\pi R}}\right] + \text{h.c.}$$
(C.13)

The corresponding 4D Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,\phi_{0}\lambda\psi} = -\sqrt{2}ig\left(\phi_{0}^{\dagger}\lambda_{0}\psi_{1,0} - \bar{\psi}_{0}\bar{\lambda}_{0}\phi_{0}\right)$$

$$-ig\phi_{0}^{\dagger}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\left[\left(\lambda_{n} + \lambda_{-n}\right)\psi_{1,n} - \left(\bar{\lambda}_{n} - \bar{\lambda}_{-n}\right)\bar{\psi}_{2,n}\right] + \text{h.c.}$$

$$= -\sqrt{2}ig\left(\phi_{0}^{\dagger}\overline{\Upsilon}_{0}P_{L}\Psi_{0} - \overline{\Psi}_{0}P_{R}\Upsilon_{0}\phi_{0}\right)$$

$$-ig\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\left[\phi_{0}^{\dagger}\overline{\Upsilon}_{n}\Psi_{n}' + \phi_{0}^{\dagger}\overline{\Upsilon}_{-n}\Psi_{n} - \overline{\Psi}_{n}'\Upsilon_{n}\phi_{0} - \overline{\Psi}_{n}\Upsilon_{-n}\phi_{0}\right]. \quad (C.14)$$

Therefore the zero mode loop is

$$\Pi_{\phi\lambda\psi} = -\int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \operatorname{Tr}\left[\left(-\sqrt{2}igT^a P_L \right) \frac{\not{k} - \hat{\alpha}}{k^2 + \hat{\alpha}^2} \left(+\sqrt{2}igT^a P_R \right) \frac{\not{k} - \not{p}}{(k-p)^2} \right. \\ \left. + \left(+\sqrt{2}igT^a P_R \right) \frac{\not{k} - \hat{\alpha}}{k^2 + \hat{\alpha}^2} \left(-\sqrt{2}igT^a P_L \right) \frac{\not{k} - \not{p}}{(k-p)^2} \right] \times \frac{1}{2} \\ = -g^2 C(N) \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{\operatorname{Tr}[\not{k}(\not{k} - \not{p})]}{[k^2 + \hat{\alpha}^2][(k-p)^2]} \\ = +4g^2 C(N) \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{k(k-p)}{[k^2 + \hat{\alpha}^2][(k-p)^2]}.$$
(C.15)

The non-zero modes contribution is

$$\Pi_{\phi\lambda\psi} = -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \operatorname{Tr} \left[(-igT^a) \frac{\not k - (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})}{k^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2} (+igT^a) \frac{\not k - \not p + \hat{n}}{(k-p)^2 + \hat{n}^2} \right. \\ \left. + (-igT^a) \frac{\not k - (\hat{\alpha} - \hat{n})}{k^2 + (\hat{\alpha} - \hat{n})^2} (+igT^a) \frac{\not k - \not p - \hat{n}}{(k-p)^2 + \hat{n}^2} \right] \\ = -g^2 C(N) \sum_{n \neq 0} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{\operatorname{Tr}[(\not k - \hat{\alpha} - \hat{n})(\not k - \not p + \hat{n})]}{[k^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2][(k-p)^2 + \hat{n}^2]} \\ = +4g^2 C(N) \sum_{n \neq 0} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{k(k-p) + \hat{n}(\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})}{[k^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2][(k-p)^2 + \hat{n}^2]}.$$
(C.16)

In total,

$$\Pi_{\phi\lambda\psi} = +4g^2 C(N) \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{k(k-p) + \hat{n}(\hat{\alpha}+\hat{n})}{[k^2 + (\hat{\alpha}+\hat{n})^2][(k-p)^2 + \hat{n}^2]}.$$
 (C.17)

C.2.2 $\Pi_{\phi A_5 \phi}$

Since

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\phi} = -\left(\mathcal{D}^{M}\phi_{1}\right)^{\dagger}\left(\mathcal{D}_{M}\phi_{1}\right) - \left(\mathcal{D}^{M}\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right)^{\dagger}\left(\mathcal{D}_{M}\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right)$$
$$\supset -\left(\mathcal{D}_{5}\phi_{1}\right)^{\dagger}\left(\mathcal{D}_{5}\phi_{1}\right) - \left(\mathcal{D}_{5}\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right)^{\dagger}\left(\mathcal{D}_{5}\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right)$$
$$= -\left(\partial_{5}\phi_{1}^{\dagger} + ig\phi_{1}^{\dagger}A_{5}\right)\left(\partial_{5}\phi_{1} - igA_{5}\phi_{1}\right) - \left(\partial_{5}\phi_{2} + ig\phi_{2}A_{5}\right)\left(\partial_{5}\phi_{2}^{\dagger} - igA_{5}\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right), \quad (C.18)$$

the relevant terms are

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\phi A_{5}\phi} = -ig\left(\phi_{1}^{\dagger},\phi_{2}\right)A_{5}\partial_{5}\left(\begin{array}{c}\phi_{1}\\\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\end{array}\right) + \text{h.c.}$$

$$= -ig\left(\tilde{\phi}_{1}^{\dagger},\tilde{\phi}_{2}\right)UA_{5}\partial_{5}U^{\dagger}\left(\begin{array}{c}\tilde{\phi}_{1}\\\tilde{\phi}_{2}^{\dagger}\end{array}\right) + \text{h.c.}$$

$$= -ig\left(\tilde{\phi}_{1}^{\dagger},\tilde{\phi}_{2}\right)A_{5}\left(\begin{array}{c}\partial_{5}&-\hat{\alpha}\\+\hat{\alpha}&\partial_{5}\end{array}\right)\left(\begin{array}{c}\tilde{\phi}_{1}\\\tilde{\phi}_{2}^{\dagger}\end{array}\right) + \text{h.c.}$$

$$= -\frac{ig}{2\pi R\sqrt{\pi R}}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\sum_{m,l=-\infty}^{\infty}\phi_{m}^{\dagger}\left(\cos\hat{m}y,\sin\hat{m}y\right)A_{5,n}\sin\hat{n}y$$

$$\times \left(\begin{array}{c}\partial_{5}&-\hat{\alpha}\\+\hat{\alpha}&\partial_{5}\end{array}\right)\left(\begin{array}{c}\cos\hat{l}y\\\sin\hat{l}y\end{array}\right)\phi_{l} + \text{h.c.}$$
(C.19)

The corresponding 4D Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,\phi A_5\phi} = -\frac{ig}{\sqrt{2}\pi R} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m,l=-\infty}^{\infty} (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{l}) \phi_m^{\dagger} A_{5,n} \phi_l$$

$$\times \int dy \, \sin \hat{n}y \left(-\cos \hat{m}y \sin \hat{l}y + \sin \hat{m}y \cos \hat{l}y \right) + \text{h.c.}$$

$$= -\frac{ig}{\sqrt{2}\pi R} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \int dy \, \sin \hat{n}y \sin \hat{m}y$$

$$\left(-(\hat{\alpha} + \hat{m}) \phi_0^{\dagger} A_{5,n} \phi_m + \hat{\alpha} \phi_m^{\dagger} A_{5,n} \phi_0 \right) + \text{h.c.}$$

$$= -\frac{ig}{\sqrt{2}\pi R} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \int dy \, \sin \hat{n}y \sin \hat{m}y (2\hat{\alpha} + \hat{m}) \left(-\phi_0^{\dagger} A_{5,n} \phi_m + \phi_m^{\dagger} A_{5,n} \phi_0 \right)$$

$$= -\frac{ig}{\sqrt{2}} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(-(2\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n}) \phi_0^{\dagger} A_{5,n} \phi_n + (2\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n}) \phi_n^{\dagger} A_{5,n} \phi_0 \right)$$

$$+ (2\hat{\alpha} - \hat{n}) \phi_0^{\dagger} A_{5,n} \phi_{-n} - (2\hat{\alpha} - \hat{n}) \phi_{-n}^{\dagger} A_{5,n} \phi_0 \right). \quad (C.20)$$

The 1PI graph is

$$\Pi_{\phi A_{5}\phi} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^{4}k}{i(2\pi)^{4}} \left\{ \left(+ \frac{ig}{\sqrt{2}} (2\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})T^{a} \right) \frac{1}{k^{2} + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^{2}} \left(- \frac{ig}{\sqrt{2}} (2\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})T^{a} \right) \frac{1}{(k-p)^{2} + \hat{n}^{2}} \right. \\ \left. + \left(- \frac{ig}{\sqrt{2}} (2\hat{\alpha} - \hat{n})T^{a} \right) \frac{1}{k^{2} + (\hat{\alpha} - \hat{n})^{2}} \left(+ \frac{ig}{\sqrt{2}} (2\hat{\alpha} - \hat{n})T^{a} \right) \frac{1}{(k-p)^{2} + \hat{n}^{2}} \right\} \\ \left. = \frac{g^{2}}{2} C(N) \sum_{n\neq0}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^{4}k}{i(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{(2\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^{2}}{[k^{2} + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^{2}][(k-p)^{2} + \hat{n}^{2}]} \\ \left. = \frac{g^{2}}{2} C(N) \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^{4}k}{i(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{(2\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^{2}}{[k^{2} + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^{2}][(k-p)^{2} + \hat{n}^{2}]} \\ \left. - 2g^{2}C(N) \int \frac{d^{4}k}{i(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{\hat{\alpha}^{2}}{[k^{2} + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{\alpha})^{2}][(k-p)^{2}]} \right]$$
(C.21)

C.2.3 $\Pi_{\phi A_{\mu}\phi}$

Since

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\phi} \supset -\left(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}\phi_{1}\right)^{\dagger}\left(\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\phi_{1}\right) - \left(\mathcal{D}^{\mu}\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right)^{\dagger}\left(\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right)$$
$$= -\left(\partial^{\mu}\phi_{1}^{\dagger} + ig\phi_{1}^{\dagger}A^{\mu}\right)\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi_{1} - igA_{\mu}\phi_{1}\right) - \left(\partial^{\mu}\phi_{2} + ig\phi_{2}A_{\mu}\right)\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi_{2}^{\dagger} - igA_{\mu}\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right), \quad (C.22)$$

the relevant terms are

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\phi A_{\mu}\phi} = -ig\left(\phi_{1}^{\dagger},\phi_{2}\right)A^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\left(\begin{array}{c}\phi_{1}\\\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\end{array}\right) + \text{h.c.} = -ig\left(\tilde{\phi}_{1}^{\dagger},\tilde{\phi}_{2}\right)A^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\left(\begin{array}{c}\tilde{\phi}_{1}\\\tilde{\phi}_{2}^{\dagger}\end{array}\right) + \text{h.c.}$$

$$= -\frac{ig}{2\pi R\sqrt{\pi R}}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\sum_{m,l=-\infty}^{\infty}\phi_{m}^{\dagger}\left(\cos\hat{m}y,\sin\hat{m}y\right)A_{n}^{\mu}\eta_{n}\cos\hat{n}y\partial_{\mu}\phi_{l}\left(\begin{array}{c}\cos\hat{l}y\\\sin\hat{l}y\end{array}\right) + \text{h.c.}$$

$$\supset -\frac{ig}{2\pi R\sqrt{\pi R}}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\sum_{m,l=-\infty}^{\infty}\phi_{m}^{\dagger}A_{n}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\phi_{l}\eta_{n}\cos\hat{n}y\cos\hat{l}y + \text{h.c.}$$

$$\supset -\frac{ig}{2\pi R\sqrt{\pi R}}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty}\left(\phi_{m}^{\dagger}A_{n}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\phi_{0} + \phi_{0}^{\dagger}A_{n}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\phi_{m}\right)\eta_{n}\cos\hat{n}y\cos\hat{n}y$$

$$+\frac{ig}{2\pi R\sqrt{\pi R}}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\phi_{0}^{\dagger}A_{n}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\phi_{0}\eta_{n}\cos\hat{n}y + \text{h.c.}$$
(C.23)

The corresponding 4D Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,\phi A_{\mu}\phi} \supset -ig \left[\phi_{0}^{\dagger} A_{0}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \phi_{0} - \partial_{\mu} \phi_{0}^{\dagger} A_{0}^{\mu} \phi_{0} \right] \\ - \frac{ig}{\sqrt{2}} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \Biggl\{ (\phi_{n}^{\dagger} + \phi_{-n}^{\dagger}) A_{n}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \phi_{0} + \phi_{0}^{\dagger} A_{n}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} (\phi_{n} + \phi_{-n}) \\ - \partial_{\mu} \phi_{0}^{\dagger} A_{n}^{\mu} (\phi_{n} + \phi_{-n}) - \partial_{\mu} (\phi_{n}^{\dagger} + \phi_{-n}^{\dagger}) A_{n}^{\mu} \phi_{0} \Biggr\}.$$
(C.24)

The 1PI diagram is

$$\Pi_{\phi A_{\mu}\phi} = g^{2}C(N) \int \frac{d^{4}k}{i(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{(k+p)^{2}}{[k^{2}+\hat{\alpha}^{2}][(k-p)^{2}]} + \frac{g^{2}}{2}C(N) \sum_{n\neq0}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^{4}k}{i(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{(k+p)^{2}}{[k^{2}+(\hat{\alpha}+\hat{n})^{2}][(k-p)^{2}+\hat{n}^{2}]} = \frac{g^{2}}{2}C(N) \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^{4}k}{i(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{(k+p)^{2}}{[k^{2}+(\hat{\alpha}+\hat{n})^{2}][(k-p)^{2}+\hat{n}^{2}]} + \frac{g^{2}}{2}C(N) \int \frac{d^{4}k}{i(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{(k+p)^{2}}{[k^{2}+\hat{\alpha}^{2}][(k-p)^{2}]}.$$
(C.25)

C.2.4 $\Pi_{\Sigma\phi\Sigma\phi}$

Since

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\phi\Sigma\Sigma\phi} = -g^2 \left(\tilde{\phi}_1^{\dagger}, \tilde{\phi}_2\right) \Sigma^2 \left(\begin{array}{c} \tilde{\phi}_1\\ \tilde{\phi}_2^{\dagger} \end{array}\right)$$
$$\supset -\frac{g^2}{2\pi^2 R^2} \sum_{n,m=1}^{\infty} \phi_0^{\dagger} \Sigma_n \Sigma_m \phi_0 \sin \hat{n}y \sin \hat{m}y, \qquad (C.26)$$

then

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,\phi_0\Sigma\Sigma\phi_0} = -g^2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \phi_0^{\dagger} \Sigma_n^2 \phi_0.$$
 (C.27)

Therefore

$$\Pi_{\phi\Sigma\Sigma\phi} = -g^2 C(N) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{k^2 + \hat{n}^2}.$$
 (C.28)

C.2.5 $\Pi_{\phi\phi\phi\phi}$

Since

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\phi\phi\phi\phi} = -\frac{g^2}{2} \left(\phi_1^{\dagger} T^a \phi_1 - \phi_2 T^a \phi_2^{\dagger} \right)^2 - 2g^2 \left(\phi_1^{\dagger} T^a \phi_2^{\dagger} \right) (\phi_2 T^a \phi_1)$$

$$\supset -\frac{g^2}{2(2\pi R)^2} \left[(\phi_0^{\dagger} T^a \phi_0)^2 + \sum_{n,m\neq 0} \left(\phi_0^{\dagger} T^a \phi_n \right) \left(\phi_m^{\dagger} T^a \phi_0 \right) \cos \hat{n}y \cos \hat{m}y \times 2 \right]$$

$$-\frac{2g^2}{(2\pi R)^2} \sum_{n,m=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\phi_0^{\dagger} T^a \phi_n \right) \left(\phi_m^{\dagger} T^a \phi_0 \right) \sin \hat{n}y \sin \hat{m}y, \qquad (C.29)$$

then

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,\phi_0\phi\phi\phi_0} = -\frac{g^2}{2} (\phi_0^{\dagger} T^a \phi_0)^2 - \frac{3}{2} g^2 \sum_{n \neq 0} \left| \phi_0^{\dagger} T^a \phi_n \right|^2.$$
(C.30)

Therefore

$$\Pi_{\phi\phi\phi\phi} = -\frac{g^2}{2}C(N)\int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{k^2 + \hat{\alpha}^2} \times 2 - \frac{3}{2}g^2C(N)\sum_{n\neq 0}\int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{k^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2}$$
$$= -\frac{3}{2}g^2C(N)\sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty}\int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{k^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2} + \frac{1}{2}g^2C(N)\int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{k^2 + \hat{\alpha}^2}.$$
 (C.31)

C.2.6 $\Pi_{\phi A_5 A_5 \phi}$

Since

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\phi} = -\left(\mathcal{D}^{M}\phi_{1}\right)^{\dagger}\left(\mathcal{D}_{M}\phi_{1}\right) - \left(\mathcal{D}^{M}\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right)^{\dagger}\left(\mathcal{D}_{M}\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right)$$

$$\supset -\left(\mathcal{D}_{5}\phi_{1}\right)^{\dagger}\left(\mathcal{D}_{5}\phi_{1}\right) - \left(\mathcal{D}_{5}\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right)^{\dagger}\left(\mathcal{D}_{5}\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right)$$

$$= -\left(\partial_{5}\phi_{1}^{\dagger} + ig\phi_{1}^{\dagger}A_{5}\right)\left(\partial_{5}\phi_{1} - igA_{5}\phi_{1}\right) - \left(\partial_{5}\phi_{2} + ig\phi_{2}A_{5}\right)\left(\partial_{5}\phi_{2}^{\dagger} - igA_{5}\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right)$$

$$\supset -g^{2}\left(\phi_{1}^{\dagger}A_{5}^{2}\phi_{1} + \phi_{2}A_{5}^{2}\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right)$$

$$\supset -\frac{g^{2}}{2\pi^{2}R^{2}}\sum_{n,m=1}^{\infty}\phi_{0}^{\dagger}A_{5,n}A_{5,m}\phi_{0}\sin\hat{n}y\sin\hat{m}y,$$
(C.32)

the relevant terms in 4D Lagrangian are

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,\phi_0 A_5 A_5 \phi_0} = -g^2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \phi_0^{\dagger} A_{5,n}^2 \phi_0.$$
 (C.33)

Therefore

$$\Pi_{\phi A_5 A_5 \phi} = -g^2 C(N) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4 k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{k^2 + \hat{n}^2}.$$
 (C.34)

C.2.7 $\Pi_{\phi A_{\mu}A_{\mu}\phi}$

Since

$$\mathcal{L}_{5,\phi} = -\left(\mathcal{D}^{M}\phi_{1}\right)^{\dagger}\left(\mathcal{D}_{M}\phi_{1}\right) - \left(\mathcal{D}^{M}\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right)^{\dagger}\left(\mathcal{D}_{M}\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right)$$
$$\supset -g^{2}\left(\phi_{1}^{\dagger}A^{\mu}A_{\mu}\phi_{1} + \phi_{2}A^{\mu}A_{\mu}\phi_{2}^{\dagger}\right)$$
$$\supset -\frac{g^{2}}{2\pi^{2}R^{2}}\sum_{n,m=0}^{\infty}\phi_{0}^{\dagger}A_{n}^{\mu}A_{\mu,m}\phi_{0}\eta_{n}\eta_{m}\cos\hat{n}y\cos\hat{m}y, \qquad (C.35)$$

the relevant terms in 4D Lagrangian are

$$\mathcal{L}_{4,\phi_0 A^{\mu} A_{\mu} \phi_0} = -g^2 \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \phi_0^{\dagger} A_n^{\mu} A_{\mu,m} \phi_0.$$
 (C.36)

Therefore

$$\Pi_{\phi A^{\mu}A_{\mu}\phi} = -4g^2 C(N) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{k^2 + \hat{n}^2}.$$
(C.37)

D The detailed calculation on the Yukawa interaction on the brane

D.1 The full 4D Yukawa interaction terms

The 4D Yukawa terms are

$$\mathcal{L}_{4}^{\text{brane}} = \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \, \mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{brane}} = \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \, \int d^{2}\theta \, W^{\text{brane}}$$

$$= \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \, \int d^{2}\theta \left[y_{t} \Phi_{\bar{t}_{R}} \left(\Phi_{t_{L}} H_{u}^{0} - \Phi_{b_{L}} H_{u}^{+} \right) - y_{b} \Phi_{\bar{b}_{R}} \left(\Phi_{t_{L}} H_{d}^{-} - \Phi_{b_{L}} H_{d}^{0} \right)$$

$$+ \mu \left(H_{u}^{+} H_{d}^{-} - H_{u}^{0} H_{d}^{0} \right) \right]$$

$$\supset \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \, \delta(y) \left[F_{t_{L}} \left(y_{t} \phi_{\bar{t}_{R}} h_{u}^{0} + y_{b} \phi_{\bar{b}_{R}} h_{d}^{-} \right) + F_{\bar{t}_{R}} \left(y_{t} \phi_{t_{L}} h_{u}^{0} - y_{b} \phi_{b_{L}} h_{d}^{+} \right)$$

$$+ F_{b_{L}} \left(-y_{t} \phi_{\bar{t}_{R}} h_{u}^{+} - y_{b} \phi_{\bar{b}_{R}} h_{d}^{0} \right) + F_{\bar{b}_{R}} \left(y_{b} \phi_{t_{L}} h_{d}^{-} - y_{b} \phi_{b_{L}} h_{d}^{0} \right)$$

$$+ F_{h_{u}^{0}} \left(y_{t} \phi_{\bar{t}_{R}} \phi_{t_{L}} - \mu h_{d}^{0} \right) + F_{h_{u}^{+}} \left(-y_{t} \phi_{\bar{t}_{R}} \phi_{b_{L}} + \mu h_{d}^{-} \right)$$

$$+ F_{h_{d}^{0}} \left(-y_{b} \phi_{\bar{b}_{R}} \phi_{b_{L}} - \mu h_{u}^{0} \right) + F_{h_{u}^{+}} \left(y_{b} \phi_{\bar{b}_{R}} \phi_{t_{L}} + \mu h_{u}^{+} \right) \right].$$

$$(D.1)$$

Here in the last line, we have extracted the components of scalar and auxiliary fields and omitted the fermion interactions, since they are not complicated much when we remove the auxiliary fields and perform the KK-expansion. Next, the relevant bulk term is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{4}^{\text{bulk}} = \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \, \mathcal{L}_{5}^{\text{bulk}}$$

$$= \int_{0}^{2\pi R} dy \, \left\{ \sum_{*=t_{L}, \bar{t}_{R}, b_{L}, \bar{b}_{R}} \left| F_{*} - [\partial_{5} + ig(A_{5} + i\Sigma)] \phi_{*}^{C\dagger} \right|^{2} + \delta(y) \sum_{\#=h_{u}^{0}, h_{u}^{+}, h_{d}^{0}, h_{d}^{-}} |F_{\#}|^{2} \right\}.$$
(D.2)

By substituting $F_* = F'_* + [\partial_5 + ig(A_5 + i\Sigma)]\phi^{C\dagger}_*$ and perform the KK expansion,

$$\begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\phi}_*\\ \tilde{\phi}_*^{C\dagger} \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\phi_{*,n}}{\sqrt{2\pi R}} \begin{pmatrix} \cos \hat{n}y\\ \sin \hat{n}y \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tilde{F}'_* = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} F'_{*,n} \frac{\cos \hat{n}y}{\sqrt{2\pi R}}, \tag{D.3}$$

we obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{L}_{4}^{\text{total}} &= \mathcal{L}_{4}^{\text{bulk}} + \mathcal{L}_{4}^{\text{brane}} \\ &= \sum_{*=t_{L}, \bar{t}_{R}, b_{L}, \bar{b}_{R}} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \left| F_{*,n}' \right|^{2} + \sum_{\#=h_{u}^{0}, h_{u}^{+}, h_{0}^{0}, h_{d}^{-}} \left| F_{\#} \right|^{2} \\ &+ \sum_{n,m=-\infty}^{\infty} \left\{ \left(F_{t_{L},n} + (\hat{n} + \hat{\alpha}) \phi_{t_{L},n} \right) \left(y_{t} \phi_{\bar{t}_{R},m} h_{u}^{0} + y_{b} \phi_{\bar{b}_{R},m} h_{d}^{-} \right) \\ &+ \left(F_{\bar{t}_{R},n} + (\hat{n} + \hat{\alpha}) \phi_{\bar{t}_{R},n} \right) \left(y_{t} \phi_{t_{L},m} h_{u}^{0} - y_{t} \phi_{b_{L},m} h_{u}^{+} \right) \\ &+ \left(F_{b_{L},n} + (\hat{n} + \hat{\alpha}) \phi_{\bar{b}_{R},n} \right) \left(-y_{t} \phi_{\bar{t}_{R},m} h_{u}^{+} - y_{b} \phi_{\bar{b}_{R},m} h_{d}^{0} \right) \\ &+ \left(F_{b_{R},n} + (\hat{n} + \hat{\alpha}) \phi_{\bar{b}_{R},n} \right) \left(y_{b} \phi_{t_{L},m} h_{d}^{-} - y_{b} \phi_{b_{L},m} h_{d}^{0} \right) \right\} \\ &+ F_{h_{u}^{0}} \left(y_{t} \sum_{n,m=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_{\bar{t}_{R},n} \phi_{t_{L},m} - \mu h_{d}^{0} \right) + F_{h_{u}^{+}} \left(-y_{t} \sum_{n,m=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_{\bar{t}_{R},n} \phi_{b_{L},m} + \mu h_{d}^{-} \right) \\ &+ F_{h_{d}^{0}} \left(-y_{b} \sum_{n,m=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_{\bar{b}_{R},n} \phi_{b_{L},m} - \mu h_{u}^{0} \right) + F_{h_{u}^{+}} \left(y_{b} \sum_{n,m=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_{\bar{b}_{R},n} \phi_{t_{L},m} + \mu h_{u}^{+} \right). \end{aligned} \tag{D.4}$$

Here we have replaced $y_t/2\pi R$ and $y_b/2\pi R$ with y_t and y_b respectively (we don't put 5D and 4D labels now for notational simplicity).

By eliminating the auxiliary fields F_* , we 4D interaction terms on the brane are finally

given by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{L}_{4}^{\text{total}} &= -\left\{ \left| y_{t} \sum_{n,m=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_{\bar{t}_{R},n} \phi_{t_{L},m} - \mu h_{d}^{0} \right|^{2} + \left| -y_{t} \sum_{n,m=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_{\bar{t}_{R},n} \phi_{b_{L},m} + \mu h_{d}^{-} \right|^{2} \right. \\ &+ \left| -y_{b} \sum_{n,m=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_{\bar{b}_{R},n} \phi_{b_{L},m} - \mu h_{u}^{0} \right|^{2} + \left| y_{b} \sum_{n,m=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_{\bar{b}_{R},n} \phi_{t_{L},m} + \mu h_{u}^{+} \right|^{2} \right\} \\ &- \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \left\{ \left| \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} y_{t} \phi_{\bar{t}_{R},m} h_{u}^{0} + y_{b} \phi_{\bar{b}_{R},m} h_{d}^{-} \right|^{2} + \left| \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} y_{t} \phi_{t_{L},m} h_{u}^{0} - y_{t} \phi_{b_{L},m} h_{u}^{+} \right|^{2} \right. \\ &+ \left| \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} -y_{t} \phi_{\bar{t}_{R},m} h_{u}^{+} - y_{b} \phi_{\bar{b}_{R},m} h_{d}^{0} \right|^{2} + \left| \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} y_{b} \phi_{t_{L},m} h_{d}^{-} - y_{b} \phi_{b_{L},m} h_{d}^{0} \right|^{2} \right\} \\ &+ \sum_{n,m=-\infty}^{\infty} (\hat{n} + \hat{\alpha}) \left\{ \phi_{t_{L},n} \left(y_{t} \phi_{\bar{t}_{R},m} h_{u}^{0} + y_{b} \phi_{\bar{b}_{R},m} h_{d}^{-} \right) + \phi_{\bar{t}_{R},n} \left(y_{t} \phi_{t_{L},m} h_{u}^{0} - y_{t} \phi_{b_{L},m} h_{u}^{+} \right) \\ &+ \phi_{b_{L},n} \left(-y_{t} \phi_{\bar{t}_{R},m} h_{u}^{+} - y_{b} \phi_{\bar{b}_{R},m} h_{d}^{0} \right) + \phi_{\bar{t}_{R},n} \left(y_{b} \phi_{t_{L},m} h_{d}^{0} - y_{b} \phi_{b_{L},m} h_{d}^{0} \right) + \text{h.c.} \right\}. \end{aligned}$$

This is the full scalar interaction terms on the brane. The scalar-fermion-fermion interaction terms we have omitted from the beginning of this subsection are given by

$$\mathcal{L}_5 \supset \delta(y) y_t \left[-\phi_{t_L} \psi_{\bar{t}_R} \psi_{h^0_u} \right] + \text{h.c.}, \tag{D.6}$$

and so on. To perform the KK-expansion and the derivation of the 4D Lagrangian are trivial enough.

D.2 The radiative correction to the stop mass from the interactions on the brane

We are now ready to evaluate the radiative corrections from the interactions with Higgs fields on the brane.

Let us first consider the stop mass correction. We now assume that we can neglect the correction from y_b , and seek only for the correction from y_t . We would like to evaluate the mass correction of \tilde{t}_L and \tilde{t}_R , and we first focus on \tilde{t}_L .

The loop diagrams have ultra-violet divergence but we introduce the cutoff Λ to regulate them, and several formulae in KK-regularization method in the Appendix B are required to perform the momentum integral and the infinite sum from the KK-modes at the same time. The strategy is pretty much the same as the case of the mass corrections from the gauge interactions, and thus we don't write down the intermediate calculations.

There are roughly two kinds of loops; scalar loop and fermion loop. Therefore what we want to calculate can be written

$$\Pi_{\tilde{t}_L} = \Pi_{\tilde{t}_L}^{\text{scalar}} + \Pi_{\tilde{t}_L}^{\text{fermion}} \tag{D.7}$$

The fermion loop comes from the 3-point interaction terms

$$\mathcal{L}_4 \supset y_t \,\tilde{t}_L \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \psi_{\bar{t}_R,n} \tilde{h}_u^0 + \text{h.c.}$$
(D.8)

and the resulting loop diagram is given in Fig. 11.



Figure 11: The fermion loop from the top Yukawa coupling.

Taking the external momentum to be p and the loop momentum to be k, it is evaluated as

$$\Pi_{\tilde{t}_L}^{\text{fermion}} = 2 |y_t|^2 \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{(k+p) \cdot k}{[k^2 + \mu^2][(k+p)^2 + \hat{n}^2]}.$$
 (D.9)

Let us next consider the scalar loops. There are 4 kinds of scalar loops, two of them are 4-point loops and rest is 3-point, as is shown in Fig. 12.

Taking the external momentum to be p and the loop momentum to be k, it is evaluated



Figure 12: The scalar loops from the top Yukawa couplings.

as

$$\Pi_{\tilde{t}_L}^{\text{scalar}} = -|y_t|^2 \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k^2 + \mu^2}$$
(D.10)

$$-|y_t|^2 \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k^2 + (\hat{n} + \hat{\alpha})^2}$$
(D.11)

$$+ |y_t|^2 \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k^2 + \mu^2} \frac{\mu^2}{(k+p)^2 + (\hat{n} + \hat{\alpha})^2}$$
(D.12)

$$+|y_t|^2 \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k^2 + \mu^2} \frac{(2\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2}{(k+p)^2 + (\hat{n} + \hat{\alpha})^2}$$
(D.13)

where each line represents the diagrams (a), (b), (c) and (d) in Fig.12 in this order. In total, they can be expressed simply as

$$\Pi_{\tilde{t}_L}^{\text{scalar}} = |y_t|^2 \int \frac{d^4k}{i(2\pi)^4} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{2\hat{n}\hat{\alpha} + 3\hat{\alpha}^2 - k^2 - (k+p)^2}{[k^2 + \mu^2][(k+p)^2 + (\hat{n} + \hat{\alpha})^2]}.$$
 (D.14)

Both fermion and scalar loops are quadratically divergent (if take the infinite sum with respect to n they have cubic divergence). However both divergence cancels out each other and the resulting mass correction has only logarithmic divergence and infra-red divergence

and constant terms. This cancellation of the divergence is thanks to the supersymmetry of the theory, same as in the case of the radiative correction from the gauge interactions.

What we need to calculate is

$$\Pi_{\tilde{t}_L} = \Pi_{\tilde{t}_L}^{\text{fermion}} + \Pi_{\tilde{t}_L}^{\text{scalar}} = |y_t|^2 \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^2} \frac{1}{k^2 + \mu^2} \sum_{n = -\infty}^{\infty} \left\{ \frac{2(k+p) \cdot k}{(k+p)^2 + \hat{n}^2} + \frac{2\hat{n}\hat{\alpha} + 3\hat{\alpha}^2 - k^2 - (k+p)^2}{(k+p)^2 + (\hat{\alpha} + \hat{n})^2} \right\}, \quad (D.15)$$

with the KK-regularization scheme.

E The discussion on $\ln \Lambda$ term in the radiative correction: the comparison with the S^1 case

Looking at the results of the radiative corrections that have $\ln \Lambda$ terms, one may ask the following questions;

- Are $\ln \Lambda$ terms really brane localized?
- Where do $\ln \Lambda$ terms come from?
- Are $\ln \Lambda$ terms gauge independent?
- Why isn't there $\ln \Lambda$ term in Abelian gaugino mass correction?

To answer these, let us consider 5D SUSY gauge theory compactified over S^1 without Z_2 orbifold and compare the result with the orbifold case in section 4.

In the S^1 case, we impose the following twisted boundary conditions to the gaugino and sfermions;

$$\begin{pmatrix} \phi_1\\ \phi_2^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} (y + 2\pi R) = \begin{pmatrix} \cos \hat{\alpha}y & \sin \hat{\alpha}y\\ -\sin \hat{\alpha}y & \cos \hat{\alpha}y \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1\\ \phi_2^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} (y),$$
(E.1)

$$\begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 \\ -\lambda_2 \end{pmatrix} (y + 2\pi R) = \begin{pmatrix} \cos \hat{\alpha}y & \sin \hat{\alpha}y \\ -\sin \hat{\alpha}y & \cos \hat{\alpha}y \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 \\ -\lambda_2 \end{pmatrix} (y).$$
(E.2)

The 4D spectra in each case are summarized in Fig.13.

Let us first consider the radiative correction to the non-Abelian gaugino mass. There are four types of relevant loop diagrams as in Fig.3. The fermion sfermion loop is

Fig.3(a) =
$$4g^2 T(F) \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{k^2 + (\hat{n} + \hat{\alpha})^2} \frac{\not{k} - \not{p} - \hat{n}}{(k-p)^2 + \hat{n}^2}.$$
 (E.3)

This is twice as large as the S^1/Z_2 case since the degree of freedom of fermion and sfermion is twice. The gauge boson loop is

Fig.3(b) =
$$2g^2 C(A) \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{\not k + 2(\hat{n} + \hat{\alpha})}{k^2 + (\hat{n} + \hat{\alpha})^2} \frac{1}{(k-p)^2 + (\hat{n} + \hat{\alpha})^2},$$
 (E.4)

and the rest is given by

Fig.3(c) + Fig.3(d) =
$$2g^2 C(A) \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{k}{k^2 + (\hat{n} + \hat{\alpha})^2} \frac{1}{(k-p)^2 + (\hat{n} + \hat{\alpha})^2}.$$
 (E.5)



Figure 13: The 4D spectra in various theories. (a) is in S^1 compactification case without any boundary condition. (b) is S^1 with twisted boundary condition. (c) is S^1/Z_2 case and (d) is S^1/Z_2 with twisted boundary condition. Thick lines represent that there are two particles compared with the thin lines.

Therefore the sum of the bosonic loops is

$$\Sigma^{\text{boson}} = \text{Fig.3(b)} + \text{Fig.3(c)} + \text{Fig.3(d)}$$
$$= 4g^2 C(A) \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{\not k + \hat{n} + \hat{\alpha}}{k^2 + (\hat{n} + \hat{\alpha})^2} \frac{1}{(k-p)^2 + (\hat{n} + \hat{\alpha})^2}.$$
(E.6)

The both of Eq.(E.3) and Eq.(E.6) can be written in the form of the sum of KK-mode loops. In that case, the divergence vanish in both the KK-regularization scheme and the winding method, which leaves only constant. The resulting mass correction to gaugino is

$$\delta M_{\lambda} = \frac{g^2}{8\pi^2} \hat{\alpha} \left(2T(F) - 2C(A)\right) \left(\ln[2\pi\alpha] - \frac{3}{2}\right),\tag{E.7}$$

which does not have $\ln \Lambda$ term. This supports the interpretation that $\ln \Lambda$ terms in S^1/Z_2 case are brane localized corrections, since in this S^1 case there is no brane. Note also that the coefficient of the $\ln \alpha$ term is same as the beta function of the gauge coupling in the 4D $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY gauge theory.

Now that we have looked at the S^1 case, we can have better understanding of the S^1/Z_2 case by comparing them. The mass correction in S^1/Z_2 case is basically half of S^1 case since the half of the degree of freedom is dead by Z_2 orbifold. However there is a "mis-match" in zero-mode and thus there is a term that cannot be included in the summation by n as in the last line of Eq.(4.30). That is where the logarithmic divergence comes from and thus its coefficient is scheme independent. Abelian gaugino doesn't have logarithmic divergent mass correction since there is no "mis-match" in the fermion-sfermion loop.

Above discussion has given answers to the questions raised in the beginning of this section, and one can check that the same discussion is valid in the case of sfermion mass correction.

Acknowledgements

I am particularly grateful to Hitoshi Murayama for the time he spent on teaching me physics, for the collaboration, and for the encouragement and guidance. Without him I could not start this thesis.

I also thank Satoshi Shirai for the collaboration and for caring my PhD thesis. Especially, he bought delivery-pizza for me and Shunsuke at the last night of the submission of this thesis. Without him I could not finish this thesis.

I also thank other IPMU members for talking with me at the student room or at the tea time. I would like to give my special thanks to Tomohiro Fujita, Keisuke Harigaya, Masahiro Kawasaki, Taizan Watari, and Hirotaka Hayashi for the collaboration of the past works.

For financial support, I am grateful to the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS) and the Advanced Leading Graduate Course for Photon Science (ALPS).

References

- S. Weinberg, "Implications of Dynamical Symmetry Breaking," *Phys. Rev.* D13 (1976) 974–996. [Addendum: Phys. Rev.D19,1277(1979)].
- [2] E. Gildener, "Gauge Symmetry Hierarchies," Phys. Rev. D14 (1976) 1667.
- [3] S. P. Martin, "A Supersymmetry primer," arXiv:hep-ph/9709356 [hep-ph]. [Adv. Ser. Direct. High Energy Phys.18,1(1998)].
- [4] M. J. G. Veltman, "The Infrared Ultraviolet Connection," Acta Phys. Polon. B12 (1981) 437.
- [5] A. H. Chamseddine, R. L. Arnowitt, and P. Nath, "Locally Supersymmetric Grand Unification," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 49 (1982) 970.
- [6] R. Barbieri, S. Ferrara, and C. A. Savoy, "Gauge Models with Spontaneously Broken Local Supersymmetry," *Phys. Lett.* **119B** (1982) 343.
- [7] L. J. Hall, J. D. Lykken, and S. Weinberg, "Supergravity as the Messenger of Supersymmetry Breaking," *Phys. Rev.* D27 (1983) 2359–2378.
- [8] CMS Collaboration, S. Chatrchyan *et al.*, "Observation of a new boson at a mass of 125 GeV with the CMS experiment at the LHC," *Phys. Lett.* B716 (2012) 30–61, arXiv:1207.7235 [hep-ex].
- [9] ATLAS Collaboration, G. Aad *et al.*, "Observation of a new particle in the search for the Standard Model Higgs boson with the ATLAS detector at the LHC," *Phys. Lett.* B716 (2012) 1–29, arXiv:1207.7214 [hep-ex].
- [10] Y. Okada, M. Yamaguchi, and T. Yanagida, "Upper bound of the lightest Higgs boson mass in the minimal supersymmetric standard model," *Prog. Theor. Phys.* 85 (1991) 1–6.
- [11] Y. Okada, M. Yamaguchi, and T. Yanagida, "Renormalization group analysis on the Higgs mass in the softly broken supersymmetric standard model," *Phys.Lett.* B262 (1991) 54–58.
- [12] J. R. Ellis, G. Ridolfi, and F. Zwirner, "Radiative corrections to the masses of supersymmetric Higgs bosons," *Phys.Lett.* B257 (1991) 83–91.
- [13] J. R. Ellis, G. Ridolfi, and F. Zwirner, "On radiative corrections to supersymmetric Higgs boson masses and their implications for LEP searches," *Phys.Lett.* B262 (1991) 477–484.

- [14] H. E. Haber and R. Hempfling, "Can the mass of the lightest Higgs boson of the minimal supersymmetric model be larger than m(Z)?," *Phys.Rev.Lett.* 66 (1991) 1815–1818.
- [15] G. F. Giudice and A. Strumia, "Probing High-Scale and Split Supersymmetry with Higgs Mass Measurements," *Nucl. Phys.* B858 (2012) 63–83, arXiv:1108.6077 [hep-ph].
- [16] S. P. Martin, "Compressed supersymmetry and natural neutralino dark matter from top squark-mediated annihilation to top quarks," *Phys. Rev.* D75 (2007) 115005, arXiv:hep-ph/0703097 [HEP-PH].
- [17] S. P. Martin, "The Top squark-mediated annihilation scenario and direct detection of dark matter in compressed supersymmetry," *Phys. Rev.* D76 (2007) 095005, arXiv:0707.2812 [hep-ph].
- [18] S. P. Martin, "Exploring compressed supersymmetry with same-sign top quarks at the Large Hadron Collider," *Phys. Rev.* D78 (2008) 055019, arXiv:0807.2820 [hep-ph].
- [19] T. J. LeCompte and S. P. Martin, "Compressed supersymmetry after 1/fb at the Large Hadron Collider," *Phys. Rev.* D85 (2012) 035023, arXiv:1111.6897 [hep-ph].
- [20] ATLAS Collaboration, M. Aaboud *et al.*, "Search for squarks and gluinos in final states with jets and missing transverse momentum using 36 fb⁻¹ of $\sqrt{s}=13$ TeV pp collision data with the ATLAS detector," arXiv:1712.02332 [hep-ex].
- [21] N. Arkani-Hamed and S. Dimopoulos, "Supersymmetric unification without low energy supersymmetry and signatures for fine-tuning at the LHC," JHEP 06 (2005) 073, arXiv:hep-th/0405159 [hep-th].
- [22] L. J. Hall and Y. Nomura, "Spread Supersymmetry," JHEP 01 (2012) 082, arXiv:1111.4519 [hep-ph].
- [23] J. D. Wells, "Implications of supersymmetry breaking with a little hierarchy between gauginos and scalars," in 11th International Conference on Supersymmetry and the Unification of Fundamental Interactions (SUSY 2003) Tucson, Arizona, June 5-10, 2003. 2003. arXiv:hep-ph/0306127 [hep-ph].
- [24] J. D. Wells, "PeV-scale supersymmetry," Phys. Rev. D71 (2005) 015013, arXiv:hep-ph/0411041 [hep-ph].
- [25] N. Arkani-Hamed and S. Dimopoulos, "Supersymmetric unification without low energy supersymmetry and signatures for fine-tuning at the LHC," JHEP 06 (2005) 073, arXiv:hep-th/0405159 [hep-th].

- [26] G. F. Giudice and A. Romanino, "Split supersymmetry," *Nucl. Phys.* B699 (2004)
 65–89, arXiv:hep-ph/0406088 [hep-ph]. [Erratum: Nucl. Phys.B706,487(2005)].
- [27] N. Arkani-Hamed, S. Dimopoulos, G. F. Giudice, and A. Romanino, "Aspects of split supersymmetry," Nucl. Phys. B709 (2005) 3-46, arXiv:hep-ph/0409232 [hep-ph].
- [28] N. Arkani-Hamed, S. Dimopoulos, and S. Kachru, "Predictive landscapes and new physics at a TeV," arXiv:hep-th/0501082 [hep-th].
- [29] L. J. Hall and Y. Nomura, "Spread Supersymmetry," JHEP 01 (2012) 082, arXiv:1111.4519 [hep-ph].
- [30] L. J. Hall, Y. Nomura, and S. Shirai, "Spread Supersymmetry with Wino LSP: Gluino and Dark Matter Signals," *JHEP* 01 (2013) 036, arXiv:1210.2395 [hep-ph].
- [31] Y. Nomura and S. Shirai, "Supersymmetry from Typicality: TeV-Scale Gauginos and PeV-Scale Squarks and Sleptons," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **113** no. 11, (2014) 111801, arXiv:1407.3785 [hep-ph].
- [32] M. Ibe and T. T. Yanagida, "The Lightest Higgs Boson Mass in Pure Gravity Mediation Model," *Phys. Lett.* B709 (2012) 374–380, arXiv:1112.2462 [hep-ph].
- [33] M. Ibe, S. Matsumoto, and T. T. Yanagida, "Pure Gravity Mediation with $m_{3/2} = 10 100 TeV$," *Phys.Rev.D*85(2012)095011, *arXiv* : 1202.2253[*hep ph*].
- [34] A. Arvanitaki, N. Craig, S. Dimopoulos, and G. Villadoro, "Mini-Split," JHEP 02 (2013) 126, arXiv:1210.0555 [hep-ph].
- [35] N. Arkani-Hamed, A. Gupta, D. E. Kaplan, N. Weiner, and T. Zorawski, "Simply Unnatural Supersymmetry," arXiv:1212.6971 [hep-ph].
- [36] C. Csaki, Y. Grossman, and B. Heidenreich, "MFV SUSY: A Natural Theory for R-Parity Violation," *Phys. Rev.* D85 (2012) 095009, arXiv:1111.1239 [hep-ph].
- [37] B. Bhattacherjee, J. L. Evans, M. Ibe, S. Matsumoto, and T. T. Yanagida, "Natural supersymmetry' s last hope: R-parity violation via UDD operators," *Phys. Rev.* D87 no. 11, (2013) 115002, arXiv:1301.2336 [hep-ph].
- [38] A. Arvanitaki, M. Baryakhtar, X. Huang, K. van Tilburg, and G. Villadoro, "The Last Vestiges of Naturalness," JHEP 03 (2014) 022, arXiv:1309.3568 [hep-ph].
- [39] J. Fan, M. Reece, and J. T. Ruderman, "Stealth Supersymmetry," JHEP 11 (2011) 012, arXiv:1105.5135 [hep-ph].

- [40] J. Fan, M. Reece, and J. T. Ruderman, "A Stealth Supersymmetry Sampler," JHEP 07 (2012) 196, arXiv:1201.4875 [hep-ph].
- [41] J. Scherk and J. H. Schwarz, "Spontaneous Breaking of Supersymmetry Through Dimensional Reduction," *Phys. Lett.* 82B (1979) 60–64.
- [42] J. Scherk and J. H. Schwarz, "How to Get Masses from Extra Dimensions," Nucl. Phys. B153 (1979) 61–88.
- [43] R. Barbieri, L. J. Hall, and Y. Nomura, "Softly broken supersymmetric desert from orbifold compactification," *Phys. Rev.* D66 (2002) 045025, arXiv:hep-ph/0106190 [hep-ph].
- [44] R. Barbieri, L. J. Hall, and Y. Nomura, "Models of Scherk-Schwarz symmetry breaking in 5-D: Classification and calculability," *Nucl. Phys.* B624 (2002) 63-80, arXiv:hep-th/0107004 [hep-th].
- [45] R. Barbieri, L. J. Hall, G. Marandella, Y. Nomura, T. Okui, S. J. Oliver, and M. Papucci, "Radiative electroweak symmetry breaking from a quasilocalized top quark," *Nucl. Phys.* B663 (2003) 141–162, arXiv:hep-ph/0208153 [hep-ph].
- [46] L. J. Hall, D. Pinner, and J. T. Ruderman, "A Natural SUSY Higgs Near 126 GeV," JHEP 04 (2012) 131, arXiv:1112.2703 [hep-ph].
- [47] H. Murayama, Y. Nomura, S. Shirai, and K. Tobioka, "Compact Supersymmetry," *Phys. Rev.* D86 (2012) 115014, arXiv:1206.4993 [hep-ph].
- [48] K. Tobioka, R. Kitano, and H. Murayama, "Enhanced Higgs Mass in Compact Supersymmetry," JHEP 04 (2016) 025, arXiv:1511.04081 [hep-ph].
- [49] K. Tobioka, Aspects of Supersymmetry after LHC Run I. PhD thesis, Tokyo U., IPMU, 2014. arXiv:1511.04099 [hep-ph]. http://inspirehep.net/record/1404683/files/arXiv:1511.04099.pdf.
- [50] H. M. Xiaochuan Lu, Ryo Matsuda and S. Shirai, "TBA,".
- [51] N. Arkani-Hamed, T. Gregoire, and J. G. Wacker, "Higher dimensional supersymmetry in 4-D superspace," JHEP 03 (2002) 055, arXiv:hep-th/0101233 [hep-th].
- [52] I. Antoniadis, H. Partouche, and T. R. Taylor, "Spontaneous breaking of N=2 global supersymmetry," *Phys. Lett.* B372 (1996) 83-87, arXiv:hep-th/9512006 [hep-th].
- [53] D. E. Kaplan and N. Weiner, "Radion mediated supersymmetry breaking as a Scherk-Schwarz theory," arXiv:hep-ph/0108001 [hep-ph].

- [54] D. Marti and A. Pomarol, "Supersymmetric theories with compact extra dimensions in N=1 superfields," *Phys. Rev.* D64 (2001) 105025, arXiv:hep-th/0106256 [hep-th].
- [55] I. Antoniadis, S. Dimopoulos, A. Pomarol, and M. Quiros, "Soft masses in theories with supersymmetry breaking by TeV compactification," *Nucl. Phys.* B544 (1999) 503-519, arXiv:hep-ph/9810410 [hep-ph].
- [56] A. Delgado, A. Pomarol, and M. Quiros, "Supersymmetry and electroweak breaking from extra dimensions at the TeV scale," *Phys. Rev.* D60 (1999) 095008, arXiv:hep-ph/9812489 [hep-ph].
- [57] N. Arkani-Hamed, L. J. Hall, Y. Nomura, D. Tucker-Smith, and N. Weiner, "Finite radiative electroweak symmetry breaking from the bulk," *Nucl. Phys.* B605 (2001) 81–115, arXiv:hep-ph/0102090 [hep-ph].
- [58] R. Contino, L. Pilo, R. Rattazzi, and E. Trincherini, "Running and matching from five-dimensions to four-dimensions," *Nucl. Phys.* B622 (2002) 227-239, arXiv:hep-ph/0108102 [hep-ph].
- [59] K. Agashe, A. Delgado, and R. Sundrum, "Gauge coupling renormalization in RS1," Nucl. Phys. B643 (2002) 172–186, arXiv:hep-ph/0206099 [hep-ph].
- [60] H.-C. Cheng, K. T. Matchev, and M. Schmaltz, "Radiative corrections to Kaluza-Klein masses," *Phys. Rev.* D66 (2002) 036005, arXiv:hep-ph/0204342 [hep-ph].
- [61] B. C. Allanach, "SOFTSUSY: a program for calculating supersymmetric spectra," Comput. Phys. Commun. 143 (2002) 305–331, arXiv:hep-ph/0104145 [hep-ph].
- [62] **ATLAS** Collaboration, M. Aaboud *et al.*, "Search for heavy long-lived charged *R*-hadrons with the ATLAS detector in 3.2 fb⁻¹ of proton-proton collision data at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV," *Phys. Lett.* **B760** (2016) 647–665, arXiv:1606.05129 [hep-ex].
- [63] M. Muhlleitner, A. Djouadi, and Y. Mambrini, "SDECAY: A Fortran code for the decays of the supersymmetric particles in the MSSM," *Comput. Phys. Commun.* 168 (2005) 46–70, arXiv:hep-ph/0311167 [hep-ph].
- [64] J. Alwall, R. Frederix, S. Frixione, V. Hirschi, F. Maltoni, O. Mattelaer, H. S. Shao, T. Stelzer, P. Torrielli, and M. Zaro, "The automated computation of tree-level and next-to-leading order differential cross sections, and their matching to parton shower simulations," JHEP 07 (2014) 079, arXiv:1405.0301 [hep-ph].
- [65] J. Alwall, M. Herquet, F. Maltoni, O. Mattelaer, and T. Stelzer, "MadGraph 5 : Going Beyond," JHEP 06 (2011) 128, arXiv:1106.0522 [hep-ph].

- [66] T. Sjostrand, S. Mrenna, and P. Z. Skands, "PYTHIA 6.4 Physics and Manual," JHEP 05 (2006) 026, arXiv:hep-ph/0603175 [hep-ph].
- [67] DELPHES 3 Collaboration, J. de Favereau, C. Delaere, P. Demin, A. Giammanco, V. Lemaître, A. Mertens, and M. Selvaggi, "DELPHES 3, A modular framework for fast simulation of a generic collider experiment," *JHEP* 02 (2014) 057, arXiv:1307.6346 [hep-ex].
- [68] S. Ovyn, X. Rouby, and V. Lemaitre, "DELPHES, a framework for fast simulation of a generic collider experiment," arXiv:0903.2225 [hep-ph].
- [69] M. Cacciari, G. P. Salam, and G. Soyez, "FastJet User Manual," *Eur. Phys. J.* C72 (2012) 1896, arXiv:1111.6097 [hep-ph].
- [70] M. Cacciari and G. P. Salam, "Dispelling the N^3 myth for the k_t jet-finder," *Phys.* Lett. B641 (2006) 57–61, arXiv:hep-ph/0512210 [hep-ph].
- [71] The ATLAS collaboration "Search for squarks and gluinos in final states with jets and missing transverse momentum using 36 fb^{â1} of $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV pp collision data with the ATLAS detector" (2017), ATLAS-CONF-2017-022.
- [72] R. Rohm, "Spontaneous Supersymmetry Breaking in Supersymmetric String Theories," Nucl. Phys. B237 (1984) 553–572.
- [73] E. Kiritsis and C. Kounnas, "Perturbative and nonperturbative partial supersymmetry breaking: $N=4 \rightarrow N=2 \rightarrow N=1$," *Nucl. Phys.* B503 (1997) 117–156, arXiv:hep-th/9703059 [hep-th].
- [74] A. Pomarol and M. Quiros, "The Standard model from extra dimensions," *Phys. Lett.* B438 (1998) 255-260, arXiv:hep-ph/9806263 [hep-ph].
- [75] R. Barbieri, L. J. Hall, and Y. Nomura, "A Constrained standard model from a compact extra dimension," *Phys. Rev.* D63 (2001) 105007, arXiv:hep-ph/0011311 [hep-ph].